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ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS
ACT

Australian Capital Territory

ILRP

Indicative Land Release Program

ACTPG

ACT Property Group

IZ1

General Industrial Land

ACTPLA

Planning and Land Authority

KPI

Key Performance Indicator

ACTPS

ACT Public Service

LDA

Land Development Agency

ACTFRS

ACT Fire and Rescue Service

LED

Light Emitting Diode

AFP

Australian Federal Police

LFAIA

AICD

Australian Institute of Company Directors

Life Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Architects

AM

Member of the Order

MBA

Master Builders Association

AO

Officer of the Order

MoU

Memorandum of Understanding

ARI

Asset Recycling Initiative

NAIDOC

ARIn

Attraction and Retention Incentive

National Aboriginal and Islanders Day
Observance Committee

BARC

Board Audit and Risk Committee

NCA

National Capital Authority

BCC

Belconnen Community Council

NLA

Net Lettable Area

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

NSW

New South Wales

CIT

Canberra Institute of Technology

NZ

New Zealand

CMTEDD

Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic
Development Directorate

OAM

Medal of the Order

OCG

Office of the Coordinator-General

PDA

Planning and Development Act 2007

PHRT

Public Housing Renewal Taskforce

CRASLA Act City Renewal Authority and Suburban
Land Agency Act 2017 (CRASLA Act)
CSD

Community Services Directorate

PIA

Planning Institute of Australia

DHA

Defence Housing Australia

PRZ1

Urban Open Space

DRP

Design Review Panel

PSMA

Public Sector Management Act 1994

EAP

Employee Assistance Program

PSM

Public Service Medal

ED

Economic Development

RED

Respect, Equity and Diversity

EDP

Estate Development Plan

RFP

Request for Proposal

EPBC

Environment Protection and Biodiversity
Conservation Act 1999 (C’wealth)

RFT

Request for Tender

SEA

Special Employment Arrangement

EPSDD

Environment, Planning and Sustainable
Development Directorate (the
Directorate)

SERBIR

Senior Executive Responsible for
Business Integrity Risk

SOI

Statement of Intent

ESA

Emergency Services Agency

SBMP

Strategic Bushfire Management Plan

FMA

Financial Management Act 1996

SLA

Suburban Land Agency

FOI

Freedom of Information

TCCS

Transport Canberra and City Services

FTE

Full Time Equivalent

TRIM

Total Records Information Management

GBCA

Green Building Council of Australia

UDIA

Urban Development Institute of Australia

GLO

Government Land Organisations

WhoG

Whole of Government

HA

Hectare

WHS

Work Health and Safety

HR

Human Resources

WHS Act

Work Health and Safety Act 2011

IAP2

International Association for Public
Participation

WHSMS

Work Health and Safety Management
System
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Ms Yvette Berry MLA
Minister for Housing and Suburban Development
ACT Legislative Assembly
GPO Box 1020
CANBERRA ACT 2601

Ms Rachel Stephen-Smith MLA
Minister for Urban Renewal
ACT Legislative Assembly
GPO Box 1020
CANBERRA ACT 2601

Dear Ministers
This report has been prepared in accordance with section 7(2) of the Annual Reports
(Government Agencies) Act 2004 (the Act) and in accordance with the requirements of the
Annual Report (Government Agencies) Directions 2019 issued under the Act.
The report has been prepared in conformity with other legislation applicable to the
preparation of the annual report by the Suburban Land Agency.
We certify that information in this report, and information provided for whole of
government reporting, is an honest and accurate account and that all material
information on the operations of the Suburban Land Agency has been included for the
period 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019.
We hereby certify that fraud prevention has been managed in accordance with the Public
Sector Management Standards 2006 (repealed), Part 2.3 (see section 113, Public Sector
Management Standards 2016).
Section 13 of the Act requires that you present the report to the ACT Legislative Assembly
within 15 weeks after the end of the reporting year.
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John Fitzgerald

John Dietz

Chair
Suburban Land Agency Board
20 September 2019

Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
20 September 2019
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COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
The 2018-19 Suburban Land Agency (SLA) Annual Report complies with the Annual Report Directions (the
Directions) made under section 8 of the Annual Reports (Government Agencies) Act 2004. The Directions are
available on the ACT Legislation Register: www.legislation.act.gov.au.
The Compliance Statement indicates the subsections, under Parts 1 to 5 of the Directions that are applicable to
the SLA and the location of information that satisfies these requirements:

Part 1 Directions Overview
The requirements under Part 1 of the Directions relate to the purpose, timing and distribution, and record keeping
of annual reports. The 2018-19 SLA Annual Report complies with all subsections of Part 1 under the Directions.
To meet Section 15 Feedback, Part 1 of the Directions, SLA contact details are available within the 2018-19 SLA
Annual Report to give readers an opportunity to provide feedback.

Part 2 Directorate and Public Sector Body Annual Report Requirements
The requirements within Part 2 of the Directions are mandatory for all reporting entities and the SLA complies
with all subsections. The information that satisfies the requirements of Part 2 is found in the 2018-19 SLA Annual
Report as follows:
(a) Transmittal Certificate, see page "Transmittal Certificate" on page 6.
(b) Organisational Overview and Performance, inclusive of all subsections, see pages 9-60.
(c) Financial Management Reporting, inclusive of all subsections, see pages 61-206.

Part 3 Reporting by Exception
The SLA has nil information to report by exception under Part 3 of the Directions for the 2018-19 reporting year.

Part 4 Directorate and Public Sector Body Specific Annual Report
Requirements
The following subsections of Part 4 of the 2019 Directions are applicable to the SLA and can be found within the
2018-19 SLA Annual Report:
F Ministerial and Director-General Directions, see page 212.
E Public Land Management Plans, see page 210.
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Part 5 Whole of Government Annual Reporting
All subsections of Part 5 of the Directions apply to the SLA. Consistent with the Directions, the information
satisfying these requirements is reported in the one place for all ACT Public Service directorates as follows:
>> Bushfire Risk Management, see the annual report of the Justice and Community Safety Directorate.
>> Human Rights, see the annual report of the Justice and Community Safety Directorate.
>> Legal Services Directions, see the annual report of the Justice and Community Safety Directorate.
>> Public Sector Standards and Workforce Profile, see the annual State of the Service Report.
>> Territory Records, see the annual report of the Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development Directorate.
ACT Public Service Directorate annual reports are found at the following web address:
http://www.cmd.act.gov.au/open_government/report/annual_reports
As required by Australian Auditing Standards, the ACT Audit Office reviews financial statements included in annual
reports (and information accompanying financial statements) for consistency with previously audited financial
statements. This includes reviewing the consistency of statements of performance with those statements
reviewed (where a statement of performance is required by legislation).

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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Our vision
The SLA seeks to create great places by
promoting inclusive and thriving communities
within people-focused neighbourhoods. This
includes the delivery of suburban and urban
development which support:
▶▶ Affordable living
▶▶ A safe and healthy population
▶▶ Social inclusion
▶▶ Housing choices
▶▶ Environmental sustainability

B.1 ORGANISATIONAL OVERVIEW

Establishment

Our role

The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) was established as
a statutory authority under the City Renewal Authority
and Suburban Land Agency Act 2017 (CRASLA Act).

As a statutory authority within the Environment,
Planning and Sustainable Development (the
Directorate) portfolio, we develop and release land
on behalf of the ACT Government. This includes land
for residential, commercial, industrial and community
purposes.

Our 2018-19 Statement of Intent (SOI) outlines our
statutory objectives, as well as the deliverables
expected by our Ministers. We are required to
comply with directions given by the relevant minister
under Section 41 of the CRASLA Act. A summary of
performance against these objectives is provided in
the Performance Analysis section of this report.
An independent Board governs our operations.
The SLA Board was established, with members
appointed, under Section 45 of the CRASLA Act.
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Mission and values

Functions and services

Our people are at the heart of every neighbourhood
we design and deliver. Our development projects
aim to connect residents with their suburb and
community.

We are responsible for developing and releasing
suburban land, encouraging and promoting urban
renewal outside of declared urban renewal precincts,
contributing to the growth and diversification of the
Territory’s economy, and social and environmental
sustainability. In exercising these functions, we
operate in a way that delivers value for money, in
accordance with sound risk management practices.

We offer a choice of land that supports a diverse mix
of housing types to support the changing needs and
preferences of the Canberra community. To deliver the
government’s Indicative Land Release Program (ILRP),
we ensure a sustainable supply of land is available so
all individuals and families have an opportunity to own
a home. This includes a supply of land for affordable,
community and public housing, consistent with the
ACT Housing Strategy and Housing Targets.
We strive to act in a trustworthy, responsible and
professional manner to ensure long-term social,
environmental and economic objectives are
considered when developing and selling land.

Our key functions outlined in the CRASLA Act are to:
>> buy and sell leases of land on behalf of the
Territory
>> ensure a mixture of public and private housing in
new suburbs
>> increase the supply of affordable and community
housing
>> meet housing targets
>> carry out development of land in a manner that is
environmentally sustainable
>> exercise our functions in a way that supports
statutory greenhouse gas emissions targets and
delivers environmentally sustainable development
>> follow and support whole of government
strategies.

13

Clients and stakeholders

Organisational structure

Our primary client is the ACT community, who
we actively engage with in all facets of our land
development activities. We regularly seek their
views and strive to deliver socially, economically
and environmentally responsible land and urban
development outcomes.

We are a statutory authority within the Directorate.
Under the Administrative Arrangements 2017 (No 1), the
Directorate was required to provide administrative
support and advice to Ministers and our Executive
on all relevant matters. Working openly and
collaboratively with the Directorate has provided us
with comprehensive governance, as well as financial
and non-financial performance advice that has helped
strengthen our operations.

We work closely with the ACT Government, relevant
ministers and other primary stakeholders, including:
>> community councils and groups
>> builders, suppliers and contractors
>> local and international industry and business
groups
>> ACT Government directorates and other agencies
and authorities.
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In 2018-19, we restructured our organisation
following an analysis of our needs, deliverables and
vision. The structure now provides a more projectcentric approach, with integrated delivery teams.
This approach has enhanced our accountability,
responsibility, authority and supported a collaborative
approach to delivering our vision. The restructure has
also improved governance, probity and transparency,
whilst fostering innovation and business improvement.

Our Structure

MINISTER FOR HOUSING AND
SUBURBAN DEVELOPMENT

MINISTER FOR URBAN
RENEWAL

Ms Yvette Berry MLA

Ms Rachel Stephen-Smith MLA

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr John Dietz

DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER (PROGRAM SOLUTIONS)

Mr Neil Bulless
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
DEVELOPMENT DELIVERY

Mr Tom Gordon
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, BUILT
FORM AND DIVESTMENT

Mr Nicholas Holt
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
(FINANCE, SYSTEMS AND
VALUATIONS)

Mr Joseph Lee
AGENCY SECRETARY AND
GOVERNANCE MANAGER

Ms Sally Gilbert
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Office of the Chief Executive
Officer
The SLA’s Chief Executive Officer (CEO) was appointed
by the Suburban Land Agency Board (the Board) and
engaged under the Public Sector Management Act
1994. The CEO is accountable to the Board for the
operation of the SLA and management of its staff. The
CEO is not a member of the Board.
As per the CRASLA Act, the CEO is responsible for
managing day-to-day operations in line with whole
of government policies and legislative requirements,
including:
>> Ensuring compliance with the Board’s decisions.
>> Managing SLA finances.
>> Developing and implementing, with the approval
of the Board, corporate and operational strategies.
>> Providing information and advice to the Board on
relevant matters.
>> Other functions as required by the Board.

Program Solutions
The Program Solutions group, led by the Deputy CEO
provides expertise and organisational support. Six
teams within the group were responsible for:
>> Provision of services for projects including
design review, documentation and construction
supervision.
>> Maintenance of estate presentation, including
short-term assets and management of
custodianship and licence arrangements.
>> Sale of government-owned land in accordance
with the ILRP for residential, commercial,
industrial, community and urban purposes,
including the management of client and
stakeholder relationships.
>> Development of sales campaigns, marketing
strategies, design and maintenance of the SLA
brand, including social media and website.
>> Facilitation of community development and
activation in greenfield estates through the Mingle
program.
>> Establishment and maintenance of strategic
relationships with external stakeholders, including
industry, media and the community, as well as
sponsorship and partnership arrangements.
>> Provision of organisation wide support to ensure
non-financial objectives are met, including
coordination for the development of the ILRP,
delivery of associated affordable, community
and public housing targets, and implementation
of environmentally and socially sustainable
development outcomes.
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Development Delivery

Built Form and Divestment

The Development Delivery group, led by the Executive
Director Development Delivery was responsible for
delivering land development activities in accordance
with the ILRP. This included the development of
government-owned land releases for residential,
commercial, industrial, community and urban
purposes.

The Built Form and Divestment group is a newly
established group, led by the Executive Director, Built
Form and Divestment. It was primarily responsible
for the development of innovative programs to
achieve high quality design outcomes, divestment
of assets and surplus government properties. They
managed rural land under the custodianship of the
SLA; ensuring land management arrangements were
compliant with relevant land policies and legislative
requirements.

The Development Delivery group is structured into
two main areas of responsibility—Greenfields, and
Urban and Commercial. The Development Delivery
group was also responsible for establishing project
teams and managing projects from inception to
completion, including:
>> Obtaining relevant approvals, including
environmental, development, detailed design and
construction.
>> Procurement and project management of
consultants.
>> Undertaking complex negotiations of development
outcomes to meet planning, policy and community
expectations.
>> Delivering the ILRP and Budget Statements
(Statement of Intent) through the release and
settlement of sites.
>> Meeting affordable, community and public housing
targets.
>> Being at the forefront of sustainable design,
through the delivery of environmentally and
socially sustainable land development and
construction in SLA’s estates.

Governance
The Governance branch was led by the Agency
Secretary and Governance Manager, and was
comprised of two teams that supported the Board
and managed the day-to-day operations of the
business, including:
>> Providing strategic advice to the CEO, the Board
(including its committees) and the Executive.
>> Acting as the liaison between the Executive
and the Board to facilitate the provision of
advice and information to ensure the Board can
make informed decisions and implement good
governance practices.
>> Ensuring the SLA and the Board comply with
obligations under any relevant laws and
regulations, including developing better practice
framework, policies guidance material and
corporate reporting.
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>> Providing oversight of work health and safety
matters affecting the SLA, including reporting,
ensuring compliance with relevant work health
and safety legislation, leading staff training, and
coordinating investigations.
>> Managing day-to-day SLA administrative support
including contract management and procurement
oversight, office management, facilities and
accommodation matters.
>> Coordinate the internal audit function for the SLA
and ensure that audit recommendations are duly
addressed.

Finance, Systems and
Valuations
The Finance, Systems and Valuations branch was led
by the Chief Financial Officer and was responsible for:
>> Partnering with the business to support strategic,
operational and financial decision-making.
>> Value creation through strategic commercial and
taxation advice.
>> Leading and managing financial governance across
the organisation with a focus on risk mitigation
and minimisation.
>> Co-ordinating independent valuation advice to
inform decisions relating to reserve sale prices,
revenue forecasting, taxation reporting and
business case development.
>> Business systems management and
administration.
>> Financial reporting and compliance.

18
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Outlook
During 2018-19, land sale volumes slowed in SLA
estates. This was mainly due to: tighter financial
market conditions and negative market sentiment
(influenced by Sydney and Melbourne markets);
uncertainty in the lead up to the Federal election;
increasing competition in other estates; and
changing housing demand preferences from buyers
(from freestanding housing to apartments and
townhouses).
While strong underlying economic fundamentals
in the ACT led to house prices remaining relatively
stable, the ACT market was not immune to
broader trends impacting the national housing
market. Continuing strong population growth, low
unemployment levels and higher average weekly
earnings in comparison to the rest of Australia,
influenced our local housing market.
Recognising the challenging market conditions
throughout 2018-19 and continuing into 2019-20, the
SLA invested in market research and is taking a more
insightful customer-centric approach to engaging
prospective buyers and builders. Our marketing plans
for the year included creative campaigns to increase
recognition of the SLA brand, estate marketing
campaigns, regular sales and information events to
promote available land for sale, and incentives to
drive urgency to buy. The plan also focuses on digital,
social media and videos, including the development
of an interactive educational platform and website
refresh.

We continue to have a strong focus on achieving the
best environmental, economic and social outcomes
through our developments. The release of the
SLA Sustainability Strategy establishes a longerterm vision for the creation of more sustainable
suburbs, in line with ACT Government policies and
commitments—including becoming carbon neutral
by 2045. In 2019-20 we will develop internal guidance
and targets in line with the Sustainability Strategy,
and focus on improving tree canopy cover in new
developments.

We work closely with other agencies by participating
in various cross-government working groups and
committees, and consulting on the development
of strategic documents such as the Sustainability
Strategy.

The SLA is committed to achieving the best social
outcomes for the Canberra community by delivering
the actions outlined in the ACT Housing Strategy, and
working closely with other areas of government. We
will focus on delivering an affordable home purchase
scheme and will work to meet housing targets for
affordable, community and public housing in new
developments.

The Suburban Land Agency Board (the Board) was
established as a governing board under Section
45 of the CRASLA Act. The Minister for Housing
and Suburban Development appoints members to
the governing board. The Minister must, as far as
practicable, ensure that members of the Board have
knowledge of, or experience in, at least one of the
following disciplines and areas of expertise:

Our community development program—Mingle, is
designed to achieve social objectives that help new
residents feel part of the community and encourage
their involvement in community life and activities.
The program also supports the creation of networks,
groups and programs among residents, which will
ultimately become self-sustaining. In 2019-20 we will
launch the program in the new suburb of Taylor.

>> urban design and planning

Collaboration is an ongoing focus for us in 2019-20.
We will continue to engage with other government
agencies and directorates to ensure the ACT
Government’s strategic objectives are met and the
best outcomes for our community are achieved.

Internal accountability
Suburban Land Agency Board

>> social inclusion and community building
>> civil engineering and civil works
>> real estate sales
>> property development
>> law, public administration and governance
>> affordable housing, community housing and public
housing
>> environmentally sustainable development.
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Under section 56 of the Financial Management Act
1996 (FMA), the Board is responsible for the efficient
and effective financial management of the SLA.
Section 77 of the FMA states the functions of a
governing board as follows:
>> setting the authority’s policies and strategies
>> governing the agency consistently with the
authority’s establishing Act and other relevant
legislation
>> ensuring, as far as practicable, that the authority
operates in a proper, effective and efficient way
>> ensuring, as far as practicable, that the authority
complies with applicable governmental policies (if
any).
There are five members on the Board. The Board
Charter sets out the role and responsibility of the
Board and individual Board members, processes
for Board meetings, conflicts of interest and Board
member conduct.

Board members
John Fitzgerald (Chair)
John has extensive experience in infrastructure
policy and delivery, public transport and urban
renewal. He has a strong background in governance,
finance and commercial negotiations. Most recently
he was a specialist advisor to KPMG and CEO of
Infrastructure Australia, leading the organisation
through substantial change and the production of the
Australian Infrastructure Audit.
He is Chairman of Evolution Rail Pty Ltd
(manufactures and maintains high capacity metro
trains), Asset Co Management Pty Ltd (an IFM
Investors Subsidiary) and Transport Canberra Light
Rail Board. He is also a Director on the Victorian
Funds Management Corporation Board.
John’s previous positions included Chair of NSW
Government’s Sydney International Convention,
Exhibition and Entertainment Precinct project;
Director Port of Melbourne Corporation; and Director
Infrastructure Partnerships Australia. Prior to joining
KPMG in 2011, John was Deputy Secretary at the
Victorian Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF).
Before joining DTF in 2000, John’s background was in
investment banking.
John holds a Master of Public Infrastructure
(Research) from the University of Melbourne and
is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company
Directors (AICD) and the Institute of Public
Administration Australia (Victoria).
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Suzanne Jones (Deputy Chair)
Suzanne has held senior executive and non-executive
roles involving: transport and energy; infrastructure
planning and delivery; environmental assessment
and sustainability; resource and asset management;
property development; tourism; and vocational
education and training.
She is currently the Chair of the national
infrastructure industry association—Dial Before
You Dig, and a member of the Commonwealth
Government’s Emissions Reduction Assurance
Committee.
At the end of December 2016, Suzanne completed
eight years on the NSW National Parks and Wildlife
Council, serving as its chair for four years. She was a
Director of TransGrid—Australia’s largest transmission
network, for the four years prior to its successful
privatisation in 2015, and was the founding chair of
Waste Aid—a not for profit organisation working with
remote Aboriginal communities.
Suzanne has previously served as a director of the
NSW Public Transport Authority, Parramatta Rail
Link Pty Ltd, the Illawarra Regional Information
Service, Newcastle Urban Renewal and Transport, the
Australian Astronomical Observatory, and Garrigal
Housing and Smoke Alarms Holdings Ltd.
She holds a Bachelor of Town Planning (Honours)
from the University of NSW, a Masters of Business
Administration (MBA) from the University of
Rochester, is a Fellow of the Australian Institute
of Company Directors (AICD) and a Member of
the Planning Institute of Australia. Suzanne has

undertaken a business leadership course at Harvard,
a corporate governance course at Institut Européen
d’Administration des Affaires (INSEAD), and was
awarded international leadership fellowships by
the governments of the United States and the
Netherlands.
Suzanne’s term on the Board expired on 22 June
2019.

Peter Howman (Member)
Peter is Chairman of Development Strategic Advisory
Pty Ltd, PK & EX Ventures Pty Ltd, Ecolour and ANU
City West Precinct. He is also a non-executive director
and sits on the Board of the Urban Development
Institute of Australia. In 2015, Peter was awarded
the coveted Australian CEO of the year award by the
Customer Service Institute of Australia.
Peter has over a decade of board level experience
across the public, commercial and not for profit
sectors with particular experience in property, urban
development, housing construction, high technology
and investment management. He has specialist
expertise in accounting, audit, finance, governance,
legal, policy, high technology, strategy and property.
In an executive capacity, Peter has run large multinationals from high technology start-ups, to multibillion dollar residential development and property
management.
In NSW, he is a past director of the Urban
Development Institute of Australia and a member
of the Urban Renew Committee and Award Judging
Panels.
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Peter is a Fellow of the AICD, an Oxford Graduate
with a MSc in Sustainable Urban Development with a
Dissertation ‘Imaging the Real: The Post Autonomous
Vehicle City’, has an MBA, a GradDip in Management
and Computer Science, and has completed many
AICD courses.

Julie Garland McLellan (Member)
Julie Garland McLellan is a professional director with
experience on a range of boards in the not-for-profit,
government and commercial sectors.
She has served on the boards of the Melbourne Water
Corporation, Victorian Energy Networks Corporation,
City West Water, Victorian Minerals and Energy
Council, the University of Melbourne’s Engineering
Foundation, Kimbriki Environmental Enterprises,
Oldfields Holdings, Hats Holdings, Professional
Speakers Association, Kyoto Energy, Wind Hydrogen,
Bounty Mining, Melbourne Chamber of Mines, Fitness
Australia and Hassall & Associates.
Julie has held senior management, strategic planning
and executive leadership roles with major and
international corporations including: Thames Water,
Tillyard, BHP, KPMG and Gamesa Energy Australia.
She holds a Bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering
with Honors from City University, London. She has
an Executive MBA from the Instituto de Empresa
Madrid, a Graduate Diploma in Applied Finance and
Investment from Securities Institute (now FINSIA), and
an Advanced Diploma in Company Directorship from
the AICD.
She is an AICD Fellow and an accredited Certified
Speaking Professional through Professional Speakers
Australia. Julie has written textbooks on company
directorship for the commercial, government and notfor-profit sectors.
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Angus Dawson (Member)
Angus Dawson has over 35 years experience in
property development and commercial construction.
He has worked in senior executive roles in private and
public sector organisations in NSW, Queensland and
throughout the UK.
As CEO, Angus led the NSW Government’s
delivery of the $3.45 billion Building the Education
Revolution, the Growth Centres Commission and the
Honeysuckle Development Corporation.
In the private sector, Angus established Lansdown
Homes, an integrated residential development
company in Sydney and Brisbane, and was its first
General Manager and later a Director.
Angus has sat on numerous boards, government
selection panels and review committees. These
include: the Board of the Illawarra Housing Trust;
Penrith City Council’s Property Development
Advisory Panel; the Premier’s Urban Design
Advisory Committee; the Rouse Hill Town Centre
and Barangaroo assessment panels; and the interGovernmental task force for the acquisition of BHP’s
land holdings in Newcastle. He is a past president of
the NSW division of the Urban Development Institute
of Australia and board member for the Ginninderry
Joint Venture.
Angus holds a Bachelor’s degree in Applied Science
(Building), is an AICD member and a life member of
the Urban Development Institute of Australia.

Board member attendance

Board decisions

A total of 21 meetings were held during the 201819 financial year, of these ten were extraordinary
meetings.

Matters considered by the Board in 2018-19 included:

TABLE 1: BOARD MEMBER ATTENDANCE

>> Annual Report for 2017-18
>> Asset Recycling Initiative Sales Release
Methodology

Name

Position

Meetings
Attended

>> Auditor-General’s Report 8/2018 - Assembly of
Rural Land - Action Plan

John Fitzgerald
Suzanne Jones
Peter Howman
Julie Garland McLellan
Angus Dawson

Chair
Deputy Chair
Member
Member
Member

19
18
21
21
20

>> Canberra Brickworks Precinct

Board members also attended several Board
Committee meetings, a Board Strategy Day in
October 2018 and a joint workshop with the City
Renewal Authority Board members in March 2019.

>> Financial Statements for 2017-18
>> Ginninderry Joint Venture
>> Jacka 2 Business Plan
>> Kingston Arts Precinct
>> Macarthur House Sales Release Methodology
>> Molonglo 3 Infrastructure Business Case
>> Statement of Performance for 2017-18
>> Suburban Land Agency Land Release Policy
>> Suburban Land Agency Risk Appetite Statement
>> Suburban Land Agency Sponsorship Policy
>> Suburban Land Agency Sustainability Strategy
>> Taylor 2 Residential Estate Stage 4B – Construction
>> Whitlam Sales Release Methodology.
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Board committees
In accordance with Section 50 of the CRASLA Act, the Board appointed a Board Audit and Risk Committee, and a
People and Transition Committee. These committees consisted of both Board and an independent member as
shown in the table below.
TABLE 2: COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP AND ROLES
Name of Committee

Membership

Role

Audit and Risk Committee

Peter Howman (C)
Julie Garland McLellan
Margaret Walker (*)

People and Transition Committee

Suzanne Jones (C)
Angus Dawson
John Fitzgerald

To assist the Board to exercise due care, diligence and skill
in relation to risk management, financial sustainability of
the SLA, reporting of financial information, the adequacy of
the financial controls and legal and regulatory compliance
frameworks, and external and internal audits.
To assist the Board to fulfil its oversight responsibilities
regarding significant human resource issues.

(C) = Committee Chair (*) = Independent Committee Member

Remuneration for Chief Executive Officer and Board members
The Remuneration Tribunal, in line with the Remuneration Tribunal Act 1995, determines the remuneration for the
CEO and Board members.
TABLE 3: SENIOR EXECUTIVES (BAND 2 AND BAND 3) AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
Name

Position

John Dietz
Neil Bulless
Tom Gordon
Nicholas Holt

Chief Executive Officer
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director, Development Delivery
Executive Director, Built Form and Divestment

Joint Venture Management Committee
West Belconnen
The West Belconnen Joint Venture (Ginninderry) is a shared operation between the Territory, represented by SLA
and Riverview Developments Pty Limited. Ginninderry will develop land in the ACT and NSW to help meet future
demands for housing.
A Board and Project Control Group govern the joint venture and manage the operational aspects of the project.
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Report by the Chair and Chief Executive Officer
Our Vision
Our vision is to create great places where communities thrive.
We have expanded our strategic priorities to embrace:

Customer
Focus

Innovation
we will collaborate with
industry to showcase the
future of environmental and
sustainable urban design.

we will increase value to our
customers by targeting their
specific needs and being more
responsive.

Government
Partnerships
we will engage with our
government partners to
support whole of government
strategies and influence
the important decisions that
affect our business.

During the year we developed a Balanced Score Card approach to managing outcomes against these priorities.
The score card measures activities across key focus areas:

Financial

Customers and
Stakeholders

Internal Business
Processes

People, Learning
and Growth

Workplace Health and Safety
We are committed to the health, safety and welfare of our people, including those contracted to perform work on
our behalf, volunteers and all visitors to our workplace and development sites.
During the year, we progressed our Safety Management Framework through improved dashboard reporting. We
also initiated a workplace tune-up exercise to support the wellbeing of our people.
We regard safety with the utmost importance and expect those working with us, as contractors or partners, to
also prioritise their management of workplace health and safety. Our active certification audits continued to
be well received by our civil contractors, with continuous improvements made in safety systems across the civil
construction industry.

Operations
During our second year we made significant improvements to the changes implemented in our inaugural year.
Comprehensive governance at all levels within the SLA remained a priority. We continued to focus on risk
management, project delivery, reporting frameworks, and improvements to our systems and the way they
integrate.
We restructured our organisation to better reflect the project nature of our work, and provided improved
alignment between accountability, responsibility and authority.
Even with these improvements, our second year in operation was influenced by a slowing housing market in
the ACT. Although economic fundamentals remained strong, the rate of sale for new land within the region was
well below long-term averages, and below our budgeted forecasts. Outcomes from the Royal Commission into
Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and Financial Services Industry; uncertainty leading up to the Federal
election; and negative sentiment from other major housing markets in Australia, were all influential factors in a
slowing Canberra housing market.
Despite this, we worked to release land in accordance with the ILRP. Positively for Canberra, this has resulted in a
substantial inventory of stock available ‘over the counter’—an outcome that realises the government’s intention to
take pressure off land prices by offering land in excess of demand.
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The slowing ACT property market impacted both multi-unit and single residential sales in greenfield estates in
2018-19. Supply in the single residential market improved to meet demand, with 600 blocks available for purchase
across four suburbs at 30 June 2019. Releases of single residential, multi-unit and mixed-use sites continued in
Gungahlin, with releases in Amaroo, Moncrieff, Taylor, Throsby and the Gungahlin Town Centre.
The development of Molonglo Valley continued with the completion of construction and first settlements
occurring in North Wright and North Coombs. Sales of multi-unit sites along John Gorton Drive continued with
nine sites offered and sold, along with the final, single residential releases in North Wright. Industrial land was
also released in Hume. The auction of a community use site in Monash, and a commercial site in Charnwood
rounded out our land releases.
We continued to focus on delivering environmentally and socially sustainable outcomes in our developments by
holding a range of activities and events through the Mingle Community Development Program, and preparing a
Sustainability Strategy to guide our activities moving forward.
To support the delivery of the ACT Government’s ACT Housing Strategy, land for 366 affordable housing, 61 public
housing and 59 community housing dwellings were released, with the affordable housing dwellings to be sold to
identified eligible buyers. This was against targets of 512 affordable housing, 60 public housing and 20 community
housing dwellings. The remaining sites will be released in Whitlam, Strathnairn, Giralang and Scullin. Any site with
a target applied for 2018-19 which has not been released, will continue to have the target applied in the future.
In support of the Commonwealth Asset Recycling Initiative program, we released five sites that had formerly
held public housing—three in Griffith and one each in Narrabundah and Lyons. The combined sales price of
$100.625 million (GST incl.) demonstrates the strength of the ACT market for premium infill opportunities in
contrast with the greenfield market.
In addition to residential land releases, we released 31,602m2 of land for mixed-use development against a target
of 34,346m2. The demand for general industrial zoned land (IZ1) was largely met from land inventory established
in previous years. We released 22,073m2 of industrial land to the market in 2018-19, just over the target of
20,000m2. We released 72,777m2 of community land in 2018-19 against a target of 87,520m2, which included school
sites in Throsby and Taylor. The release of the North Wright non-government school site was delayed to 2019-20.
Our Mingle program continued to ensure our new developments are inclusive places where people feel connected
to their suburb and community.

Financial Outcome
The SLA delivered an operating surplus of $191.0 million and provided $377.4 million in returns to the ACT
Government for the 2018-19 reporting period. A land sales revenue of $483.0 million for this period was largely
driven by our residential greenfield estates of North Wright, Taylor and Throsby, as well as the sale of government
assets through the Commonwealth Asset Recycling Initiative. This was below the target set within the 2018-19
Statement of Intent, mainly due to decreased land sales resulting from slow market conditions and delayed
settlements for Macarthur House, Braddon and Turner on Northbourne, Asset Recycling Initiative sites and single
residential sites. This is partially offset by a settlement for Denman Prospect 2 which was delayed from the 2017-18
financial year.
We finished the year to 30 June 2019 with strong asset holdings of $641.3 million, which included $339.3 million of
inventories. Our outlook is positive although market conditions are expected to remain subdued throughout the
2019-20 financial year resulting in budgeted lower land sales revenue in 2019-20.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.2 PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS
Culture
During the 2018-19 financial year, we held many events to strengthen the culture of our organisation. The
Suburban Land Agency (SLA) celebrated Neighbour Day with an all-staff lunch and held a Biggest Morning Tea
event to celebrate our second anniversary. In June 2019, our CEO participated in the St Vincent De Paul annual
CEO’s Sleepout to raise funds to support homelessness services, and staff held various fundraising activities to
support this cause and promote a positive work culture.
To promote inter-agency communication and awareness—particularly with the Environment, Planning and
Sustainable Development Directorate (the Directorate) and the Transport Canberra and City Services Directorate,
we held a series of 14 presentations and special events. The topics included: climate change; active travel; waste;
electric vehicles; market research: and resource management. SLA staff were also encouraged to try the new light
rail network.
The SLA Executive used regular all staff ‘stand-up’ meetings to reinforce the ACTPS values including the
importance of work health and safety. They used this forum to strengthen communication and information
sharing across the organisation on priorities, upcoming events and business challenges. We regularly highlighted
our organisational and individual staff success stories.
A group of SLA senior managers established a Senior Leadership Group as another mechanism to improve
communication between staff and the Executive. The group meets regularly, and with the Executive as needed, to
discuss various matters.
In 2018-19, the SLA entered into a partnership arrangement with the Canberra Institute of Technology for their
community development students to deliver aspects of the Mingle Community Development Program. One
of the activities was a Lawson ‘Story telling with Food’ session that gave five students from different cultural
backgrounds the opportunity to share their stories and recipes with the Lawson community.
In 2018-19 the Mingle Community Development Team received the following awards:
>> ‘Highly Commended’ at the ACT Public Service Award for Excellence in Collaboration – for supporting residents
in Canberra’s newest suburbs to be better connected in their local community.
>> Australasian Finalist in the International Association of Public Participation Awards – for Community
Development in 2018.
Throughout the reporting period, the ACT Government’s Joint Venture—Ginninderry, received several awards.
The Training and Employment Manager, Emma Sckrabei was named the 2019 ACT Woman of the Year for driving
Ginninderry’s award-winning training and employment program known as SPARK. Ginnderry also achieved the
ACT Chief Minister’s Inclusions Award for Inclusion in Private Sector Business which recognises their ongoing
commitment to creating an inclusive workplace and community, with diverse backgrounds.
Several staff members were selected to take part in the Property Council of Australia’s 500 Women in Property
Program, designed to champion women by providing networking and professional development opportunities.

Business improvement
Organisational structure
During the reporting period, we reviewed our organisation structure to assist us in better meeting our objectives.
The SLA’s previous structure was based on functional alignment. During 2018-19, a project centric approach with
integrated teams was adopted. Our new structure better reflects the project nature of our work, and provides
improved alignment between accountability, responsibility and authority. This means better integration between
the teams to deliver a single project vision, and less handover between functional groups.
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Risk management reporting
The SLA undertook a range of activities to enhance best practice governance and improve risk management
reporting, this included:
>> Development and approval of risk appetite statements.
>> Improvements to risk registers through integration of risk appetite statements and improvements to the
readability and accessibility of the risk register.
>> Improvements to the quality of Board papers.

WHS Framework
We are committed to the health, safety and welfare of our people, including those contracted to perform work on
our behalf, volunteers and all visitors to our workplace and development sites. A strong emphasis on work health
and safety improvements continued throughout 2018-19, this included:
>> Improvements to the WHS Framework and associated reporting:
• Review of the WHS framework.
• Review of the SLA WHS risk register and event risk plans.
• Development of an incident reporting and investigation procedure.
• Development of lead and lag indicators to support the development of the WHS management system.
• Introduction of a new dashboard style monthly WHS report.
• Engagement of the OzHelp workplace tune up program for three years.
• Review of the active certification program and audit outcomes.
>> Improvements to communications and training to staff and contractors:
• Monthly staff WHS discussion forums on specific WHS topics.
• Improved engagement with the SLA executive and staff on WHS matters through representation at all staff
stand ups and executive meetings.
• Development of a contractor WHS checklist for works under $250,000.
• Introduction of a one page contractor safety update on trending issues.
• Introduction of in-house asbestos awareness training for SLA staff.

Business systems
In 2018-19 the SLA commenced a comprehensive business systems review to assess existing business systems
and related processes against the requirements and needs of our organisation. The review will guide the design
of a future state environment, roadmap and strategy for digital transformation in SLA. The objectives of the
review included:
>> The assessment and evaluation of the current state of the business systems environment and architecture.
>> Determining business requirements through consultation with internal and external stakeholders and
mapping to our strategic context.
>> Developing a digital transformation strategy that provides a clear view of the desired future state and outlines
a systems roadmap for the next three years.
As at 30 June 2019, the current state analysis has been completed with work to continue in the 2019-20
financial year.
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Community needs
The SLA increased collaboration within government and with residents of new communities to seek information
on community needs—this covered topics such as access to community facilities, education, play spaces, and
future open space networks.
We also established and maintained a number of strategic relationships during 2018-19, including relationships
with industry associations and the broader ACT community.

Interagency relationships
The SLA maintained relationships with other ACT Government agencies with representation on more than nine
inter-agency working groups covering topics such as land release, active travel, climate change and stormwater.
Other agencies also supported us through a range of events and activities, particularly through the Mingle
Community Development Program and sales events. These included Actsmart and Parks and Conservation within
the Directorate; NOWaste and Yarralumla Nursery within Transport Canberra and City Services Directorate; and
Housing ACT within the Community Services Directorate, the ACT Revenue Office and the Canberra Institute of
Technology.
The SLA hosted and attended a Government Land Organisation (GLO) conference in 2018-19, in partnership
with the City Renewal Authority. The GLO conferences provide an invaluable opportunity to network and share
challenges, ideas and experiences with land organisations in other jurisdictions.

Industry associations
The SLA maintained relationships with key industry groups including the Master Builders Association, Housing
Industry Association and the Property Council, this included regular meetings and participation in the Property
Council’s 500 Women In Property Program.

Community relationships
The SLA established and maintained relationships with a broad range of community groups and associations,
as well as members of the broader ACT community. This included engaging with Woden Community Services,
Northside Community Services, Communities@work, Molonglo Conservation Group, RSPCA, Neighbourhood
Watch, Relationships Australia, Charles Weston School, Margaret Hendry School, local businesses in Coombs,
Canberra PCYC, Gungahlin Cricket Club, Table Tennis ACT, Canberra Astronomical Society, Belconnen Community
Centre, Gungahlin Community Council and the Mulligans Flat Woodlands Group.
The Mingle Community Development Program aims to encourage resident involvement and connection to local
communities. The program was delivered in Wright, Coombs, Moncrieff, Throsby and Lawson. Activities in 2018-19
focused on:
>> Culture, identity and respect with resident-led activities such as Community Carols, Diwali Festival of Lights,
cultural cookbook, Yunggaballi Park naming, National Neighbour Day, and Easter Egg hunts.
>> Activated spaces such as Stromlo Cottage for regular community activities such as weekly seniors group,
Coombs Pop Up Café, weekly playgroups and monthly resident meetings and book clubs.
>> Learning and Information activities such as mosaic art project, ‘Do it yourself’ workshop, Molonglo Valley
Community Information Nights, astronomy nights.
>> Social and environmental sustainability with resident meetings, seniors groups, bee and balcony gardening
workshops, Actsmart sustainability sessions, ranger walks and tree planting day.
>> Health, wellbeing and active living through the launch of Moncrieff ‘Live, Life Get Active’ fitness program, Music
and Games Day, ranger walks, Chair Yoga at the Cottage.
>> Community sessions on safety with Neighbourhood Watch, Crime Stoppers and ACT policing, funding
Moncrieff Neighbourhood Watch signage.
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>> Partnerships and collaboration: The Canberra Institute of Technology delivered aspects of the Mingle program
in Lawson; the Woodlands and Wetlands Group provided Mulligans Flat ranger walks; Actsmart delivered
sustainability sessions; Woden Community Services organised playgroups and picnics; and the Northside
Community Services delivered playgroups and information to Moncrieff and Throsby.
The SLA has been sharing the learnings of the Mingle program via meetings, presentations and forums including
the ACT Government Engagement Network, Coordinated Communications Network, Neighbour Day Forum,
Woden Community Services and Northside Community Services.

Affordable living
The SLA commenced a review of exemplar projects to identify affordable housing opportunities. This included
discussing affordable housing delivery with other GLO’s from different jurisdictions around Australia and New
Zealand, and starting work on a future display village site to include demonstration housing.
Access to open spaces, community facilities and different transport options are all part of affordable living. The
SLA achieved this by creating public spaces close to most homes and within all developments.
To ensure diversity of housing choice, including affordable housing, we offered a range of block sizes for sale in all
new developments, and delivered sites for affordable, public and community housing.
In 2018-19, we released land for 61 public housing dwellings, 59 community housing dwellings and 366 affordable
housing dwellings. A table with more detail about these releases, including a comparison to the targets set in
accordance with the City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency Act 2017, is included in the Ecologically
Sustainable Development section of this report. Any site which had a target applied for 2018-19 which has not
been released, will continue to have the target applied in the future.

Climate adaptation
The SLA implemented a number of initiatives towards climate adaptation, including to: conserve and enhance
biodiversity; reduce water use and improve water quality; reduce energy use and encourage renewable energy;
and support climate change adaptation. This involved offering a landscape rebate in Throsby, incorporating living
infrastructure into new developments, and providing community members with information and advice about the
process of buying land and building a climate-wise home. Further information about our activities is included in
the Ecologically Sustainable Development section of this report.
New SLA greenfield estates with over 500 single residential dwellings were supported by the Mingle Community
Development Program. In 2018-19 this included Wright, Coombs, Moncrieff, Throsby and Lawson. The Mingle
Program promoted initiatives focused on sustainability through activities such as:
>> A balcony gardening workshop in Lawson on 27 October 2018.
>> Ranger walks through Mulligans Flat reserve in Throsby during October 2018, February and March 2019.
>> Bee Workshops in Wright and Coombs on 4 August 2018.
>> Barrer Hill Tree Planting on 18 May 2019.
>> Actsmart ‘Beyond 6 Stars’ workshops in Wright, Coombs and Taylor on 13 June and 5 April 2019.
>> Molonglo Conservation Group Woodlands Open Day on 23 June 2019.
In addition to these events, the Mingle program communicates with residents through newsletters and social
media on topics including recycling, illegal dumping and promoting local environmental areas.
Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.3 SCRUTINY
Auditor-General Reports
Auditor-General’s Report No. 3 of 2018: Tender for the Sale of Block 30
(Formerly Block 20) Section 34 Dickson
Recommendation Number, Summary and
Government Response

Action

Status

1. Remedy deficiencies in the tender process

The portfolio Valuations Policy has been published
to the Directorate and Suburban Land Agency
(SLA) intranet pages. The SLA has developed steps
and timing requirements for staff to seek and
obtain valuation advice and market assessment
advice for the purpose of land transactions
managed by the SLA, the City Renewal Authority
(CRA) and the Asbestos Response Taskforce.

Complete.

Consistent with its administrative responsibilities since
July 2017, the Environment, Planning and Sustainable
Development Directorate (the Directorate) should:
(a) Brief the Minister administering the Planning
and Development Act 2007 and Cabinet on the
implications of the risk to legislative compliance
identified, and advise on the options for remedying
the deficiencies with the tender process.
(b) Develop and implement mechanisms to mitigate
potential non-compliance.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
2. Strengthen probity
Consistent with the administrative responsibilities since
July 2017 the Directorate, CRA and SLA should strengthen
accountability for probity in procurement by:
(a) Establishing clear standards of conduct and
record keeping for all staff engaged in tenders
that at a minimum, address communications with
prospective and actual tenders, negotiations with
preferred and winning bidders and valuations of
both initially submitted and final bids.
(b) Facilitating training on probity for all staff involved
in procurement processes.
(c) Introducing controls and reporting requirements
at key procurement (including tender) stages
that assure and transparently demonstrate
consideration of probity risks.

The SLA will continue to work closely with the
Directorate Governance team to ensure the
published policy remains consistent with current
procedures.
The SLA is working with the Directorate and
Treasury to prepare guidance material to support
the consistent interpretation and application of
the City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land
Agency (Suburban Land Agency Land Acquisition)
Direction 2017 (DI2017-262). Processes will be
embedded in the SLA to facilitate routine testing
of compliance with the Ministerial and Cabinet
decisions.

In progress.

The SLA Delegations Framework has been
amended to require Board scrutiny of all significant
acquisitions and sale of land. Increased reporting
via the Government Agencies (Land Acquisition)
Reporting Act 2018 (Land Acquisition Reporting Act)
has increased transparency to ensure decisions of
government are delivered.

The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
3. Strengthen governance and assurance
Consistent with administrative responsibilities since July
2017 the Directorate, CRA and SLA should strengthen
governance and accountability arrangements for staff
involved in land procurements by establishing and
implementing controls to assure:

All SLA engagements are made from the panel
of Commercial and Residential agents through
a request for quote or request for proposal process,
with records of interactions and activities kept
in accordance with the Territory Records Act 2002
(TR Act).

Complete.

(a) Consistent adherence to clearly defined roles and
responsibilities for tender oversight, conduct and
probity management.
(b) Tender negotiations are transparent, appropriately
documented and approved, and that they meet
probity requirements.
(c) Tender decisions, particularly those arising
from complex and lengthy negotiations, are
independently reviewed and quality assured against
defined procedural and probity requirements prior
to approval.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
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Recommendation Number, Summary and
Government Response

Action

Status

4. Reinforce organisational values

The SLA Executive reinforce the organisation’s
values at all staff meetings and acknowledge staff
who have demonstrated exemplary behaviour
consistent with our values.

Complete.

Consistent with administrative responsibilities since
July 2017 the Directorate, CRA and SLA should reinforce
organisational values by:
(a) Clearly articulating their values and providing
guidance to staff on how these are to be
implemented.
(b) Implementing procedures that reinforce and infuse
the values throughout the organisation
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.

The SLA Board has approved the SLA Procurement
Governance Framework (SLA Board Meeting
25). Introduction to Government Procurement
Training is available to all SLA staff through the
ACT Government My Learning portal. Key staff were
encouraged to pursue advanced procurement
training through the Canberra Institute of
Technology.
A suite of training has been rolled out, with
probity, fraud and ethics and records management
included as part the SLA’s induction package. Staff
are required to refresh their probity and records
management training annually.
The Directorate will continue to monitor the
attendance of training by staff and regularly report
to the Agency Secretary and Governance Manager.
The SLA Board Audit and Risk Committee have
included an internal audit of procurement activity
in its future program. Subject to the outcomes
of that audit it will consider the need for further
processes to be established and for future
compliance audits of procurement activity going
forward.

Auditor-General’s Report No. 8 of 2018: Assembly of Rural Land West of
Canberra
Recommendation Number, Summary and
Government Response

Action

Status

1. The SLA should:

Since the period of time addressed in the audit,
a number of initiatives have been implemented
to strengthen governance and accountability.
These include the establishment of a portfolio
Valuations Policy requiring all valuations to be
procured through the Panel Management Portal
using the Territory Valuations Services Scheme of
prequalified valuers. In addition, the Policy requires
that valuations must be current and states the
minimum number of valuations required. The SLA
has established a central valuations team and
implemented an operational procedure to ensure
that staff within the organisation understand, apply
and adhere to the endorsed policy framework in
the context of obtaining valuations.

Complete.

(a) Instruct valuers fully and in writing.
(b) Clearly differentiate, in Territory records and verbal
briefings, when a valuation is based on a letter, or on
a comprehensive valuation report.
(c) Document clearly the salient aspects of professional
standards such as ANZVGN 1 that have been
addressed by a valuer (e.g. purpose, basis,
methodology, Territory Plan uses) and bring this
to the attention of decision makers relying on that
valuation.
(d) Routinely test the application of valuation guidance.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
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Recommendation Number, Summary and
Government Response

Action

Status

2. The SLA should:

The SLA is working with the Directorate and
Treasury to prepare guidance material to support
the consistent interpretation and application of the
City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency
(Suburban Land Agency Land Acquisition) Direction
2017 (DI2017-262).

In progress.

(a) Implement a process to verify that, for the purchase
of any property, any directions given by the Minister
and in Cabinet decisions are implemented in
accordance with any approved framework.
(b) Align internal guidance material and operating
procedures so that these are consistent with any
direction or policy the Government makes publically
available.
(c) Document compliance.
(d) Routinely test the application of guidance and
operating procedures.

The SLA Delegations Framework has been
amended to require Board scrutiny of all significant
acquisitions and sale of land. Increased reporting
via the Land Acquisition Reporting Act has
increased transparency to ensure decisions of
government are delivered.

The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
3. The SLA should:
(a) Formally engage agents and advisors through
documented procurement and contracting
arrangements.
(b) Manage and monitor their activities through
appropriately documented contract management
arrangements. Records of a quality that provides
transparency for these activities should be
maintained.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.

4. The SLA should:
(a) Document reasons for proposing to engage an
agent, contractor or consultant and have this agreed
and approved.
(b) Monitor the implementation of contracts and
authorise in writing reasons for any departure from
the agreed contract.
(c) Give particular attention to scrutinising and
authorising in writing any contractual terms, such
as terms for the payment of an agent, that are a
departure from standard terms.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.

5. The SLA should provide training and guidance to its staff
on identifying and managing probity. This should be part
of induction training and be refreshed annually.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.

The SLA Board has approved the SLA Procurement
Governance Framework (SLA Board Meeting 25).
All engagements are made from the panel of
Commercial and Residential agents through a
request for quote or request for proposal process,
with records of interactions and activities kept in
accordance with the TR Act.

Complete.

The SLA uses a Contract Management System and
has implemented an Electronic Document and
Records Management System to ensure transparent
and accurate recordkeeping. The SLA closely
monitors changes to legislative requirements and
operational transactions to provide guidance to
line areas when compliance is required. In 2018-19,
this also included new requirements for contracts
to comply with Secure Local Jobs.
The SLA Board has approved the SLA Procurement
Governance Framework (SLA Board Meeting 25).
Introduction to Government procurement
training is available to all SLA staff through the
My Learning portal. Key staff are encouraged to
pursue advanced procurement training through the
Canberra Institute of Technology.

Complete.

All engagements of sales agents are made from
the panel of Commercial and Residential agents
through a request for quote or request for proposal
process with the appropriate financial delegate
endorsing the engagement. Any departure from the
agreed contractual terms is documented in writing
and filed in accordance with the TR Act.
The SLA’s Contract Management System supports
procurement and contract management.
Procurement training is, and will continue to be
provided to all staff, and support is provided to
managers and Executives to assist them to meet
their obligations. Procurement activity across the
SLA is closely monitored for quality assurance and
to assist personnel to meet reporting requirements.
All SLA staff are required to complete mandatory
probity training and mandatory fraud and ethics
training. Probity training has been included in the
induction program, and SLA staff are required to
refresh their probity training annually.

Complete.
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Recommendation Number, Summary and
Government Response

Action

Status

6. The SLA should work with the Conservator of Flora and
Fauna to:

Land Management Agreements for most rural
land under the custodianship of the SLA has been
completed and submitted to the Conservator
for Flora and Fauna. The SLA and the Directorate
continue to work closely to ensure clarity of roles
and functions is maintained.

In progress.

All licencing arrangements have been reviewed and
alignment with current Bushfire Operations Plans
confirmed. The SLA will ensure alignment between
licencing arrangements and bushfire operations
plans through business as usual activities.

Complete.

The SLA is undertaking an analysis of current
daily management arrangements for all rural land
in its ownership, including assessing value for
money and environmental outcomes. Pending
consideration of a preferred option, the SLA will
consider new contractual measures as current
arrangements lapse.

In progress.

(a) Finalise Land Management Agreements for rural
leasehold land purchased by the former Land
Development Agency by December 2018 but
preferably sooner.
(b) Identify why Land Management Agreements for
all the properties purchased in the Western Edge
were not developed in a timely manner and identify
options to prevent this in the future.
(c) Execute Land Management Agreements for all future
rural land purchases within six months of transfer
unless there are exceptional circumstances and
these are documented.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
7. The SLA should align licencing and subleasing
arrangements with responsibilities in its fire management
Bushfire Operations Plans or vice versa.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.
8. The SLA should:
(a) Undertake a strategic analysis of options for the
daily management of purchased rural properties
including considering use and ongoing management
at a larger scale.
(b) Implement the preferred option.
(c) Execute contracts for the management of all rural
land purchases managed on its behalf.
The ACT Government agreed with the recommendation.

Note: W
 hile the SLA was not the subject of this audit, since 1 July 2017 the SLA has had responsibility for activities considered in this
audit that were previously those of the former Land Development Agency. Recommendations are therefore made to the SLA.
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Legislative Assembly Committee Reports
Select Committee on Estimates 2017-18
Recommendation Number,
Summary and Government
Response

Action

Status

88. The Committee recommends
that the ACT Government works
with the owners of the Ginninderry
development and Dr Jason Sharples
to reassess the bushfire risk at the
Ginninderry site and undertake the
necessary planning adjustments
in response to the findings of
Dr Sharples’ 2017 report.

Planning for the Ginninderry project included a significant focus on the
development of a detailed Bushfire Management Strategy. This included
working with leading Bushfire academics and consultants along with
frontline service delivery agencies.

Complete.

The ACT Government agreed inprinciple with the recommendation.

Bushfire protection measures in place as part of the planning process
meet the statutory and policy requirements for bushfire protection in
both NSW and the ACT. This includes separate requirements for both
jurisdictions through application of the Planning for Bushfire Protection
Guidelines (NSW RFS) and the ACT Planning for Bushfire Risk Mitigation
General Code. In each case, the assessment assumes a worst-case
bushfire attack scenario on a day of catastrophic bushfire danger (i.e.
Fire Danger Rating of 100).
A number of strategies are provided in the form of planning controls
so that the risk from bushfire is reduced to an appropriate level, and a
level that satisfies bushfire protection requirements for both NSW and
the ACT. The bushfire protection measures applied represent at least
national best practice bushfire risk reduction.
The report commissioned by the Ginninderra Falls Association is at odds
with the requirements of the NSW RFS and ACT Emergency Services
Agency requirements. The report was prepared by Associate Professor
Sharples, and the Ginninderry project remains open to continue
considering the ‘insights and findings’ within it. As part of this, Riverview
Group commissioned an independent peer review of the report. This
review was conducted by Professor Graham Douglas from the University
of Western Sydney. The report was also referred to NSW and ACT
emergency service agencies for review.
The peer review process found that the modelling and assumptions
in the report were based on the application of an incorrect Standard
(AS 3959-2009). Professor Douglas found that the Standard used in the
report is not appropriate to use as a basis for assessing risk as it is not its
purpose or intent. Any assessment of risk should be based on ISO 31000.
Importantly, Professor Sharples’ report has not caused the NSW or ACT
emergency service agencies to reconsider any aspect of the proposed
fire protection measures that are currently incorporated in the project
planning.
Riverview Group has also engaged a CSIRO fire expert Justin Leonard to
undertake a program of research and trial, in order to further improve
fire protection measures over the life of the project. The Ginninderry
project team will continue to work with a wide range of experts in
relation to the important issue of fire protection across the life of the
project.
The Ginninderry Joint Venture will continue best practice bushfire
management in the planning and delivery of the project.
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Select Committee on Estimates 2018-19 – Inquiry into Appropriation Bill 2018-19
and the Appropriation (Office of the Legislative Assembly) Bill 2018-19
Recommendation Number, Summary,
and Government Response

Action

Status

142. The Committee recommends that the ACT
Government publish the minutes of the first three
meetings of the SLA Board.

The SLA Board has complied with the Board minute
publishing expectations since the receipt of an
instruction from the Minister received in October 2017.

Complete.

Procurement of sales agents is undertaken in accordance
with the Government Procurement Act 2001 (the Act). The
process of appointment is in accordance with the Act and
business needs at the time of the procurement.

Complete.

The SLA is committed to ensuring that potential or real
conflicts are addressed consistent with high standards of
governance and probity. The SLA ensures that valuation
advice procured for the purpose of sale, is independent
from the selling agents.

Complete.

The SLA’s Gross Profit Margin and Net Profit Margin is
published in the Key Performance Indicators section of
the SLA’s Statement of Intent.

Complete.

146. The Committee recommends that the SLA
ensure its staff have completed record-keeping
training and undertake record-keeping refresher
training every 12 months.

As part of the ongoing training program for staff,
mandatory Records Management training is provided
to all staff. Staff are required to refresh their training
annually.

Complete.

The ACT Government agreed with the
recommendation.

The Directorate monitors attendance and provides
reports to the SLA.

The ACT Government noted the recommendation.
143. The Committee recommends that the ACT
Government publish its policy for how residential
sales agencies are chosen for work undertaken for
the SLA.
The ACT Government agreed in principle with
recommendation.
144. The Committee recommends that the
ACT Government always engage a sales agent
independent of the valuer engaged, to minimise
conflicts of interest.
The ACT Government agreed with the
recommendation.
145. The Committee recommends that the Budget
papers include the SLA’s profit target as a percentage
of total revenue from land sales.
The ACT Government agreed with the
recommendation.

Standing Committee on Planning and Urban Renewal Report No. 8 of 2019 –
Inquiry into Annual and Financial Reports 2017-18
Recommendation Number, Summary
and Government Response

Action

Status

10. The Committee recommends that the ACT
Government continue to facilitate and support the
Mingle Community Development Program in new
and developing suburbs across the ACT.

The SLA will continue to deliver the Mingle Community
Development Program, in new and developing greenfield
suburbs over 500 dwellings, which are developed by the
ACT Government. This excludes the Ginninderry Joint
Venture project, which has its own program in place.

Complete.

The SLA Sustainability Strategy provides context for
the activities and objectives of the SLA, and establishes
goals for the delivery of socially and environmentally
sustainable developments. The strategy is publicly
available on the SLA website: https://suburbanland.act.
gov.au/en/sustainability.

Complete.

The ACT Government agreed with the
recommendation.
11. The Committee recommends that the SLA
consider adopting a sustainability strategy similar in
intent to that recently released by the CRA.
The ACT Government agreed with the
recommendation.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.4 RISK MANAGEMENT
The ACT Insurance Agency (ACTIA) establishes the risk management framework that applies throughout the ACT
public sector. The Suburban Land Agency’s (SLA) approach to risk management is guided by the International
Standard Risk Management ISO 31000:2018 and the ACT Government’s Risk Management Policy (the Policy).
ACTIA offers a range of tools, guidance material, resources and training. This assists Territory entities to develop
and implement robust risk management practices, and enhances our risk management capabilities and
awareness.
The SLA encourages a positive risk culture by supporting staff to engage with risk to help achieve the strategic
objectives of the organisation. We are committed to, and placed a high priority on, effective risk management
across all functions. Our processes allowed the early identification and treatment of emerging risks by
implementing an enterprise approach.
Additionally, the engagement of a Senior Work Health and Safety (WHS) Manager and a Risk Officer supported
a positive risk culture and demonstrated our commitment to best practices and continuous improvement in
managing risk.
Our Executive sought to raise awareness of risk management principles and considered risk at every level within
the organisation. Risk management principles underpinned planning processes, including strategic planning,
project management and delivery.
Our Board Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) assisted in the management of our risks and oversaw the
development of our Strategic Risk Register, Risk Appetite Statement and internal audit program—which was
delivered by an independent auditor. The BARC recommended improvements to the adequacy and adoption
of risk treatments.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.5 INTERNAL AUDIT
The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) Board established the Board Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) as a key
component of its governance framework. The role of the BARC, as set out in their Charter, is to assist the Board to
discharge responsibilities in relation to:
>> risk management
>> financial sustainability of the SLA
>> reporting of financial information
>> the adequacy of financial controls
>> legal and regulatory compliance frameworks
>> external and internal audit.
Internal audit services were outsourced to KPMG following a competitive tender process. The BARC oversaw the
following internal audits, which were either engaged or completed during 2018-19:
>> performance of the Mingle Program
>> procurement processes
>> review of Chief Executive Financial Instructions
>> implementation of TM1 Finance System – Post Implementation Review
>> implementation of the Assets Recycling Initiative (ARI)
>> compliance with the Territory Records Act 2002
The BARC met nine times during 2018-19.
TABLE 1: MEMBERSHIP OF THE SLA BOARD AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (BARC)
Name of Member

Position

Meetings attended

Mr Peter Howman (SLA Board Member)
Ms Julie Garland McLellan (SLA Board Member)
Ms Margaret Walker

Chair
Deputy Chair
Independent Member

9
9
9

SLA Board members who are also members of the BARC are remunerated in accordance with the ACT
Remuneration Tribunal’s Determination 5 of 2019 (Part-time Public Office Holders). Ms Margaret Walker is
remunerated in accordance with a contract for services.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.6 FRAUD PREVENTION
All ACT Government directorates and agencies are required to prepare a Fraud and Corruption Prevention Plan
in line with the ACT Integrity Policy every two years. As part of the review process, the organisation must also
undertake an integrity risk assessment to assess changes within their operations and environment since the
previous plan.
The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) operated in accordance with a Fraud and Corruption Control Plan. The SLA
collaborated with the Directorate Governance Team in the production and maintenance of a portfolio wide Fraud
and Corruption Prevention Plan. Risks to fraud and corruption were identified in a separate portfolio wide Fraud
Risk Register. This plan outlines our commitment and approach to the prevention of fraud and corruption.
The SLA also includes fraud and corruption risks within its Strategic Risk Registers. Our Executive and the Board
Audit and Risk Committee (BARC) oversaw the development and implementation of fraud prevention activities
consistent with the controls identified in our Strategic Risk Registers.
Fraud and Ethics Training was provided to staff. Fraud awareness and ethics was raised at ‘all staff’ meetings
and training will continue to be available to all staff in 2019-20.

Senior Executive Responsible For Business Integrity Risk
The Senior Executive Responsible for Business Integrity Risk (SERBIR) during 2018-19 was the Directorate’s Chief
Operations Officer. SERBIR support is provided under a Service Agreement with the Directorate.
Under the Service Agreement between the Directorate and SLA, SERBIR investigates and reports to the Agency
and external parties as requested by the CEO. The SERBIR investigates all allegations of fraud and corruption. This
includes instances of fraud and corruption reported under the Public Sector Management Act 1994 (Section 9),
Public Sector Management Standards 2006 (Part 2.3 – Fraud and Corruption) and in disclosures made under the
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012 (PID Act).
During 2018-19 one matter was referred to the Directorate Disclosure Officer relating to an allegation of corrupt
behaviour by staff of the former Land Development Agency. The Disclosure Officer assessed the evidence
provided in accordance with the PID Act and the Public Interest Guidelines. The Disclosure Officer determined that
the matters raised were not disclosable conduct, and that there was no evidence of fraud or corruption.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.7 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Open Government
The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) is committed to the principles of open government and operations that align
with objects of the Freedom of Information Act 2016 (FOI Act).

Making an Access Application
The Environment, Planning and Sustainable Development Directorate (the Directorate) manage our FOI Act
applications under a service agreement.
Subject to the FOI Act, every person has an enforceable right to obtain access to government information.
For assistance in locating information, please contact the Directorate Information and Knowledge Management
Team on 13 22 81 or email EPSDFOI@act.gov.au.
For more information on making an access application, visit: https://www.environment.act.gov.au/about/accessgovernment-information
Access applications are recorded in a disclosure log, as required by the FOI Act. To view the disclosure log for
the Directorate Portfolio (which includes the SLA), visit: https://www.environment.act.gov.au/about/accessgovernment-information/disclosure-log

Freedom of Information Act 2016
TABLE 1: OPEN ACCESS INFORMATION – SECTION 96 (3) (A) (I), (II) AND (III)
Number
Number of decisions to publish Open Access information.
Number of decisions not to publish Open Access information.
Number of decisions not to publish a description of Open Access Information withheld.

Additional information

15
0
0

TABLE 2: FOI APPLICATIONS RECEIVED AND DECISION TYPE – SECTION 96 (3) (A) (IV), (VII), (VIII) AND (IX)
Number
Number of access applications received.
Number of applications where access to all information requested was given.
Number of applications where access to only some of the information requested was
given (partial release).
Number of applications where access to the information was refused.

Additional information

16
0
13
0

Notes:
1. Six applications were carried over from 2017-18.
2. At the end of the reporting period, 15 applications had been finalised, four applications had been withdrawn (with one processed
informally), and three applications were in progress.
3. Of the 15 applications finalised under section 35 of the FOI Act, there was one application for which no information was held, and
one application that was refused to be dealt with under section 43.
TABLE 3: FOI PROCESSING TIMEFRAME – SECTION 96 (3) (V) AND (VI); SECTION 96 (3) (D)
Number
Total applications decided within the time to decide under section 40.
Applications not decided within the time to decide under section 40.
Number of days taken to decide over the time to decide in section 40 for
each application.
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2
13
14, 16, 17, 20(2), 22,
27, 31, 33, 34, 39,
40, 48

Additional information
Applications decided within time
to decide under section 41/42

TABLE 4: AMENDMENT TO PERSONAL INFORMATION – SECTION 96 (A) (X) AND SECTION 96 (3) (E)
Status

Number

Number of requests made to amend personal information, and the decisions made
(e.g. amended, refused, notation added to record, other).

Additional information

0

TABLE 5: REVIEWS – SECTION 96 (3) (B); SECTION 96 (3) (C)
Number

Additional information

2

1 decision upheld, 1 set
aside and substituted

Number of applications made to the Ombudsman under section 74 and the results of
the application (e.g. affirmed, varied, set aside and substituted, withdrawn, other).
Number of applications made to ACAT under section 84 and the results of the
application (e.g. affirmed, varied, set aside and substituted, withdrawn, other).

0

TABLE 6: FEES – SECTION 96 (3) (F)
Number
Total charges and application fees collected from access applications

Additional information

0

Freedom of Information Act 1989 (repealed)
The Annual Report Directions require applications made under the previous legislation are reported in
accordance with the requirements of the repealed Act. There were no applications made under the repealed Act
during 2018-19; however, to ensure complete reporting, the applications made under the former Act that were
carried over and completed during the reporting period are reported on below.
Only sections where there is data to report have been included below. There is nothing to report under all other
repealed Act reporting sections.

Sections 7 and 8
The Freedom of Information Act 1989 requires all ACT Government directorates and agencies to publish
information concerning functions and documents of the agencies (section 7) and make certain documents to be
available for inspection and purchase (section 8).
During 2017-2018, the Freedom of Information Act 1989 was repealed and the FOI Act commenced on 1 January
2018. The FOI Act removed the sections 7 and 8 requirements. Instead, the new Act incorporates the section 7
and 8 statements and requires the ACT Government directorates and agencies to proactively publish certain
categories of information via the Open Access Information Scheme (OAIS) under section 23.
Open Access documents are published in accordance with the OAIS.

Section 79 Statement
TABLE 1: FOI APPLICATIONS RECEIVED AND DECISION TYPE
Number
Number of applications where access to only some of the information requested
was given (partial release).
Processing time more than 90 days.

1
1

Additional information
Section 79(5)(b)(iii)
Section 79(6)
Section 79(4)(c)(v)

Notes:
1. Two applications carried over from the former Land Development Agency were reported in 2017-18 as pending a decision by the
SLA and the City Renewal Authority. Ultimately, these applications were decided by the City Renewal Authority.

Further information can be obtained from:
Sally Gilbert
Agency Secretary and Governance Manager
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.8 COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
AND SUPPORT
Overview of our approach to engagement
The Suburban Land Agency’s (SLA) approach to community engagement was guided by the following strategies
and actions from the 2018-19 Statement of Intent (SOI):
>> Engaging with the community in a clear, honest and professional way about land development process and
projects.
>> Balancing public sector and commercial priorities to grow and maintain good relationships with the private
sector and across the ACT Government.
>> Engaging and building strategic relationships with local communities, industry associations, special interest
groups and the broader ACT community to make sure relevant interests are identified and considered in land
release activities.
>> Delivering community building and development programs to encourage resident involvement and connection
to their local community.
>> Sharing the learnings of the Mingle program within the ACT Government and other interested parties.

Community engagement activities
The SLA held stakeholder engagement activities in Gungahlin, Belconnen, Molonglo Valley and Kingston. Our joint
venture partner in Ginninderry (West Belconnen) undertook additional engagement projects.
The Mingle Program is the Community Development arm of the SLA. Mingle was active in Wright, Coombs,
Lawson, Moncrieff and Throsby.

Jacka
Public consultation was held on the new stage of Jacka. This involved collaboration with other areas of the ACT
Government to promote and inform the community on the next stages of development, known as Jacka 2. This
included a presentation to the Gungahlin Community Council, ‘pop ups’ in the Gungahlin Town Centre and a
community drop in session at the Amaroo School.

42

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Kingston Foreshore
We continued to work closely with a range of Kingston Foreshore stakeholders on development activities,
community facilities and future plans linked to the Kingston Foreshore Arts Precinct. This included discussions
with the Kingston Barton Residents Group about the proposed development concepts and engagement direction.

Coombs Play Space
Between June 2018 and March 2019, we initiated a project to gain insights into the future play space on Edgeworth
Parade in Coombs. We engaged with students from Charles Weston School, set up an online survey and
presented design concepts at the Stromlo Cottage. The engagement process is ongoing with outcomes expected
in October 2019.

Whitlam Future Playground
The SLA partnered with the Canberra Institute of Technology in early 2019 to seek community feedback on
the design and proposed equipment for the ‘nature play’ park to ensure its relevancy to local members of the
community. The project will continue into 2019-20.

Ginninderry (West Belconnen)
In 2016, the ACT Government and Riverview Group entered into a joint venture to develop an innovative masterplanned community spanning the ACT and NSW border in West Belconnen. The project has set the benchmark for
active community engagement, and has been recognised by industry for following best practice for engagement
in urban development.
Extensive engagement with the local community and key interest groups has continued throughout the project.
Formal advisory groups have been established on a range of issues including the environment, public art and
road projects.
The Ginninderry Aboriginal Advisory Group works closely with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community
to ensure significant sites are appropriately managed and protected, and to determine appropriate development
sites throughout the project area.
The Ginninderry community development operates a program of initiatives that benefit the local community. It
also maintains a database of over 300 stakeholder and project partners.
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Local industry
The SLA proactively engaged and sought opportunities to collaborate with industry by:
>> Meeting regularly with the Master Builders Association (MBA) ACT to seek feedback on its activities and
coordinate messages to the building industry.
>> Hosting the National Government Land Organisations Forum with representatives from every Australian
jurisdiction and New Zealand.
>> Partnering with local community services organisations such as Communities@Work, Northside Community
Services and Woden Community Services to provide support and enhance existing programs.
>> Proactively providing media organisations with details on our community initiatives, such as the Stromlo
Cottage Mosaic Project.
>> Meeting with Property Council of Australia (PCA) ACT members to discuss a range of issues.
>> Initiating industry workshops which have included MBA, PCA and the Housing Industry Association.

Mingle Community Development Program
We continued to implement our community development program, Mingle—designed to build vibrant local
communities within new ACT Government greenfield estates, using the following Guiding Principles:

tm
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Mingle helped new residents feel part of the community and encouraged their involvement in community life
and activities. Mingle also supported the creation of networks, groups and programs among residents, which will
ultimately become self-sustaining.
Mingle was tailored for each suburb to suit demographics, resident feedback and proximity to surrounding
services. We continued to collaborate with other ACT Government Directorates to meet program objectives and
deliver relevant events and activities.
In 2018-19, Mingle continued in the Molonglo Valley (Coombs and Wright), Throsby and Moncrieff. It also recommenced in Lawson through a partnership with the Canberra Institute of Technology. Throughout the
reporting period, Mingle also delivered an Actsmart sustainability pre-build workshop for purchasers and future
residents.
Mingle will launch in Taylor in 2019-20.
During 2018-19, various ACT Government agency messages were communicated using Mingle communication
channels, including email, Facebook, newsletters and community information nights. Information on issues such
as the Cat Containment Strategy, recycling, ACT Parks and Conservation engagements, as well as messages
from ACT Health, Education Directorate, ACT Libraries and ACT Policing were shared. Updates on the progress of
construction and development activities were also provided to the community in areas near SLA estates.
A number of industry relationships and partnerships were established or maintained during 2018-19. This allowed
us to enhance our program delivery and inform residents of other local initiatives and support avenues.

Coombs and Wright
The Mingle Program in Coombs and Wright continued to work with the Molonglo Valley Community Group, which
met regularly to discuss progress in the suburbs and opportunities for new events and activities.
The program delivered 183 activities and engagements during 2018-19, to over 6,400 people. These events and
activities included a tree planting event at the Molonglo River, resident led markets, Eid Fest, community carols,
Diwali Festival of Lights, Neighbour Day and creative engagement activities with students and families at the
Charles Weston School, Coombs.
Two large-scale community information sessions were held to distribute information about ACT Government and
non-government programs and initiatives. Both events used the Facebook live streaming function to engage a
wider audience.
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The Coombs 3A Play Space consultation gave community members an opportunity to have their say on
equipment and amenities for the space. A separate consultation was also held with students from Charles Weston
School and parents through a local community Playgroup.
The Mingle Program supported an increase of resident-led initiatives, particularly groups using the Stromlo
Cottage, a regular book club and seniors group. It also funded and provided support for the Community Carols
and a community market event. During the reporting period, four community newsletters were delivered to all
homes in Coombs and Wright.
In June 2019, Mingle surveyed 120 residents in Coombs and Wright to seek feedback on their knowledge and
experiences. The survey collected resident demographic information, with three key findings found:

98%
reported that they were
aware of the Mingle Program
running in their suburb.

70%
of residents either agreed
or strongly agreed that
the Mingle Community
Development program
has made them feel more
connected in their suburb.

89%
surveyed either agreed or
strongly agreed that Mingle
has made them feel more
informed about their suburb.

Further outcomes and evaluation data will be published next financial year.

Moncrieff
The Moncrieff Mingle Program continued to work with the local community during the reporting period. The
program delivered 54 events and activities during 2018-19, to over 3,600 people. These events and activities
included the opening of Yunggaballi Park, Moncrieff Diwali Festival, Music and Games Day, and a series of
astronomy nights. Regular resident meetings were held to identify new initiatives.
Three newsletters were distributed to all homes during the reporting period.
A Neighbourhood Watch Group was established in early 2019. The group met regularly and produced a quarterly
safety newsletter for residents. The group worked closely with ACT Crime Stoppers, Neighbourhood Watch and
Gungahlin Police, to minimise crime and increase awareness and safety across the suburb. Mingle provided
funding to support this new initiative.
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Partnerships were also created with Northside Community Services to assist in delivering a weekly playgroup and
after school sports program in Moncrieff.
A new partnership with ‘Live Life Get Active’ saw the launch of a free fitness program for Moncrieff residents. The
exercise program, which is fully funded by Mingle, has seen a strong uptake from Moncrieff residents. It will run for
a total of four terms, with classes in boxing, cross-training and yoga held Mondays to Fridays.
In June 2019, Mingle surveyed 59 residents to seek feedback on their knowledge and experiences. The survey
collected resident demographic information, with three key findings found:

98%
reported that they were
aware of the Mingle Program
running in their suburb.

80%
of residents either agreed
or strongly agreed that
the Mingle Community
Development program
has made them feel
more connected in
their suburb.

89%
surveyed either agreed or
strongly agreed that Mingle
has made them feel more
informed about their suburb.

Further outcomes and evaluation data will be published next financial year.

Throsby
The Mingle Program in Throsby continues to engage with new residents as they move into the suburb. The
program delivered eight events, to more than 370 current and future residents. The events included a community
picnic, twilight and ranger walks, Home Project Skills Workshop, and an Easter Egg Hunt. The Throsby Mingle
Facebook page continued to grow and be one of the main forms of communication with new residents.
In 2018-19, three Mingle newsletters were produced and delivered to completed homes in Throsby. They were also
emailed to all purchasers.
An informal partnership was established with the Woodlands and Wetlands Trust, who played a role in many of
the events. We also collaborated with artsACT, to install and celebrate large steel kangaroo sculptures that moved
into the suburb in September 2018. Mingle continued to work with Northside Community Services to plan joint
activities tailored to the Throsby community.
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In June 2019, Mingle surveyed 45 residents for their knowledge and experiences. The survey collected resident
demographic information, with three key findings found:

97%
reported that they were
aware of the Mingle Program
running in their suburb.

77%
of residents either agreed
or strongly agreed that
the Mingle Community
Development program
has made them feel more
connected in their suburb.

88%
surveyed either agreed or
strongly agreed that Mingle
has made them feel more
informed about their suburb.

Further outcomes and evaluation data will be published next financial year.

Lawson
The Mingle team partnered with the Canberra Institute of Technology to run activities in Lawson. This partnership
delivered four events, attended by over 240 people. The events included a community barbeque, movie night, a
cultural cooking class and safety session.

Suburban Land Agency Sponsorships
In 2018-19, the SLA did not enter into any new sponsorship arrangements.
The Ginninderry Joint Venture Project has an annual sponsorship program to encourage and support community
and industry initiatives that align with the project’s objectives. During 2018-19 the joint venture provided funding
as set out in the table below.
TABLE 1: SPONSORSHIPS
Recipient

Amount

Ginninderra Cricket Club
Belconnen Arts Centre NAIDOC
St. Thomas Aquinas West Belconnen Primary School Fete
Magpies Belconnen Football Club
Sculpture in the Paddock School Program
Conservation Council
National Association of Women In Construction
ACT Training Awards
Construction Industry Training Council Awards
MBA Excellence in Building Awards

$6,000
$2,000
$1,500
$7,272
$2,000
$5,000
$4,545
$5,000
$1,650
$4,200
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Community Development Assistance Program
The SLA partnered with local residents in Wright, Coombs and Moncrieff to create resident-led events and
activities that aligned with Mingle Program objectives. All activities were co-designed and delivered with
residents.
TABLE 2: ASSISTANCE
Recipient

Project Purpose/Summary

Amount

Molonglo Valley Markets

Funds provided for market promotion, entertainment, basic supplies and waste
management for four local markets held at Stromlo Cottage in 2018-19.
Funds provided for insurance, audio-visual, hall hire, promotion and basic
supplies. This was the fourth year this event had been run.
Funds provided for 10 Neighbourhood Watch signs to be produced and installed
throughout Moncrieff to raise awareness of neighbourhood safety.
Funds provided for local residents to deliver the Festival of Lights celebration and
help educate the wider community about the meaning of Diwali.
Funds provided to a group of seniors who created woollen blankets to donate to
Stromlo Cottage and the Canberra Hospital.

$3,700

Molonglo Valley
Community Carols
Moncrieff Neighbourhood
Watch
Molonglo Valley Diwali
Molonglo Valley Knitting
Group

$2,600
$800
$1,100
$200

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.9 ABORIGINAL AND TORRES
STRAIT ISLANDER REPORTING
Collaboration at events
The Suburban Land Agency’s (SLA) Mingle Team collaborated with local residents and stakeholders to deliver the
following Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander activities:
>> Yunggaballi Park naming and official opening on 21 October 2018. Artwork was created by a local student and
used in the official signage at the park. Aboriginal music and artwork was demonstrated at the event, with
residents shown how to use the didgeridoo. Bonner Primary school students also sang a Yunggaballi song to all
attendees.
>> A local Aboriginal person lead the Acknowledgment of Country and shared games, music and other cultural
experiences with residents of Molonglo Valley on Neighbour Day, held on 31 March 2019.

Establishment of the Ginninderry Aboriginal Advisory
Group (GAAG)
We worked closely with the GAAG to determine appropriate development and/or protection, and management
measures to be implemented at all significant sites throughout the project area. The project also partnered with
the Aboriginal Consultative Committee of Yass Valley Council.

Cultural values through consultation
The Walters Consultancy undertook an Aboriginal Cultural Values Assessment in 2017 that specifically aimed
to identify intangible cultural values through consultation with knowledge holders and historical research.
Recommendations from this report have been incorporated into all Ginninderry project planning.
In January 2019, the SLA participated in the development of a Portfolio-wide Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP). The
draft RAP was finalised in June 2019 and officially approved by Reconciliation Australia in July 2019.
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The SLA has developed a Diversity Action Plan to enhance diversity and ensure decision-making and delivery
is informed by, and reflective of, our diverse Canberra community. The Diversity Action Plan identifies key
Executives to champion diversity initiatives including the adoption of whole of government approach to enhance
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Community inclusion across the ACT Public Service.

Cultural awareness and engagement
SLA staff were given access to Directorate-led, cultural awareness training and guidance in the following modules:
>> Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Cultural Awareness.
>> Effectively Support Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Employees.
We actively promoted key dates of significance for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples by encouraging
staff to attend and support NAIDOC Week activities and events. In addition to finalising the Portfolio Wide
Innovate RAP, the SLA promoted whole of government initiatives such as Indigenous networks, and leadership
and mentoring programs. The SLA will participate in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander traineeship program
in 2020.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.10 WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY
Work Health and Safety (WHS) was a priority for the Suburban Land Agency (SLA) Board and Executive in 2018-19.
WHS activities and obligations were managed in accordance with the statutory provisions of the Work Health and
Safety Act 2011 (WHS Act) and supported by a range of whole of government WHS and return to work policies and
initiatives.
A Senior WHS Manager was employed to implement requirements under the WHS Act through a Service
Agreement. The Directorate People and Capability team provided guidance and support throughout this process.
During 2018-19, the SLA was not:
>> issued with any Improvement, Prohibition or Non-Disturbance Notices under Part 10 of the WHS Act
>> issued with any Enforceable Undertakings under Part 11 of the WHS Act.
The SLA complied with its health and safety duties as a Person Conducting a Business or Undertaking, pursuant
to Part 2 Divisions 2.2, 2.3 and 2.4 of the WHS Act, and did not have any injuries or illnesses which required
notification to the regulator in accordance with Part 3, section 38 of the WHS Act.
Two elected health and safety representatives represent our workers on health and safety matters. This includes
participation in workplace health and safety meetings and regular monthly all staff discussion programs designed
to provide a consultative WHS forum for all workers.

SLA WHS Safety Management Framework and WHS
Safety Management System
The SLA Safety Management Framework approved by our Board, is being used as the foundation to develop a
fully integrated Work Health and Safety Management System. The new system will comply with the Australian
Standard AS 4801, the International Standard ISO 45001 and all workplace health and safety requirements of
the ACT Public Service.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.11 HUMAN RESOURCES
MANAGEMENT
Operational Human Resource (HR) services are provided to the Suburban Land Agency (SLA) under a Service
Agreement with the Environment, Planning and Sustainable Development Directorate (the Directorate). In 2018-19,
the Directorate also provided strategic, operational and technical advice.
Performance Management, Case Management, HR reporting and Learning and Development services were also
delivered under this Service Agreement.
The SLA People and Transition Committee (the Committee) assist the SLA Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in
relation to significant HR issues.
During 2018-19, the Committee met five times, providing oversight and guidance in relation to organisational
capability, resources and culture, staff wellbeing and diversity, and inclusion policies and strategies.
TABLE 1: MEMBERSHIP OF THE SLA PEOPLE AND TRANSITION COMMITTEE
Name of Member

Position

Meetings attended

Suzanne Jones
Angus Dawson
John Fitzgerald

Chair
Member
Member

5
5
5

In 2018-19, a SLA Diversity Objectives Action Plan was developed and reviewed by the Committee. The plan aims
to enhance diversity within our organisation to ensure decision-making and delivery is informed by, and reflective
of, our diverse Canberra community. The plan will be implemented in 2019-20 and identifies key Executives to
champion diversity initiatives adopting a whole of government approach to enhance inclusion across the ACT
Public Service in key areas:
>> Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples
>> people with disability
>> the LGBTIQ community
>> gender equality
>> ex-detainee employment.
In January 2019, we were invited to participate in the development of a portfolio-wide Reconciliation Action Plan
(RAP). The draft RAP was conditionally approved in June 2019 and officially approved by Reconciliation Australia
in July 2019.
The SLA has responded to State of the Service, reporting on Attraction and Retention Incentives (ARins), Special
Employment Agreements (SEAs) and Australian Workplace Agreements (AWAs).
In 2020, we will transition our staff into new whole of government office accommodation. We have begun
transition arrangements to assist with this process by participating in working groups and using internal
champions to provide advice and support to all staff. The new accommodation supports activity based working
arrangements, and will use change management processes and guiding principles throughout the move, and into
new working arrangements.
The SLA actively promotes work-life balance and flexible working arrangements.
On 30 June 2019, we had a headcount of 94 people. The following tables represent our workforce.
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Our staffing profile
TABLE 2: FULL TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE) AND HEADCOUNT BY DIVISION
Branch/Division

FTE

Headcount

Built Form & Divestment
Business Operations Office
Business Improvement and Digital Solutions
Chief Executive Officer
Construction
Financial Reporting and Budgets
Gungahlin
Industrial, Commercial and Joint Venture
Management Finance
Mingle
Molonglo
Office of Chief Executive Officer
Office of Director Urban Projects and Sales Marketing
Office of Chief Financial Officer
Office of Executive Director Greenfields
Program Solutions and Business Operations
Management Accounting
Sales and Marketing
Suburban Land Agency Support
Urban
Valuations and Estate Management
Total

1.0
4.0
2.0
1.0
5.0
4.0
3.0
3.0
4.0
6.0
4.9
7.0
5.0
3.0
7.0
3.0
2.7
9.0
2.0
8.9
8.0
93.4

1
4
2
1
5
4
3
3
4
6
5
7
5
3
7
3
3
9
2
9
6
94

TABLE 3: FULL TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE) AND HEADCOUNT BY GENDER
FTE by Gender
Headcount by Gender
% of Workforce

Female

Male

Total

43.7
44
46.8%

49.7
50
53.2%

93.4
94
100.0%

TABLE 4: HEADCOUNT BY CLASSIFICATION GROUP AND GENDER
Classification Group

Female

Male

Total

Administrative Officers
Executive Officers
Professional Officers
Senior Officers
Total

15
1
1
27
44

8
5
0
37
50

23
6
1
64
94

Female

Male

Total

0
37
2
5
0
44

0
43
0
7
0
50

0
80
2
12
0
94

TABLE 5: HEADCOUNT BY EMPLOYMENT CATEGORY AND GENDER
Employment Category
Casual
Permanent Full-time
Permanent Part-time
Temporary Full-time
Temporary Part-time
Total

TABLE 6: HEADCOUNT BY DIVERSITY GROUP REPRESENTATION
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples
Culturally & Linguistically Diverse
People with disability
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Headcount

% of staff

1
20
6

1.1%
21.3%
6.4%

TABLE 7: HEADCOUNT BY AGE AND GENDER
Age Group

Female

Male

Total

Under 25
25-34
35-44
45-54
55 and over
Total

2
13
11
15
3
44

0
8
17
14
11
50

2
21
28
29
14
94

Female

Male

Total

7.7

8.2

7.9

TABLE 8: AVERAGE LENGTH OF SERVICE
Average years of service

TABLE 9: RECRUITMENT AND SEPARATION RATE
Recruitment Rate

Separation Rate

17.4%

8.0%

Learning and Development
Learning and development program delivery
All staff participated in learning and development initiatives delivered by the Directorate Learning and
Development team as listed below.
>> Learning Program (All Staff)
>> ACTPS/Directorate Induction
>> Workplace Health & Safety
>> Respect Equity & Diversity
>> Performance & Development
>> Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Awareness
>> Fraud & Ethics
>> Records Management
>> Objective EDRMS (Introduction).
Managers and Leaders attended the following core training:
>> Domestic and Family Violence Awareness
>> Performance and Development (Managers)
>> Procurement and Contract Management
>> Workplace Health and Safety (Managers).
The following learning programs supported mental health and inclusion:
>> Mental Health Awareness
>> Disability Confidence
>> Behavioural De-escalation
>> Managing Difficult Conversations
>> Building Resilience.
In 2018-19, 27 SLA staff attended training through the ACTPS Training Calendar at a cost of $12,637. Our staff also
attended training with select providers to further develop their skills and knowledge in the areas of:
>> Work Health and Safety
>> Procurement and Contract Management
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>> Project Management
>> Leadership and Mentoring Programs
>> Specialised Software Packages.
The SLA participated in whole of government learning and development initiatives hosting two graduates as part
of the ACT Public Service Graduate Program and one employee as part of the ACT Government’s Work Experience
Support Program.
Our Board also mentored two internal trainees under the 2019 Audrey Fagan Board Traineeship Program.
In July 2018, a new online Performance and Development tool was made available to staff within the Portfolio—70
SLA staff established their 2018-2019 Performance and Development Plan using the new online tool.

Study assistance
Study assistance is available to all SLA employees providing support to undertake formal higher education
opportunities that align with their current role and our priorities.

Future Learning and development priorities
In 2019-20 we will participate in programs to recognise, prevent and respond to the needs of adults and children
experiencing domestic and family violence. This is in line with the whole of government launch of the ‘Foundation
Training in Family and Domestic Violence’ as a core learning requirement. This training will also be recognised for
the ‘White Ribbon’ Accreditation process, which the Portfolio is striving to attain. The Directorate's People and
Capability will deliver training via two methods:
>> Foundation e-learn—focusing on recognising and responding to domestic and family violence.
>> Foundation training for managers—focusing on how to support staff impacted by domestic and family violence
and promoting a workplace culture of respect and safety.
In 2018-19, the Directorate rolled out the Management 2020 Framework that supported SLA managers to lead
their teams, build business acumen, unlock potential, inspire, inform and connect, and create an environment for
innovation. The key objectives included:
>> Development of consistent, predictable and transparent people management practices.
>> Embedding contemporary work practices that help managers to be informed connected and innovated to
enable them to deliver SLA objectives, and build consistent language and work practices between the Senior
Manager cohort.
>> Improved communication skills for enhanced collaboration across the portfolio and broader ACT Public
Service. The intensive program is divided into five key areas:
• Governance, Legislation and Finance
• Communication and Leadership
• Risk Management
• Managing People, and
• Strategic Workforce Planning.
This program will continue into 2019-20 for the next cohort of SLA senior managers to attend.

Further information can be obtained from:
Sally Gilbert
Agency Secretary and Governance Manager
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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B.12 ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT
Contribution to ecologically sustainable development
Background
The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) is responsible for encouraging and promoting inclusive communities, delivering
people-focused neighbourhoods and delivering a suburban development program that supports:
>> affordable living
>> a safe and healthy population
>> social inclusion
>> housing choice
>> environmental sustainability.
We are also responsible for encouraging and promoting social and environmental sustainability, carrying out land
development in an environmentally sustainable way, and supporting statutory greenhouse gas emissions targets.
In 2018-19, we prepared a Sustainability Strategy and established goals to deliver socially and environmentally
sustainable developments, which align with the ACT Government’s commitment to net zero emissions by 2045.
During 2018-19, we were not subject to any investigations, requests or recommendations from the Commissioner
for Sustainability and the Environment.
Information about our greenhouse gas emissions is outlined in Attachment A.

Environmental Sustainability
Conserving and enhancing biodiversity
In Throsby, we introduced a rebate to encourage purchasers of new blocks to landscape their front gardens and
plant appropriate species to support biodiversity. We also engaged with the Woodlands and Wetlands Trust on
the new Woodlands Learning Centre in Throsby.
The Mingle Program held a range of activities to support biodiversity. These included:
>> an ‘ACT for Bees’ workshop for Wright and Coombs residents in August 2018
>> twilight walking tours with the Mulligans Flat Woodland Sanctuary team promoting the importance of native
wildlife, including nocturnal birds and animals
>> a tree planting event for Wright and Coombs residents in May 2019
>> a balcony gardening workshop for Lawson residents.
We continued to implement the offset management plan for the Yarralumla Equestrian Park site as an
environmental offset for the Campbell 5 development.

Reducing emissions from waste and reusing materials
In 2018-19, the SLA actively managed civil construction spoil through cut and fill activities and the reuse of
materials such as rocks. Where possible, rocks were crushed and used under footpaths and in landscaping and
retaining walls.
In February 2019, we achieved Actsmart Business Accreditation through a waste audit of our office environment—
including composting and recycling, and a series of staff education sessions.
We also worked with ACT NOWaste to develop community education materials about waste and recycling.
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Reducing water use and improving water quality
In 2018-19, we undertook various civil works, including sediment and erosion control measures. Water Sensitive
Urban Design measures were also included across all projects. Examples of these measures include finalising
construction of a series of billabongs in Taylor to treat water quality.

Reducing energy use and encouraging renewable energy
We considered the orientation of blocks and street layouts to optimise solar access to homes in the design of
new developments. Two workshops were held for land purchasers in Wright, Coombs and Taylor through the ACT
Government’s Actsmart program. These sessions encouraged sustainable and energy efficient building design.
We also commenced talks with EvoEnergy about introducing energy incentives or requirements in future
developments.

Improving transport outcomes
The SLA included extensive pedestrian and cycle path networks in new developments to encourage residents to
walk or cycle rather than drive. New bike racks were installed at Stromlo Cottage in Coombs to encourage more
cycling to local events. We also encourage our staff to use public transport when attending meetings.

Adapting to a changing climate
Living infrastructure helps the community adapt to a changing climate. The SLA supported this by planting trees
along streets and in public, open spaces. The landscape rebate, which was offered in Throsby, also supported
climate change adaptation by encouraging new purchasers to landscape their front gardens.
We also provided community members with information and advice about how to buy land, and build a climatewise home.

Social sustainability
Creating people-focused neighbourhoods and communities
The SLA hosted several events for new residents to learn and ask questions about new developments. This
included: a North Coombs reveal event in March 2019, the Taylor Open Day in March 2019, and a Taylor Sales and
Information event in June 2019.
The Mingle Program was successfully delivered across a number of projects in Wright, Coombs, Moncrieff,
Throsby, Taylor and Lawson. The program helped build community connections and establish vibrant
communities in new areas. Some of these activities are listed below.
Moncrieff

>> Yunggaballi Park naming
>> astronomy nights
>> cultural celebrations including an Easter Egg Hunt and Diwali Festival of Lights
>> resident catch-ups.
Wright and Coombs

>> National Neighbour Day celebration
>> community picnic and Community Fair Day
>> cultural celebrations including Community Carols, Diwali Festival of Lights and Eid festivities
>> activation of Stromlo Cottage through weekly groups, sunset sessions and Molonglo Valley Markets
>> Community Information Nights.
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Throsby

>> picnic at Joey Park and a twilight music event
>> Easter Egg Hunt.
Lawson

>> education workshops including ‘Storytelling with food’ and a balcony gardening session
>> movie night.
Information about our Mingle Community Development Program is outlined in Section B.8 Community
Engagement and Support on page 44.

Supporting affordable living
Access to open spaces, community facilities and different transport options are all part of affordable living. We
achieved this by creating public spaces close to most homes, and within all developments.

Encouraging safe and healthy people
Active travel is an important factor when designing new developments. It encourages the community to consider
transport options such as walking and cycling to work, or using public transport.
Free fitness classes were launched in Moncrieff through the Mingle Program in May 2019, a Treasure Trek was held
in Coombs in March 2019, and several twilight walks through the Mulligans Flat Woodland Sanctuary were held
throughout the reporting period.
All our new developments are required to consider crime prevention through environmental design.
Community safety sessions were held in Moncrieff and Lawson, which linked residents into local services such
as Neighbourhood Watch, Crime Stoppers and Act Policing. The Mingle Program also provided support to the
Moncrieff community through funding of Neighbourhood Watch signage.

Promoting social inclusion
Social inclusion ensures everyone can participate in society. We use universal design, to support people of
different abilities, when planning open spaces and playgrounds.
The Mingle Program provided an opportunity for people to participate in their community and connect with
their neighbours. We held many events to encourage people to meet up, get to know each other and become
actively involved in their community. This included regular resident meetings as well as specific events such
as the Moncrieff Recipe Challenge and the Throsby ‘Do It Yourself’ Workshop. Students and parents at Charles
Weston School also worked on a community art installation at Stromlo Cottage, with the mosaic mural unveiled
on 21 March 2019.

Providing housing choice
The SLA created diversity among housing types by offering a range of block sizes for sale in all new developments.
We also delivered sites for affordable, public and community housing.
The table below provides a summary of housing delivered in 2018-19, compared to the targets set in accordance
with the City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency Act 2017.
Any site with a target applied for 2018-19 that has not been released, will continue to have the target applied in
the future.
In addition to the below table, 33 dwellings were released for public housing in June 2019 in Greenway. In 2017-18,
this site had a target of 30 public housing dwellings applied to it.
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TABLE 1: AFFORDABLE, PUBLIC AND COMMUNITY HOUSING TARGETS AND DELIVERY
Suburb

Block/ Section or
Location Description

Target:
Public
Housing

Gungahlin Town Centre
Gungahlin Town Centre
Belconnen Town Centre*
Taylor**
Coombs
Coombs

Block 3, Section 246
Block 4, Section 246
Blocks 40,41, Section 54
Taylor 2
Block 1, Section 11
Block 5, Section 2
Blocks 1,2 and 3
Section 64
Various Single
Residential
Stage 1
TBC
Block 1, Section 53
Block 12, Section 50
Section 43, blocks 20
and 24
Block 8, Section 76
Block 3, Section 3
Block 4, Section 3

–
–
–
28
–
–

–
–
–
28
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
59
–
–

5
5
3
139
20
20

5
5
0
146
20
20

–

–

–

–

31

31

–

–

–

–

25

25

32
–
–
–

0
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

44
60
70
50

0
2
70
0

–

–

15

0

–

–

–
–
–
60

–
–
–
[61]^^

5
–
–
20

0
–
–
59

–
20
20
512

–
21
21
366

Wright
Wright
Whitlam***
Strathnairn#
Lyons
Lyneham##
Scullin###
Giralang^
Coombs
Coombs
Total
*
**
***
#
##
###
^
^^

This site was withdrawn from the Indicative Land Release Program at the request of the Minister for Planning and Land
Management.
Additional affordable and community housing was delivered in Taylor to address delays in release of other sites in Whitlam.
While 44 affordable housing dwellings and 32 public housing dwellings have been identified in Whitlam, the initial release of
the entire estate has been changed to 2019-20.
The release of the remaining dwellings in Strathnairn will be delayed to the 2019-20 financial year due to delays in approval of
the Development Application.
The release of the former Macarthur House Asset Recycling Initiative site was delayed until after the Territory Plan Variation is
released for consultation.
The site in Scullin was not transferred to the SLA in 2018-19. Following finalisation of due diligence processes, this site is now
likely to be released in early 2019-20.
The site in Giralang was not transferred to the SLA in 2018-19. Following finalisation of due diligence processes, this site is now
likely to be released in early 2019-20.
The actual total number of dwellings released for public housing in 2018-19 is 61 dwellings. This incorporates an additional 33
dwellings, which were released for public housing in Greenway. There was a target of 30 dwellings applied to this site in 2017-18,
however the dwellings were not released until June 2019.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

60

Actual:
Target:
Actual:
Target:
Actual:
Public Community Community Affordable Affordable
Housing
Housing
Housing
Home
Home
Purchase Purchase

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Pa
rt
C

Fi
na
nc
ia
lM
an
R age
ep m
or e
tin nt
g

C.1 FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
ANALYSIS
Operations & Financial Outcome
blocks
available
for purchase
across four
suburbs at

million

in returns to the

million

in land sales

ACT Government

revenue

Operating Surplus before
National Tax Equivalent

Operating Surplus

30 June 2019

Financial
Performance

30 June 2018
30 June 2019

389.464
483.002

30 June 2018
30 June 2019

Million

Million

Million

Land Revenue

230.430

30 June 2018

272.851

161.300

30 June 2019

released

sold 6
with a combined
sales price of

31,602m2
of land for
mixed-use
development

$174.570
million
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released
72,777m2

of community land
which included
school sites in
Throsby & Taylor

190.995

Management Discussion and Analysis
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Objectives
The Suburban Land Agency was established on 1 July 2017 under section 37 of the City Renewal Authority and
Suburban Land Agency Act 2017 (the Act). The Suburban Land Agency was transferred the assets, rights and
liabilities from the former Land Development Agency (LDA), on 1 July 2017 by way of a Minister’s declaration in
accordance with Division 9.6 of the Financial Management Act 1996 (FMA).
The Suburban Land Agency is responsible for the Government’s suburban development program, including urban
renewal in established town centres and suburbs outside ‘declared urban renewal precincts’. The Suburban
Land Agency relies on the Environment, Planning and Sustainable Development Directorate (EPSDD) for core
business functions such as people and capability, governance, compliance and legal, information management,
government services, communication and fleet management, and due diligence.
The objectives of the Suburban Land Agency, as set out in section 38 of the Act, are to:
>> encourage and promote:
i. inclusive communities through the delivery of people-focussed neighbourhoods.
ii. suburban development and urban renewal, other than in the City Renewal Precinct, that supports the
following:
• affordable living
• a safe and healthy population
• social inclusion
• housing choice
• social and environmental sustainability
• growth and diversification of the Territory’s economy
>> operate effectively, in a way that delivers value for money, in accordance with sound risk management
practices

Nature and scope of activities
The Suburban Land Agency develops and releases government-owned land for residential, commercial, industrial
and community purposes.
The Suburban Land Agency:
>> buys and sells leases of land on behalf of the Territory
>> ensures a mixture of public and private housing in new suburbs
>> increases the supply of affordable and community housing
>> meets housing targets
>> carries out development of land in a manner that is environmentally sustainable
>> exercises its functions in a way that supports statutory greenhouse gas emissions targets and delivers
environmentally sustainable development
>> follows and supports whole of government strategies
The Suburban Land Agency works with other entities to encourage cohesive suburban development.
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By acting in a trustworthy, responsible and professional way, the Suburban Land Agency will:
>> work efficiently and provide agreed returns to the Territory
>> consider the long-term sustainability of the Territory in all key commercial decisions on greenfield land in the
ACT
>> encourage and support innovation to build a city for the future including transport, water supply, sustainable
environments, connectivity and energy efficiency
>> deliver the Government’s Indicative Land Release Program
>> engage with the community in a clear, honest and professional way about the land development process and
projects
In balancing public sector and commercial priorities, the Suburban Land Agency will grow and maintain good
relationships with the private sector and across the ACT Government.

Public Trading Enterprise
The Suburban Land Agency is a Public Trading Enterprise. Consistent with the ACT Government’s policy
statement on competitive neutrality (Competitive Neutrality in the ACT, October 2010), the Suburban Land Agency
applies similar costing and pricing principles, taxation, debt guarantee requirements and regulations as a fully
corporatised business, including:
>> the transfer of unleased land for development from the Territory on a commercial basis
>> land holding cost payments
>> stamp duty equivalent payments
>> application of the National Tax Equivalent Regime
>> providing a commercial return to the ACT Government through the development and sale of the land

Risk Management
The Suburban Land Agency maintains a risk register that identifies risks under the following categories:
>> Strategic—ACT and Commonwealth Government policy, priorities and strategies; external conditions, activities
and environment; and meeting community and government expectations
>> Operational—management of financial and non-financial targets; business and financial systems and
processes; work health and safety; organisational and workforce planning; projects and land development;
and effective governance
>> Fraud and Corruption—management of information including compliant records management, procedures,
procurement, resources and contracts
The risk priorities of the Suburban Land Agency were:
>> Safety—ensuring that work health and safety risk is identified, managed and actively monitored
>> Effectiveness—striving to deliver quality outcomes the first time
>> Efficiency—delivering value for money to the ACT community
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Strategies for 2018-19
The Suburban Land Agency has the following priorities and strategies for the period 2018-19 to 2021-22 to support
achievement of its purpose, manage risks and deliver on ACT Government policies and priorities:

Culture
>> A trusted organisation, delivering in partnership with Government, industry and the community.
>> Values driven behaviour.
>> Engaged and empowered staff.
>> Staff embrace and model respect, accountability, probity and transparency in their work.
>> Meet the Government’s expectations at a strategic and operational level.

Business Improvement
>> Good governance.
>> Effective risk management.
>> Excellent work health and safety frameworks.
>> Integrated systems, tools and processes that present a consistent source of information.
>> Financially responsible operations that deliver value for money.

Community Needs
>> Solutions developed and implemented for the diverse range of community needs.
>> A mix of block sizes and locations for construction within our developments.
>> Placemaking and design excellence.
>> Developments that provide the community with good connections to employment hubs, transport, services
and infrastructure.

Affordable Living
>> Affordable housing in well served areas.
>> Developments with low running and maintenance costs.
>> Suitable land supply.

Climate Adaptation
>> Biodiversity protected and enhanced in our developments.
>> Climate responsive design including water and energy sensitive communities.
>> Infrastructure that can be maintained within Government expectations and resources.
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The following major activities were identified to support achievement of its priorities for 2018-19 to 2021-22:

Culture
>> Strengthen a positive culture in the Suburban Land Agency through education, better communication and
actively responding to concerns.
>> Ensure awareness within the Suburban Land Agency of the 2018 Staff Survey outcomes and action plan, and
undertake a staff satisfaction survey by 2019.
>> Improve and implement risk and work health and safety frameworks.
>> Promote diversity within the Suburban Land Agency work place, which may include partnering with local
universities and reviewing employment advertising strategies.
>> Finalise a Strategic Human Resources Plan for the Suburban Land Agency.

Business Improvement
>> Scope and implement a business improvement program with a focus on processes, systems and data.
>> Work with other areas of the ACT Government to improve whole of life urban infrastructure outcomes within
the Suburban Land Agency’s estates and developments.
>> Collaborate and co-operate with other ACT and Commonwealth Government agencies to deliver and advise
the ACT Government on key government priorities including land development, future areas of growth,
housing, renewal, affordable housing, property market conditions and effective community building.

Community Needs
>> Establish an innovation capability designed to enhance outcomes in community needs, affordable living,
inclusive communities and climate adaptation.
>> Engage and build strategic relationships with local communities, industry associations, special interest groups
and the broader ACT community to make sure any relevant interests are identified and considered in land
release activities.
>> Deliver community building and development programs to encourage resident involvement and connection to
their local community.
>> Share the learnings of the Mingle program within the ACT Government and with other interested parties.

Affordable Living
>> Review Government initiatives and industry exemplar projects to determine the best approach for industry
partnering, particularly in affordable living and climate adaptation.
>> Identify opportunities within the Indicative Land Release Program and with industry partners to create
affordable housing and climate adaptation demonstration projects.
>> Facilitate and support the delivery of affordable housing including community and public housing.

Climate Adaptation
>> New Suburban Land Agency greenfield estates (>500 single residential dwellings) exhibit and promote
initiatives focused on biodiversity, energy efficiency and sustainability.
>> Bushfire Management Plans will be developed, where applicable, as part of the Estate Development Planning
process.
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Returns to the Territory
The total return to the ACT Government from Suburban Land Agency activities consists of:
>> payment for unleased Territory land transferred from EPSDD
>> capital distributions to the Government
>> payment of national tax equivalents
>> payment of dividends based on operating profit after tax
>> payment of land holding costs and stamp duty equivalents
>> payment of payroll tax
Table 1 below compares the total returns to the Territory in 2018-19 with the 2018-19 Budget Statement of Intent.
TABLE 1: COMPARISON OF RETURNS TO THE TERRITORY

Dividends declared a
National tax equivalent payments
Payments for land acquisitions
Payroll tax
Stamp duty equivalents / Land holding cost equivalents
Ordinary Return to the Territory
Capital Distribution b
Total Returns to the Territory

Actual 2018-19
$’M

Original Budget 2018-19
$’M

191.0
81.9
28.3
0.8
1.8
303.8
73.6
377.4

229.7
98.5
47.2
0.8
4.7
380.9
122.4
503.3

a) The Suburban Land Agency declares a dividend of 100 per cent of its net operating surplus, payable to the ACT Government.
b) Capital Distribution refers to the value of ARI sites transferred to the Suburban Land Agency during 2018-19, in order to recognise
the amount to be returned to the Territory upon settlement.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The following financial information is based on the audited 2018-19 Financial Statements.

FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE
Financial
Performance
TOTAL INCOME

The following
following financialinformation
information
is based
audited
2018-19
Financial
Statements.
The
is based
on on
thethe
audited
2018-19
Financial
Statements.
Componentsfinancial
of Income
As shown
in Figure 1, 88.7% of the Suburban Land Agency’s total income of $545.8 million for the year
TOTAL
INCOME
Total
Income
ended 30 June 2019 is derived from Revenue from Contracts with Customers, with the remaining 11.3%

Components
of Income
from Resources
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Actual income of $545.8 million is $147.9 million
higher than the 2017-18 actual result of $397.9 million.
Actual Revenue from Contracts with Customers of $484.0 million is $94.0 million (24.1%) higher than the 2017-18
actual result of $390.0 million. Other income of $61.8 million is $53.9 million (682.5%) higher than the 2017-18
actual result of $7.9 million.
The increase in Revenue from Contracts with Customers is predominantly due to land revenue from the sale of
a large englobo site and additional sales in Wright, Coombs, Greenway and the West Belconnen Joint Operation
compared to 2017-18, as well as larger, higher value ARI sites settled in 2018-19 compared to 2017-18.
The higher other income is predominantly due to higher Resources Received Free of Charge, relating to additional
sites transferred to the Suburban Land Agency at nil cost.
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to 2017-18.
The higher other income is predominantly due to higher Resources Received Free of Charge, relating to
additional sites transferred to the Suburban Land Agency at nil cost.
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Comparison to 2018-19 Budget
Actual expenses of $273.0 million is lower than the budgeted amount of $385.1 million by $112.1 million (29.1%)
mainly due to:
>> $100.5 million in Cost of Land Sold corresponding with the lower than budgeted Land Revenue; and
>> $21.8 million in Supplies and Services for lower than budgeted Resources Received Free of Charge expense
from EPSDD and lower project related expenses, which were impacted by lower land sales.
These were partially offset by:
>> $6.7 million in Other Expenses, due primarily to Revaluation Losses reflecting a decrease in fair value of land
assets, revalued as at 30 June 2019; and
>> $6.4 million in Write-Down of Inventory due to the inventory written-off following the transfer of a Belconnen
site at nil cost and other minor book value variances.

Comparison to 2017-18 Actual
2018-19 total expenses of $273.0 million is $105.6 million (63.0%) higher than the 2017-18 amount of $167.4 million,
mainly due to:
>> $52.3 million in Write-Down of Inventory, following a larger number of sites transferred from other ACT
Government entities at no cost;
>> $40.1 million in Cost of Land Sold corresponding with an increase in Land Revenue;
>> $7.7 million in Other Expenses, due mostly to Revaluation Losses reflecting a decrease in fair value of land
assets;
>> $2.8 million in Employee Expenses primarily due to an increase in FTE which corresponds with an increase in
the budgeted establishment reflecting the final settling of functions transferred from the former LDA to EPSDD,
the Suburban Land Agency and the City Renewal Authority; and
>> $2.6 million in Supplies and Services mainly relating to selling and development expenses in the increased West
Belconnen Joint Operation.

Dividends
The Suburban Land Agency operates under a policy of declaring a dividend of 100 per cent of its net operating
surplus payable to the ACT Government.
The dividend declared for the 2018-19 year is $191.0 million, which is $38.7 million (16.8%) lower than the budget of
$229.7 million as a consequence of lower than anticipated Revenue from Contracts with Customers resulting in a
lower operating surplus.
The dividend declared for the 2018-19 year is $29.7 million (18.4%) higher than the 2017-18 dividend of
$161.3 million, due to an increase in Revenue from Contracts with Customers in 2018-19 resulting in a higher
operating surplus.
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FINANCIAL POSITION
Financial
Key indicators of Position
the Suburban Land Agency’s financial position are the ability to sustain its asset base, to
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Total assets at 30 June 2019 of $641.3 million (as shown in Figure 5) is comprised of Current and
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Total
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Non‑Current Receivables of $82.1 million (12.8%) and Property, Plant and Equipment of $37.0 million (5.8%).
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Comparison to Budget at 30 June 2019
The total asset position at 30 June 2019 of $641.3 million is higher than the budgeted amount of $513.5 million by
$127.8 million (24.9%) mainly due to:
>> $124.0 million in Cash and Cash Equivalents due to deferral of the 2018-19 interim dividend payment to
maintain a minimum level of working capital, partially offset by a decrease in cash received from lower land
sales; and
>> $19.8 million in Receivables as a result of a higher than budgeted opening balance for infrastructure
receivables, and an increase in receivables from the Australian Taxation Office in relation to GST withholding
on residential sales.
These were partially offset by a decrease in Property, Plant & Equipment of $9.1 million mainly due to the
revaluation of land assets and a decrease in Inventories of $6.9 million as a result of lower than expected
development cost payments.

Comparison to 2017-18 Actual at 30 June 2019
The total asset position at 30 June 2019 of $641.3 million is $167.4 million (35.3%) higher than the 30 June 2018
asset position of $473.9 million mainly due to an increase in:
>> Cash of $92.9 million due to deferral of the 2018-19 interim dividend to maintain a minimum level of working
capital, partially offset by a decrease in cash received from lower land sales; and
>> Inventory of $84.7 million primarily due to construction and completion of land in Wright, Taylor and Coombs.
This is partially offset by a decrease in Property, Plant and Equipment of $9.5 million due to a revaluation of land
assets.
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TOTAL LIABILITIES
Figure 6 illustrates the total liabilities of $538.6 million comprising Other Liabilities of $198.5 million
(36.9%), Other Provisions of $113.3 million (21.0%), Payables of $105.6 million (19.7%), Deferred Tax
Total
Liability
of Liabilities
$70.3 million (13.0%), National Tax Equivalent Payable of $46.3 million (8.6%) and Employee
Benefits of $4.4 million (0.8%).
Figure 6 illustrates the total liabilities of $538.6 million comprising Other Liabilities of $198.5 million (36.9%), Other
Provisions of $113.3 million (21.0%), Payables of $105.6 million (19.7%), Deferred Tax Liability of $70.3 million
(13.0%), National Tax Equivalent Payable of $46.3 million (8.6%) and Employee Benefits of $4.4 million (0.8%).
Figure 6: Components of Total Liabilities
FIGURE 6: COMPONENTS OF TOTAL LIABILITIES
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Tax Equivalent Regime as at 30 June 2019.
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Comparison to Budget at 30 June 2019
The total liability position at 30 June 2019 of $538.6 million is higher than the budget amount of $411.0 million by
$127.6 million (31.0%) mainly due to:
>> $45.6 million in Payables, mainly relating to an increase in payable to EPSDD for land sold and land that the
Suburban Land Agency holds custodianships over;
>> $38.2 million in Other Liabilities predominantly relating to a delay in dividend payments to maintain a minimum
level of working capital;
>> $33.1 million in Deferred Tax Liability due to a higher amount of National Tax Equivalent payable in future
periods relating to taxable temporary differences between the carrying amount on the balance sheet and its
tax base; and
>> $23.9 million in Other Provisions mainly due to higher than budgeted Provision for Project Completion and
higher liabilities to Transfer Infrastructure Assets to Other Government Agencies once infrastructure works are
completed.
This is partially offset by a decrease of $13.2 million in National Tax Equivalent Payable mainly due to lower
income tax expense, which reduces the liability at year end.

Comparison to 2017-18 Actual at 30 June 2019
The total liability position at 30 June 2019 of $538.6 million is $132.9 million (32.8%) higher than the 30 June 2018
asset position of $405.7 million mainly due to an increase in:
>> $117.4 million in Other Liabilities predominantly relating to a delay in dividend payments to maintain a
minimum level of working capital;
>> $18.2 million in National Tax Equivalent Payable predominantly due to higher income tax expenses as a result of
a higher operating surplus in 2018-19 and lower instalment payments;
>> $17.6 million in Deferred Tax Liability due to an increase in National Tax Equivalent payable in future periods
relating to taxable temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance
sheet and its tax base; and
>> $14.6 million in Other Provisions mainly due to an increase in costs expected to be incurred for settlement
ready blocks in Wright and Coombs.
This is partially offset by a decrease of $35.7 million in Payables mainly relating to a decrease in the amount owing
to the Territory Bank Account due to the finalisation of ARI program on 30 June 2019.

Liquidity
Liquidity refers to the ability of the Suburban Land Agency to satisfy its short-term debts as they fall due. This
ability is demonstrated by the current ratio (set out in Table 2 below), which compares the ability to fund short
term liabilities with short-term assets.
TABLE 2: CURRENT ASSETS TO CURRENT LIABILITIES

Total Current Assets
Total Current Liabilities
Current Ratio

30 June 2019 Actual
$’000

30 June 2019 Budget
$’000

366,524
267,633
1.4

367,311
290,032
1.3
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of the ACT Legislative Assembly
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the Suburban Land Agency for the year ended
30 June 2019 which comprise the statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement
of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In my opinion, the financial statements:
(i)

present fairly, in all material respects, the Suburban Land Agency's financial position as at 30
June 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and

(ii)

are presented in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1996 and comply with
Australian Accounting Standards.

Basis for the audit opinion
I conducted the audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities
under the standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements’ section of this report.
I am independent of the Suburban Land Agency in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code). I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.
Responsibilities of the Suburban Land Agency for the financial statements
The Governing Board is responsible for:


preparing and fairly presenting the financial statements in accordance with the
Financial Management Act 1996 and relevant Australian Accounting Standards;



determining the internal controls necessary for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements so that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error
or fraud; and



assessing the ability of the Suburban Land Agency to continue as a going concern and
disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Under the Financial Management Act 1996, I am responsible for issuing an audit report that
includes an independent audit opinion on the financial statements of the Suburban Land Agency.
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:


identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;



obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Suburban Land Agency's internal controls;



evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Suburban Land Agency;



conclude on the appropriateness of the Suburban Land Agency's use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Suburban Land
Agency's ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
I am required to draw attention in this report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my
conclusions on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of this report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Suburban Land Agency to cease to continue as a going
concern; and



evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether they represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Governing Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that I identify during my audit.

Michael Harris
Auditor-General
19 September 2019
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Statement of Responsibility
In my opinion, the financial statements are in agreement with the Suburban Land Agency’s accounts
and records and fairly reflect the financial operations of the Suburban Land Agency for the year ended
30 June 2019 and the financial position of the Suburban Land Agency on that date.

John Fitzgerald
Board Chair
Suburban Land Agency
19 September 2019

80

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Suburban Land Agency
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Hidden words

Statement by the Chief Executive Officer
In my opinion, the financial statements are in agreement with the Suburban Land Agency’s accounts
and records and fairly reflect the financial operations of the Suburban Land Agency for the year ended
30 June 2019 and the financial position of the Suburban Land Agency on that date.

John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
19 September 2019

81

Suburban Land Agency
Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Hidden words

Statement by the Chief Financial Officer
In my opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting
Standards, and are in agreement with the Suburban Land Agency’s accounts and records and fairly reflect
the financial operations of the Suburban Land Agency for the year ended 30 June 2019 and the financial
position of the Suburban Land Agency on that date.

Joseph Lee
Chief Financial Officer
Suburban Land Agency
19 September 2019
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Suburban Land Agency
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Actual
2019
$’000

Original
Budget
2019
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

4
5
6

483,993
3,039
58,045
749
545,826
545,826

701,558
2,745
8,626
341
713,270
713,270

389,955
4,727
2,668
507
397,857
397,857

7
8
9
10
11

11,564
18,746
101,851
128,817
11,997

14,581
40,508
202,345
122,386
5,258

8,756
16,137
61,786
76,481
4,264

272,975

385,078

167,425

-

-

(2)

272,851

328,192

230,430

81,856

98,458

69,130

190,995

229,734

161,300

Increase in the Asset Revaluation Surplus
Increase in the Asset Revaluation Surplus
attributed to Joint Operation

100

-

-

-

-

430

Total Other Comprehensive Income

100

-

430

191,095

229,734

161,730

Income
Revenue
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Interest
Resources Received Free of Charge
Other Revenue
Total Revenue
Total Income

Note
No.

Expenses
Employee Expenses
Supplies and Services
Cost of Land Sold
Write-Down of Inventory
Other Expenses
Total Expenses
Share of Operating (Loss) from Joint Ventures
accounted for using the Equity Method
Operating Surplus before National Tax Equivalent
National Tax Equivalent
Operating Surplus

12

Other Comprehensive Income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Total Comprehensive Income

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read with the accompanying notes and appendices.
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Suburban Land Agency
Balance Sheet
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Actual
2019
$’000

Original
Budget
2019
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

182,940
30,320
153,264
-

58,989
7,383
300,939
-

90,000
40,821
136,927
44

366,524

367,311

267,792

51,811
185,996
36,978
34

54,911
45,254
45,980
65

41,865
117,629
46,504
95

Total Non-Current Assets

274,819

146,210

206,093

Total Assets

641,343

513,521

473,885

91,461
4,295
42,072
46,345
83,460

60,016
4,280
18,840
59,507
147,389

130,489
3,565
48,777
28,194
79,919

267,633

290,032

290,944

14,107
149
71,259
115,057
70,349

201
70,554
12,927
37,291

10,806
148
49,923
1,154
52,705

Total Non-Current Liabilities

270,921

120,973

114,736

Total Liabilities

538,554

411,005

405,680

Net Assets

102,789

102,516

68,205

102,689
100
102,789

105,878
(3,362)
102,516

67,775
430
68,205

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Investments - Joint Ventures

Note
No.
13
14
15

Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Receivables
Inventories
Property, Plant and Equipment
Intangible Assets

14
15
16

Current Liabilities
Payables
Employee Benefits
Other Provisions
National Tax Equivalent Payable
Other Liabilities

17
18
19
20
21

Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Payables
Employee Benefits
Other Provisions
Other Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liability

17
18
19
21
22

Equity
Contributed Equity
Asset Revaluation Surplus
Total Equity

23

The above Balance Sheet should be read with the accompanying notes and appendices.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note
No.
Balance at 1 July 2018

Asset
Contributed Accumulated Revaluation
Equity
Funds
Surplus
Actual
Actual
Actual
2019
2019
2019
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
Equity
Actual
2019
$’000

Original
Budget
2019
$’000

67,775

-

430

68,205

105,878

Operating Surplus
Asset Revaluation Surplus

-

190,995
-

(330)

190,995
(330)

229,734
(3,362)

Total Comprehensive Income

-

190,995

(330)

190,665

226,372

699
34,215
-

(73,622)
73,622
(190,995)

-

(73,622)
73,622
699
34,215
(190,995)

(122,386)
122,386
(229,734)

34,914
102,689

(190,995)
-

100

(156,081)
102,789

(229,734)
102,516

Comprehensive Income

Transactions Involving Owners
Affecting Accumulated Funds
Capital Distributions
Assets Contributed by Owners
Funds Contributed by Owners
Dividend Reprieve
Dividend Approved

21

Total Transactions Involving Owners
Affecting Accumulated Funds
Balance at 30 June 2019

Asset
Contributed Accumulated Revaluation
Equity
Funds
Surplus
Actual
Actual
Actual
2018
2018
2018
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
Equity
Actual
2018
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2017
Comprehensive Income

-

-

-

-

Operating Surplus
Asset Revaluation Surplus
Total Comprehensive Income

-

161,300
161,300

430
430

161,300
430
161,730

102,325

-

-

102,325

(335)
(34,215)
-

(74,969)
74,969
(161,300)

-

(335)
(74,969)
74,969
(34,215)
(161,300)

Total Transactions Involving Owners Affecting
Accumulated Funds

67,775

(161,300)

-

(93,525)

Balance at 30 June 2018

67,775

-

430

68,205

Net Assets transferred in as part of an
Administrative Restructure
Adjustment for payment related to former
Land Development Agency
Capital Distributions
Assets Contributed by Owners
Re-recognition of Deferred Tax Liability
Dividend Approved

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read with the accompanying notes and appendices.
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Actual
2019
$’000

Original
Budget
2019
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

532,361
2,021
7,594

697,558
1,575
23,664

374,247
5,651
35,273

18,750
670
561,396

341
723,138

35,406
5,394
455,971

Employee Expenses
Supplies and Services
Development Costs
Land Payments
Goods and Services Tax Paid to Suppliers and Remitted to the
Australian Taxation Office
National Tax Equivalent Payments
Other Payments

10,756
15,690
139,286
19,094

13,577
31,882
230,334
47,204

9,320
14,092
91,319
17,482

37,997
46,061
4,952

23,664
92,454
4,673

72,629
70,548
2,000

Total Payments from Operating Activities

273,836

443,788

277,390

287,560

279,350

178,581

Proceeds from Sale/Maturity of Investments
Repayment of Contribution

44
-

8,563

350
-

Total Receipts from Investing Activities

44

8,563

350

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Contribution to Joint Operation

4
13,821

51
18,821

7,025
-

Total Payments from Investing Activities

13,825

18,872

7,025

(13,781)

(10,309)

(6,675)

Note
No.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Interest Received
Goods and Services Tax Collected from Customers
Goods and Services Tax Input Tax Credit from the Australian
Taxation Office
Other
Total Receipts from Operating Activities
Payments

Net Cash Inflows from Operating Activities

28

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Receipts

Payments

Net Cash (Outflows) from Investing Activities
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Actual
2019
$’000

Original
Budget
2019
$’000

Actual
2018
$’000

699
699

-

182,496
182,496

Contribution to Joint Operation
Distributions to Government
Payment of Dividend

115,475
66,063

170,179
183,421

3,522
66,681
194,199

Total Payments from Financing Activities

181,538

353,600

264,402

(180,839)

(353,600)

(81,906)

92,940

(84,559)

90,000

90,000

143,548

-

182,940

58,989

90,000

Note
No.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipts
Receipts of Transferred Cash Balances
Equity Contribution
Total Receipts from Financing Activities
Payments

Net Cash (Outflows) from Financing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Reporting
Period
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting
Period

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read with the accompanying notes and appendices.
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Note 1. Objectives of the Suburban Land Agency
Operations and Principal Activities

The Suburban Land Agency was established on 1 July 2017 under section 37 of the City Renewal Authority and
Suburban Land Agency Act 2017 (the Act). The Suburban Land Agency was transferred assets, rights and liabilities
from the former Land Development Agency (LDA) on 1 July 2017 by way of a Minister’s declaration in accordance
with Division 9.6 of the Financial Management Act 1996 (FMA).
The Suburban Land Agency is responsible for the Government’s suburban development program, including
urban renewal in established town centres and suburbs outside ‘declared urban renewal precincts’. The
Suburban Land Agency relies on the Environment, Planning and Sustainable Development Directorate
(EPSDD) for core business functions such as people and capability, governance, compliance and legal,
information management, government services, communication, fleet management and due diligence.
The total return to the ACT Government from Suburban Land Agency activities consists of:
> payment for unleased Territory land transferred from EPSDD;
> capital distributions;
> payment of national tax equivalent;
> payment of dividend based on operating profit after tax;
> payment of land holding costs and stamp duty equivalent; and
> payment of payroll tax.
The objectives of the Suburban Land Agency are set out in the section 38 of the Act to:
> encourage and promote:
i.
inclusive communities through the delivery of people-focussed neighbourhoods;
ii.
suburban development and urban renewal, other than in the City Renewal Precinct, that supports
the following:
§ affordable living;
§ a safe and healthy population;
§ social inclusion;
§ housing choice;
§ social and environmental sustainability;
§ growth and diversification of the Territory’s economy; and
> operate effectively, in a way that delivers value for money, in accordance with sound risk management
practices.
Public Trading Enterprise

The Suburban Land Agency is a Public Trading Enterprise. Consistent with the ACT Government’s policy
statement on competitive neutrality (Competitive Neutrality in the ACT, October 2010), the Suburban Land
Agency applies similar costing and pricing principles, taxation, debt guarantee requirements and regulations
as a fully corporatised business, including:
> the transfer of unleased land for development from the Territory on a commercial basis;
> land holding cost payments;
> stamp duty equivalent payments;
> application of the National Tax Equivalent Regime; and
> providing a commercial return to the ACT Government through the development and sale of the land.
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Note 1. Objectives of the Suburban Land Agency –
continued
Going Concern

The Suburban Land Agency is a Territory Authority established under the City Renewal Authority and Suburban
Land Agency Act 2017. The Suburban Land Agency will continue to operate while the establishing legislation
remains in force and the Government’s administrative arrangements continue to outline functions to be
delivered by the Suburban Land Agency. The ACT Government’s 2019-20 Budget Statements clearly outline the
intention for the Suburban Land Agency to continue to operate for the foreseeable future.
The 2018-19 financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as the Suburban Land Agency
will continue to operate for the foreseeable future and there is no intention to liquidate the entity or cease
operations.
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Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies
Refer to Note 31: Budgetary Reporting for explanatory information relating to variances to the
2018-19 Budget.
Refer to the following appendices for the notes comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Appendix A - Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements
Appendix B - Significant Accounting Policies
Appendix C - Impact of Accounting Standards Issued But Yet to be Applied

Note 3. Change in Accounting Estimates
Refer to Appendix D - Change in Accounting Policy and Accounting Estimates
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Note 4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Land Revenue
Australian Capital Territory
Residential Land Sales a
Asset Recycling Initiative (ARI) Land Sales b
Commercial and Industrial Land Sales c
Community Land Sales d
Infrastructure Delivered by Third Parties e
Other Land Revenue f

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

292,451
174,570
5,477
3,200
6,803
501

256,895
111,440
3,109
11,835
4,425
1,760

Total Land Revenue

483,002

389,464

991

491

991
483,993

491
389,955

Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers g
Total Other Revenue
Total Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Suburban Land Agency has applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to all revenue from
contracts with customers. Some of the revenue above has been reclassified from Other Revenue on adoption of
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Comparative information has been restated without changing
the carrying amount.
a) Residential Land Sales in 2018-19 primarily relate to the estates of Molonglo, Gungahlin, Greenway and West
Belconnen. The increase in Residential Land Sales in 2018-19 is predominately due to the additional sale of a
large englobo site in Denman Prospect and increased sales in Wright, Coombs, Greenway and the West
Belconnen Joint Operation compared to 2017-18.
b) The ARI is a program led by the Commonwealth Government that provides incentive payments to states and
territories that sell assets and reinvest the sale proceeds to fund infrastructure. The ACT Government signed the
National Partnership Agreement on Asset Recycling with the Commonwealth Government in February 2015 with
land based assets to be sold by 30 June 2019. The Suburban Land Agency was responsible for the sale of these
assets and returned the sale proceeds to the ACT Government. The following ARI sites were sold in 2018-19:
>
>
>
>
>
>

Dickson Block 46 Section 6;
Griffith Blocks 23, 24, and 25 Section 39;
Lyneham Block 2 Section 115;
Lyons Block 1 Section 70;
Narrabundah Block 3 Section 62; and
Red Hill Blocks 2, 3 and 4 Section 58.

ARI Land Sales increased in 2018-19 due to the settlement of larger, higher value ARI sites compared to 2017-18.
c)

Commercial and Industrial Land Sales increased in 2018-19 due to additional settlements in Hume compared to
2017-18. Additionally, there were a number of direct sale sites settled in Fyshwick, Florey and Belconnen during
2018-19.

d) Community Land Sales decreased in 2018-19 due to the settlement of a large community site in Monash in
2017-18.
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Note 4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers –
continued
e)

Infrastructure Delivered by Third Parties relates to a non-cash component of land sales. It reflects the value of
infrastructure required to be provided by the purchaser as part of some land sales contract requirements. The
infrastructure revenue received in 2018-19 relates to the sale of three ARI sites, three mixed use land sales in
Greenway and Griffith and one community land sale in Griffith. The increase in 2018-19 is due to more sales
contracts requiring infrastructure assets to be provided by purchasers.

f)

Other Land Revenue relates to liquidated damages revenue and revenue resulting from Goods and Services Tax
(GST) adjustments on settled blocks.

g)

Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers includes user charges revenue, retained deposit revenue, direct
sales application fee revenue and profit on sale of non-current assets.

Liabilities Related to Contracts with Customers

The Suburban Land Agency has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with customers:
2019

2018

$’000

$’000

Current Liability
Revenue Received in Advance relating to Land Sales Contracts
Revenue Received in Advance relating to Grant – Skills Canberra
Total Current Liabilities

43,242
206
43,448

15,708
15,708

Non-Current Liability
Revenue Received in Advance relating to Land Sales Contracts
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Contract Liabilities

139
139
43,587

1,154
1,154
16,862
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Note 5. Interest

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Interest from Banks a
Other Interest Revenue – Deferred Payments b

2,017
3

4,256
2

Interest from West Belconnen Joint Operation
Less: 60% Share of Joint Operation

2,547
(1,528)

Net Interest Revenue from Joint Operation c

1,019

1,172
(703)
469

Total Interest

3,039

4,727

a) Interest from Banks decreased in 2018-19 due to a lower average balance of cash held in the bank account
throughout the year.
b) Other Interest Revenue per the 2017-18 financial statements included liquidated damages revenue of
$1.393 million as late settlement penalties. These payments have since been reclassified as Other Revenue, due
to the adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers which came into effect on 1 January 2018.
c)

94

Interest is received from contributions made to the West Belconnen Joint Operation. The Suburban Land Agency
accounts for the income, expenses, assets and liabilities relating to its share in the joint operation. As the
Suburban Land Agency holds an interest in the West Belconnen Joint Operation on behalf of the ACT
Government, it recognises its portion of interest revenue receivable from the joint operation. Interest from the
West Belconnen Joint Operation increased in 2018-19 corresponding with an increase in contributions to the joint
operation.
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Note 6. Resources Received Free of Charge
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Services Received a
Land Received b

2,850
55,195

1,608
1,060

Total Resources Received Free of Charge

58,045

2,668

Revenue from ACT Government Entities

a) Services Received includes those received from EPSDD for people and capability, governance, compliance and
legal, information management, government services, communication, fleet management, and due diligence
(refer to Note 8: Supplies and Services for further details). Services received also includes legal services from the
ACT Government Solicitor. Services Received increased in 2018-19 compared to 2017-18 as a result of additional
due diligence work performed by EPSDD on behalf of the Suburban Land Agency.
b) Land Received relates to transfers of land from ACT Government entities to the Suburban Land Agency at no cost.
Land transfers increased in 2018-19 due to five sites with high average value being transferred during the period,
compared to one lower value site in 2017-18. The following blocks were recognised as Revenue Received Free of
Charge during 2018-19:
>
>
>
>
>

Belconnen Block 45 Section 54;
Braddon Block 2 Section 8;
Turner Block 1 Section 57;
Red Hill Block 26 Section 14; and
Lyneham Block 12 Section 50.
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Note 7. Employee Expenses

Wages and Salaries
Wages and Salaries
Salary Costs Capitalised in Inventories a
Total Wages and Salaries
Superannuation Expenses
Superannuation Contributions to the Territory Banking Account b
Superannuation to External Providers b
Productivity Benefit b
Superannuation Capitalised in Inventories a
Total Superannuation Expenses
Other Employee Expenses
Payroll Tax
Long Service Leave Expense c
Annual Leave Expense
Workers’ Compensation Insurance Premium
Fringe Benefits Tax
Total Other Employee Expenses
Total Employee Expenses d
a)

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

11,072
(2,388)
8,684

10,028
(2,433)
7,595

730
766
95
(343)
1,248

726
614
89
(346)
1,083

751
617
181
84
(1)
1,632

660
(567)
(58)
53
(10)
78

11,564

8,756

Salary and Superannuation Costs Capitalised in Inventories are capital project related salaries and
superannuation expenses which have been transferred to Inventories.

b) Employees of the Suburban Land Agency have varying superannuation arrangements due to the type of
superannuation schemes available at the time of commencing employment. Refer to Appendix B: Significant
Accounting Policies for further details.
c)

Long Service Leave Expense consists of the movement in the provision for this expense. The increase in 2018-19 is
due to staff joining the Suburban Land Agency from other Government agencies, resulting in an increased Long
Service Leave provision.

d) The increase in Total Employee Expenses in 2018-19 is due to an increase in the FTE establishment from 77 to 92,
reflecting the final settling of functions transferred from the former LDA to EPSDD, Suburban Land Agency and
City Renewal Authority. In addition, vacancies that existed at the end of the 2017-18 year were filled in the 2018-19
year.
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Note 8. Supplies and Services

Services Provided by Other Agencies Free of Charge a
Selling Expenses b
Contractors and Consultants c
Asset Management d
Marketing and Advertising Expenses e
Payment to Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development Directorate
f
DirectorateCMTEDD
Payment to City Renewal
Authority
Insurance
Payment Under a Judgement of the ACT Supreme Court
Audit Fees – ACT Audit Office f
60% Share of West Belconnen Joint Operation Operating Expenses g
Other
Total Supplies and Services

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

2,850
2,543
3,662
2,198
1,817
729
720
161
2,321
1,745

1,608
2,309
4,182
2,318
1,616
824
753
643
265
150
400
1,069

18,746

16,137

339
597

196
847

133

160

1,781

405

2,850

1,608

a) Services Provided by Other Agencies Free of Charge:
People and Capability
Governance, Compliance and Legal
Information Management, Government Services, Communication, and Fleet
Management
Infrastructure Planning and Due Diligence Activities
Total Services Provided by Other Agencies Free of Charge

The increase in Services Provided by Other Agencies Free of Charge is driven by additional due diligence work
performed by EPSDD on behalf of the Suburban Land Agency.
b) Selling Expenses includes sales commissions, legal conveyancing and expenses associated with holding sales
events.
c)

Contractors and Consultants includes financial management and accounting services and advice, project
management services, legal expenses (excluding conveyancing), valuations and other professional services.

d) Asset Management includes expenses associated with the maintenance of Suburban Land Agency estates and
urban infill blocks.
e)

Marketing and Advertising Expenses mainly relates to marketing and promotion of land releases, Suburban Land
Agency estates and the Mingle community engagement program.

f)

Auditor’s remuneration relates to financial audit services provided to the Suburban Land Agency by the
ACT Audit Office. No other services were provided by the ACT Audit Office.

g)

The Suburban Land Agency holds a 60 per cent share in the West Belconnen Joint Operation on behalf of the
Territory, and as such recognises 60 per cent of the joint operation’s expenses. The increase in 2018-19 primarily
relates to increased project management expenses and increased selling expenses as a result of land settlements
beginning in Ginninderry in June 2019.
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Note 9. Cost of Land Sold

Cost of Land Sold represents land inventories settled during the reporting period.

Land Costs
Capitalised Development Costs
Transfer of Infrastructure Assets
Total Cost of Land Sold

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

28,290
66,758
6,803

15,965
41,396
4,425

101,851

61,786

Cost of Land Sold includes the cost of land, direct costs relating to the development of land and the value of
infrastructure constructed by land purchasers and transferred through the Suburban Land Agency to the
Transport Canberra and City Services Directorate (TCCS) and Icon Water. Estimates of direct development costs
are made for unfinished works. The Cost of Land Sold is expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
when developed land is settled. Refer to Appendix B: Significant Accounting Policies for further details.
The increase in Cost of Land Sold in 2018-19 is mainly due to increased land sales compared to 2017-18 with
settlements commencing in the north of Wright and Coombs and the West Belconnen Joint Operation.
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Note 10. Write-Down of Inventory

Write-Down of Inventory for Sites Transferred from Other ACT Government Entities a
Write-Down of Inventory for Discontinued Projects b
Total Write-Down of Inventory

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

128,817
-

76,029
452

128,817

76,481

Inventories held for sale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The difference between the cost
and transferred value is recorded as a Write-Down of Inventory.
a)

In 2018-19, the following sites were transferred at their book value from other ACT Government entities at no cost
to the Suburban Land Agency, resulting in the value of these transferred sites being recorded as a Write-Down of
Inventory.
Sites transferred as resources received free of charge, totalling $55.195 million:
>
>
>
>

Belconnen Block 45 Section 54;
Braddon Block 2 Section 8;
Turner Block 1 Section 57; and
Red Hill Block 26 Section 14.

Sites transferred as equity injections (sold under the ARI program), totalling $73.622 million:
>
>
>
>
>

Dickson Block 46 Section 6;
Griffith Blocks 23, 24, 25 Section 39;
Lyons Block 1 Section 70;
Lyneham Block 8 Section 51; and
Narrabundah Block 3 Section 62.

b) In 2017-18, a Write-Down of Inventory was recognised for expenses incurred for sites after the land settlement had
occurred and for expenses incurred for discontinued projects.
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Note 11. Other Expenses

Resources Provided to Other Agencies Free of Charge
Land Holdings Costs Equivalent
Stamp Duty Equivalent b
Expected Credit Losses c
Revaluation Losses d
Depreciation and Amortisation e
Total Other Expenses

a

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

1,075
772
888
8,780
482
11,997

2,470
945
713
136
4,264

a) Land Holding Cost Equivalent relates to notional interest paid on unleased Territory land purchased from EPSDD.
Refer to Appendix B: Significant Accounting Policies for further details.
b) Stamp Duty Equivalent is paid to the Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development Directorate on land
purchased from EPSDD. Refer to Appendix B: Significant Accounting Policies for further details.
c)

Expected Credit Losses relates to receivables, which is required to be assessed from the 2018-19 financial year as
per AASB 9 Financial Instruments. This represents the amount of receivables the Suburban Land Agency estimates
will not be collected, based on objective evidence, a review of overdue balances, and consultation with internal
and external stakeholders. Refer to Note 14: Receivables and Appendix B: Significant Accounting Policies for further
details.

d) Revaluation Losses reflects the decrease in fair value of the Suburban Land Agency’s fixed land assets, which were
revalued as at 30 June 2019. Refer to Note 16: Property, Plant & Equipment for further details.
e)

100

Depreciation and Amortisation relates to leasehold improvements in the West Belconnen Joint Operation office
building, the Suburban Land Agency’s office building and customer relationship management software.
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Note 12. National Tax Equivalent

The Suburban Land Agency is a Territory owned Public Trading Enterprise and is listed in the National Tax
Equivalent Regime (NTER) entity register to participate in the NTER.
NTER is an administrative arrangement with the Australian Taxation Office. Under this arrangement, relevant
taxation laws will be applied notionally to the NTER entities as if they were subject to those laws. Each NTER
entity will be assessed annually as to its income tax equivalent liability and will be required to pay instalments of
the (expected) liability to the Territory.
The primary objective of the NTER is to promote competitive neutrality, through a uniform application of
income tax laws, between the NTER entities and their privately held counterparts.

National Tax Equivalent
The major components of National Tax Equivalent are:
Provision for Current Year National Tax Equivalent
Current Year Movement in the Net Deferred Tax Liability, refer to Note 22:
Deferred Tax Liability
Total National Tax Equivalent

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

64,212

50,640

17,644

18,490

81,856

69,130

272,851
81,856
81,856

230,430
69,130
69,130

Numeric Reconciliation of National Tax Equivalent to Prima Facie Tax
Operating Surplus before National Tax Equivalent
National Tax Equivalent calculated at 30%
Total National Tax Equivalent

Note 13. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Suburban Land Agency holds a bank account with Westpac Bank as a part of the ACT Whole of
Government banking arrangement. The Suburban Land Agency receives interest on this account.
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Cash at Bank a

182,940

90,000

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents b

182,940

90,000

a)

Under the Suburban Land Agency’s Investment Policy surplus cash remains in the Westpac transaction
account (Cash at Bank). Cash at Bank also includes the Suburban Land Agency’s 60 per cent share of cash
held by the West Belconnen Joint Operation.

b) The increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents is predominately due to the deferred payment of the 2018-19
interim dividend which is partially offset by an increase in capital distributions to the Territory in 2018-19
relating to ARI settlements.
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Note 14. Receivables

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

11,261
(966)
10,295

23,362
(78)
23,284

21,408
(12,845)
8,563

-

Accrued Revenue
Right to Receive Infrastructure b

11,462

12
17,525

Total Current Receivables

30,320

40,821

16
32,661

19
28,287

47,486
(28,352)
19,134

33,898
(20,339)
13,559

51,811
82,131

41,865
82,686

Current Receivables
Trade Receivables a
Less: Allowance for Expected Credit Losses
Deferred Receivable – Contribution to West Belconnen Joint Operation
Less: share of Joint Operation
Net Deferred Receivable – Contribution to West Belconnen Joint Operation c

Non-Current Receivables
Trade Receivable
Right to Receive Infrastructure b
Deferred Receivable – Contribution to West Belconnen Joint Operation
Less: share of Joint Operation
Net Deferred Receivable – Contribution to West Belconnen Joint Operation c
Total Non-Current Receivables
Total Receivables
a)

Trade Receivables are primarily represented by non-ACT Government debtors, including receivables from
the Australian Taxation Office for GST withheld on residential land sales.

b) Right to Receive Infrastructure relates to infrastructure that is required to be developed by the purchaser
and handed back to the Suburban Land Agency as part of a Deed of Agreement associated with land sales.
If the infrastructure is expected to be received within 12 months it is classified as Current Receivables,
otherwise it is classified as Non-Current Receivables.
c)
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The Suburban Land Agency continued to provide contributions to the joint operation to fund project
activities in 2018-19. The Suburban Land Agency has a priority right to the distributions from the joint
operation where and by the amount that creates an imbalance in the joint operation equity account. If the
contributed amount exceeds the Suburban Land Agency’s share of the assets and liabilities of the joint
operation, the remaining amount is recognised as a net Deferred Receivable – Contribution to West
Belconnen Joint Operation. This amount is further assessed for recoverability on an annual basis. As at
30 June 2019, the Net Deferred Receivable – Contribution to the West Belconnen Joint Operation balance
was $27.697 million. The balance has been split into current and non-current receivables based on West
Belconnen Joint Operation projected repayments.
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Note 14. Receivables – continued
An impairment loss from receivables was recognised in 2017-18 and prior years on an incurred loss basis.
From 2018-19, ‘Expected Credit Loss Expense’ is recognised as the movement in the allowance for
expected credit losses. The allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables is measured as the
lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The allowances for expected credit losses of
receivables are calculated separately for groupings of assets with similar loss patterns. The calculations
are based on historical observed default rates where possible. Where no historical data is available, the
Suburban Land Agency has consulted with relevant internal and external advisors to determine expected
credit losses. The figures are then adjusted by reasonable and supportable forward-looking information
for expected changes in macroeconomic indicators that affect the future recovery of those receivables.
Aging of Receivables

30 June 2019

Days Past Due
Total

Not Overdue

>91 Days

$’000

$’000

$’000

0.88%

49.77%

10,740

8,958

1,782

(966)

(79)

(887)

0.0%

4.22%

3,907

2,059

1,848

(78)

-

(78)

Expected credit loss rate
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default
Expected credit losses
1 July 2018
Expected Credit Loss Rate
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default
Expected credit losses

The application of AASB 9 Financial Instruments has not had any material impact on the financial position
or financial performance of the Agency for the year ending 30 June 2019.
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Note 14. Receivables – continued
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

78
888
966

78
78

537
537

19,486
19,486

Right to Receive Infrastructure
Net Trade Receivables a
Accrued Revenue
Net Deferred Receivable – Contribution to West Belconnen Joint Operation
Total Receivables with Non-ACT Government Entities b

44,123
9,774
27,697
81,594

45,812
3,817
12
13,559
63,200

Total Receivables

82,131

82,686

Reconciliation of the Allowance for Impairment Losses
Allowance for Impairment Losses at the Beginning of the Reporting Period
Expected Credit Loss Expense
Allowance for Impairment Losses at the End of the Reporting Period
Classification of ACT Government/Non-ACT Government Receivables
Receivables with ACT Government Entities
Net Trade Receivables a
Total Receivables with ACT Government Entities
Receivables with Non-ACT Government Entities

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for Receivables is the carrying
amount of the asset inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the table above.
Also refer to Appendix A: Basis of Preparation of the Financial Statements and Appendix D: Change in
Accounting Policy and Accounting Estimates for the impact of the change in accounting policy following the
adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments.
a)

The decrease in Net Trade Receivables is due to a decrease in receivables from other ACT Government
agencies for land sales. This is partially offset by an increase in receivables from the Australian Taxation
Office for GST withheld on residential land sales.

b) The increase in Total Receivables with non-ACT Government Entities is primarily due to contributions made
to the joint operation to fund project activities in 2018-19.
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Note 15. Inventories

Current Inventories
Developed Land, Construction Completed and Available for Sale, at Cost a
Land Being Developed – Work in Progress
Land Purchase Costs b
Development Costs c
Total Land Being Developed – Work in Progress
Total Current Inventories

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

127,266

95,802

4,418
21,580
25,998
153,264

12,720
28,405
41,125
136,927

72,139

-

31,662
82,195
113,857
185,996
339,260

37,715
79,914
117,629
117,629
254,556

Non-Current Inventories
Developed Land, Construction Completed and Available for Sale, at Cost a
Land Being Developed – Work in Progress
Land Purchase Costs b
Development Costs
Total Land Being Developed – Work in Progress
Total Non-Current Inventories
Total Inventories
c

a)

Developed Land, Construction Completed and Available for Sale, at Cost largely relates to land in Taylor,
Wright, Throsby and Coombs. The increase is primarily due to additional land being completed in Taylor,
Wright and Coombs.

b) Land Purchase Costs largely relate to Molonglo, West Belconnen and Taylor. The decrease is primarily due
to land in Wright, Coombs and Taylor becoming settlement ready and being transferred to Developed Land.
c)

Development Costs mainly relate to the cost of developing land in Taylor, Kingston Foreshore, West
Belconnen and Lyneham. The decrease is primarily due to land in Wright, Coombs and Taylor becoming
settlement ready and being transferred to Developed Land.
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Note 16. Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, Plant and Equipment includes the following classes of assets:
>
>
>
>

Land and buildings, including rural properties and property held for use as office buildings;
Leasehold improvements, representing fit-outs in leased buildings;
Plant and equipment, including furniture, fittings and electronic office equipment; and
Heritage assets, being the John Fowler & Co Locomotive.

Property, Plant and Equipment does not include assets held for sale or investment properties.
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Land at Fair Value a

34,450

43,130

Total Land Assets

34,450

43,130

Buildings at Fair Value b

-

2,760

Total Written Down Value of Buildings

-

2,760

34,450

45,890

Leasehold Improvements at Cost
Less: Accumulated Depreciation

2,289
(315)

69
(13)

Total Written Down Value of Leasehold Improvements

1,974

56

Plant and Equipment at Cost
Less: Accumulated Depreciation

132
(20)

127
(11)

Total Written Down Value of Plant and Equipment

112

116

442

442

442
36,978

442
46,504

Land and Buildings

Total Land and Written Down Value of Buildings
Leasehold Improvements

Plant and Equipment

Heritage Asset
Heritage Asset at Cost
Total Written Down Value of Heritage Assets
Total Written Down Value of Property, Plant and Equipment c

a)

Land consists of rural land in Belconnen, Stromlo and Tuggeranong.

b) “The Link” building held by the West Belconnen Joint Operation was reclassified from buildings to
leasehold improvements in 2018-19.
c)
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The decrease in Total Written Down Value of Property, Plant and Equipment is predominantly due to
revaluation losses relating to the Suburban Land Agency’s fixed land assets, which were revalued as at
30 June 2019.
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Note 16. Property, Plant and Equipment – continued
Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment

CBRE Valuation Pty Ltd, an independent valuer, performed a valuation as at 30 June 2019 of land held by
the Suburban Land Agency.
Further details on the valuation and measurement of Property, Plant and Equipment can be found in
Appendix B: Significant Accounting Policies.
Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment – 2018-19
Leasehold Plant and Heritage
Land Buildings Improvement Equipment
Assets
$’000
$’000
$’000s
$’000
$’000
Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the
Reporting Period
Additions
Revaluation
Reclassification
Depreciation
Impairment Losses Recognised in the
Operating Deficit
Carrying Amount at the End of the
Reporting Period

Total
$’000

43,130
100
-

2,760
(430)
(2,330)
-

56
2,330
(412)

116
4
(8)

442
-

46,504
4
(330)
(420)

(8,780)

-

-

-

-

(8,780)

34,450

-

1,974

112

442

36,978
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Note 16. Property, Plant and Equipment – continued
Reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment – 2017-18
Leasehold Plant and Heritage
Land Buildings Improvement Equipment Assets
s $’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
Carrying Amount at the Beginning of the
Reporting Period
Transferred in as part of an
Administrative Restructure
Additions
Disposals
Revaluation Increment Recognised
in Other Comprehensive Income
Depreciation
Carrying Amount at the End of the
Reporting Period

Total
$’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

35,736
7,394
-

4,841
14
(2,470)

18
51
-

76
49
-

442
-

41,113
7,508
(2,470)

-

430
(55)

(13)

(9)

-

430
(77)

43,130

2,760

56

116

442

46,504

Carrying Value of Fair Valued Assets under the Cost Model

The following classes of Property, Plant and Equipment, which are carried at fair value (as indicated
above), would have had carrying values, if measured using the cost model, as follows:
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Land
Cost
Addition

46,492
-

39,098
7,394

Net Carrying Amount of Land at Cost

46,492

46,492

Buildings a
Cost
Addition
Reclassification to Leasehold Improvements
Accumulated Depreciation and Disposals

2,330
(2,330)
-

4,841
14
(2,525)

-

2,330

Carrying value if measured using Cost Model

Net Carrying Amount of Buildings at Cost

a) “The Link” building held by the West Belconnen Joint Operation was reclassified from buildings
to leasehold improvements in 2018-19.
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Note 16. Property, Plant and Equipment – continued
Fair Value Hierarchy

Fair Value Hierarchy below reflects the significance of the inputs used in determining fair value. The Fair
Value Hierarchy is made up of the following three levels:
>
>
>

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Suburban
Land Agency can access at the measurement date.
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 – inputs that are unobservable for particular assets or liabilities.

Details of the Suburban Land Agency’s Property, Plant and Equipment at fair value and information about
the Fair Value Hierarchy as at 30 June 2019 is as follows:
2019

Property, Plant and Equipment at Fair Value
Land

2018

Property, Plant and Equipment at Fair Value
Land
Buildings

Classification According to Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
-

34,450
34,450

-

34,450
34,450

Classification According to Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000
-

43,130
2,760
45,890

-

43,130
2,760
45,890

There have been no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the current and previous reporting periods.

109

Suburban Land Agency
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
n Hidden words

Note 17. Payables

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Payables to the Territory Banking Account for Capital Injection for ARI blocks a
Payables to EPSDD for Land Sold b
Payables to EPSDD for Land Developed or Yet to be Developed c

5,940
11,125
24,933

47,793
4,180
33,723

Accrued Expenses
Demolition Contributions Payable d
Other Payables e

18,676
9,619
21,169

14,506
30,287

Total Current Payables

91,461

130,489

14,091
15
14,107
105,568

10,806
10,806
141,295

Current Payables

Non-Current Payables
Payables to EPSDD for Land Developed or Yet to be Developed f
Other Payables
Total Non-Current Payables
Total Payables

a) Payment to the Territory Banking Account (TBA) is made following the settlement of ARI sites by the
Suburban Land Agency. The ARI is a program led by the Commonwealth Government that provides
incentive payments to states and territories that sell assets and reinvest the sale proceeds to fund
infrastructure. The ACT Government signed the National Partnership Agreement on Asset Recycling with the
Commonwealth Government in February 2015. Under this program, land based assets were to be sold by
30 June 2019. The ARI sites were transferred from Housing ACT and ACT Property Group as contributions of
equity. The Suburban Land Agency is responsible for the sale of these assets and returns the sale proceeds
to the ACT Government. The decrease in Payables to the TBA is due to the finalisation of the ARI program on
30 June 2019. The current balance payable relates to Dickson Block 46 Section 6 which settled in late June
2019. Payment will be made in July 2019.
b) The increase in Payables to EPSDD for Land Sold relates to higher outstanding land payments as higher
settlements occurred in June 2019 compared to June 2018.
c)

The decrease in Payables to EPSDD for Land Developed or Yet to be Developed is due to less new land
being transferred into the Suburban Land Agency, while land continued to be sold across the estates.

d) Demolition Contributions Payable represents amounts payable to purchasers who are required to
complete demolition works on behalf of the Suburban Land Agency as specified in the sales contracts.
e)

Other Payables includes GST payable to the Australian Tax Office for land sales and retention monies held
as security for project delivery agreements.

f)

Payables to EPSDD for Land Yet to be Developed relates to land that is not due to settle within 12 months.
The Suburban Land Agency holds the custodianship of this land. The increase primarily relates to lower
budgeted sales rates for 2019-20 resulting in an increase in the non-current provision.

110

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Suburban Land Agency
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
n Hidden words

Note 17.

Payables – continued

Payables are aged as follows:
Not Overdue
Overdue for Less than 30 Days
Overdue for 30 to 60 Days
Overdue for More than 60 Days a
Total Payables

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

105,554
1
13
105,568

140,835
48
184
228
141,295

5,940
11,125
39,024
1,440
57,529

47,793
4,180
44,529
764
97,266

30,803
17,236

30,286
13,742

48,039
105,568

44,028
141,295

Classification of ACT Government/Non-ACT Government Payables
Payables with ACT Government Entities
Payable to the TBA for Capital Injection for ARI blocks
Payable to EPSDD for Land Sold
Payable to EPSDD for Land Developed or Land Yet to Be Developed
Accrued Expenses
Total Payables with ACT Government Entities
Payables with Non-ACT Government Entities
Other Payables
Accrued Expenses
Total Payables with Non-ACT Government Entities
Total Payables

a)

Payables Overdue for More than 60 Days relate to invoices received by the Suburban Land Agency in
June 2019 however were dated earlier in the financial year.
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Note 18. Employee Benefits

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Long Service Leave
Annual Leave
Accrued Salaries and Superannuation
Accrued Payroll Tax

2,658
1,454
118
65

2,041
1,272
178
74

Total Current Employee Benefits

4,295

3,565

149
149
4,444

148
148
3,713

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

171
897
118
65
-

212
696
178
74
-

1,251

1,160

Long Service Leave
Annual Leave

2,636
557

1,977
576

Total Employee Benefits Payable after 12 Months
Total Employee Benefits a

3,193
4,444

2,553
3,713

Current Employee Benefits

Non-Current Employee Benefits
Long Service Leave
Total Non-Current Employee Benefits
Total Employee Benefits a

Estimate of when Leave is Payable
Estimated Amount Payable within 12 Months
Long Service Leave
Annual Leave
Accrued Salaries and Superannuation
Accrued Payroll Tax
Accrued Fringe Benefits Tax
Total Employee Benefits Payable within 12 Months
Estimated Amount Payable after 12 Months

a)
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As at 30 June 2019, the Suburban Land Agency employed 93.7 full time equivalent staff (FTE), in comparison
to 77.5 FTE staff as at 30 June 2018. The increase in FTE corresponds with an increase in the budgeted
establishment reflecting the final settling of functions transferred from the former LDA to EPSDD, the
Suburban Land Agency and the City Renewal Authority.
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Note 19. Other Provisions

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Provision for Project Completion
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure

30,610
11,462

31,252
17,525

Total Current Other Provisions

42,072

48,777

38,598
32,661

21,636
28,287

Current Other Provisions

Non-Current Other Provisions
Provision for Project Completion
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure
Total Non-Current Other Provision
Total Other Provisions

Reconciliation of the Provision for Project Completion
Provision for Project Completion at the Beginning of the Reporting Period
Provision for Project Completion Transferred in as part of an Administrative
Restructure
Add: Increase in Provision due to blocks becoming Settlement Ready
Less: Decrease in Provision due to Payments
Less: Decrease in Provision due to Change in Accounting Estimate
Provision for Project Completion at the End of the Reporting Period

71,259

49,923

113,331

98,700

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

52,888

-

-

97,611

125,518
(107,012)
(2,186)
69,208

86,388
(91,133)
(39,978)
52,888

The provision for project completion reflects the expected costs required for developed parcels of land. As at
30 June 2019, the value of the Provision for Project Completion related to settlement ready blocks in
Suburban Land Agency estates. The majority of the increase relates to Wright and Coombs due to additional
land in these estates becoming settlement ready in 2018-19.
The Decrease in Provision due to Change in Accounting Estimate is the result of revised estimates in relation to
the completion of the Kingston Foreshore project.
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure
The Provision to Transfer Infrastructure reflects the value of infrastructure assets that are to be transferred to
the relevant ACT Government agencies when construction is completed.

Reconciliation of the Provision to Transfer Infrastructure
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure at the Beginning of the Reporting Period
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure Transferred in as part of an Administrative
Restructure
Add: New Infrastructure to be Developed by Other Developers
Less: Transfer of Infrastructure to ACT Government Entities
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure at the End of the Reporting Period

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

45,812

-

-

42,146

6,803
(8,492)
44,123

4,424
(758)
45,812
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Note 20. National Tax Equivalent Payable
National Tax Equivalents are paid to the ACT Revenue Office.
2019
$’000
Opening Balance
National Tax Equivalent Liability Transferred In as part of an
Administrative Restructure
Payment of Previous Year’s National Tax Equivalent Expense
Deferral of National Tax Equivalent Payment to Future Periods a
National Tax Equivalent Expense for Current Year
Instalments Paid for Current Year’s National Tax Equivalent
National Tax Equivalent Payable b

28,194

2018
$’000
-

(28,194)
(17,644)
81,856
(17,867)

48,103
(48,103)
(18,490)
69,130
(22,446)

46,345

28,194

a) This is the amount of National Tax Equivalent Payable in future periods relating to temporary differences
between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base. Refer to Note 22:
Deferred Tax Liability for further details.
b) The increase in National Tax Equivalent Payable is due to higher income tax expenses as a result of higher
profits in 2018-19 and lower instalment payments.
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Note 21. Other Liabilities

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Dividend Payable a
Revenue Received in Advance b

40,012
43,448

64,211
15,708

Total Current Other Liabilities

83,460

79,919

114,918
139
115,057
198,517

1,154
1,154
81,073

64,211
190,995
(34,215)
(29,996)
(36,067)
154,930

97,107
161,300
(59,817)
(134,379)
64,211

Current Other Liabilities

Non-Current Other Liabilities
Dividend Payable a
Revenue Received in Advance b
Total Non-Current Other Liabilities
Total Other Liabilities
Reconciliation of Dividend Payable
Dividend Payable at the Beginning of the Reporting Period
Dividend Payable Transferred in as part of an Administrative Restructure
Dividend Declared during the Reporting Period
Dividend Reprieve c
Dividend Paid during the Reporting Period for Previous Year
Dividend Paid during the Reporting Period for Current Year
Dividend Payable at the End of the Reporting Period
a)

The Suburban Land Agency pays the Territory a dividend of 100 per cent of net profits after tax. Payments of
the dividend are made in two instalments each year: an interim payment of 80 per cent of estimated net
profits is payable by 30 June of each financial year, with the balance based on actual net profits payable by
31 October of the following financial year. This repayment schedule may be modified upon the Treasurer’s
approval – Refer to Appendix B: Significant Accounting Policies for further details. The increase in Dividends
Payable is due to the interim dividend for the 2018-19 year being deferred with approval from the Treasurer.

b) The increase in Revenue Received in Advance relates to part payment for a large sale which is due to settle
in 2019-20.
c)

The Treasurer approved the dividend reprieve of $34.215 million to allow the Suburban Land Agency to
retain sufficient cash reserves to pay tax liabilities as and when they fall due.
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Note 22. Deferred Tax Liability

Deferred tax liabilities are the amounts of National Tax Equivalent payable in future periods relating to taxable
temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base.
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Opening Balance

52,705

-

Re-recognition of Deferred Tax Liability a
Increase in Inventories
(Decrease)/Increase in Provision for Project Completion
(Decrease)/Increase in Employee Benefits
(Decrease)/Increase in Revenue Received in Advance
Accelerated Depreciation
Other

25,692
(4,896)
(237)
(180)
13
(2,748)

34,215
3,511
13,417
297
799
57
409

Current year movements

17,644

52,705

Net Deferred Tax Liability

70,349

52,705

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:

a)
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This relates to the re-recognition of the deferred tax liability of the former LDA. When the former LDA ceased
operating as a separate entity on 30 June 2017, the deferred tax liability was de-recognised from the
Balance Sheet. As per the Financial Management (Land Development Agency Transfer to Suburban Land
Agency) Declaration 2017 Notifiable Instrument NI2017-343, the majority of assets and liabilities were
transferred to the Suburban Land Agency. The Suburban Land Agency assumed the former LDA’s tax
attributes and was required to recognise the corresponding deferred tax liability. The deferred tax liability is
re-recognised in the equity account (refer to the Statement of Changes in Equity).
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Note 23.

Equity

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

430

-

100
(430)
(330)
100

430
430
430

Asset Revaluation Surplus
The Asset Revaluation Surplus is used to record the increments and decrements in the value of Property,
Plant and Equipment.
Balance at the Beginning of the Reporting Period
Increment in Land due to Revaluation
Increment in Buildings due to Revaluation
Reversal of Building Revaluation due to Reclassification a
Total (Decrease)/Increase in the Asset Revaluation Surplus
Balance at the End of the Reporting Period
a)

“The Link” building held by the West Belconnen Joint Operation was reclassified from buildings to
leasehold improvements in 2018-19. The previous revaluation of the building, recognised in the Asset
Revaluation Reserve, has been reversed in the current financial year.
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Note 24. Financial Instruments

Details of significant policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of
financial asset and financial liability, are disclosed at Note 2: Significant Accounting Policies (refer to Appendix B:
Significant Accounting Policies).
Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.
The Suburban Land Agency holds most financial assets in floating interest rate arrangements. The Suburban
Land Agency is not exposed to movements in interest payable as its financial liabilities are non-interest bearing.
However, it is exposed to movements in interest receivable.
Financial assets subject to floating interest rates include investments held in commercial banking accounts,
contributions to the West Belconnen Joint Operation and receivables for sales completed via instalments. The
Suburban Land Agency manages the interest rate risk on investments by only investing in a commercial banking
account which is low risk. Under the West Belconnen Joint Operation agreement, the interest rate is calculated
at Bank Bill Swap Rate plus 3 per cent. The receivables with instalment payments are not actively managed due
to the associated interest payments being immaterial. Interest rate risk for financial liabilities is not actively
managed by the Suburban Land Agency as all financial liabilities are non-interest bearing.
Sensitivity Analysis

A sensitivity analysis of the interest rate risk has not been performed, as the Suburban Land Agency’s exposure
to interest rate risk has been assessed as immaterial.
Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Suburban Land Agency’s credit risk is limited to the amount of the
financial assets it holds net of any allowance for impairment. The Suburban Land Agency expects to collect all
financial assets that have had their credit risk managed through internal processes, which include regular
review by management.
The Suburban Land Agency’s credit risk includes the investment of excess cash, outstanding rent receivable,
reimbursements of expenses paid on behalf of Government and private entities, and the contribution to the
West Belconnen Joint Operation.
Credit risk relating to the investment of excess cash is managed by the Suburban Land Agency by only investing
surplus funds in a commercial bank account or with the Territory Banking Account, which has appropriate
investment criteria for the external fund manager engaged to manage the Territory’s surplus funds. The
Suburban Land Agency has determined there is no credit risk from the investment of excess cash.
Credit risk relating to the outstanding rent receivable is managed by liaising with tenants on a regular basis, as
well as consulting external advisors on the best collection methods. The Suburban Land Agency has determined
that there is a moderate credit risk relating to the outstanding rent receivable.
Credit risk relating to the reimbursement of expenses paid on behalf of Government and private entities has
been assessed as very low risk. Individual reimbursements are managed by the relevant project teams on a
regular basis.
The Suburban Land Agency continued to provide a contribution to the joint operation to fund project activities
under the West Belconnen Joint Operation agreement in 2018-19. The Suburban Land Agency has a priority
right to the distributions from the joint operation where the amount contributed creates an imbalance in the
joint operation equity account. On this basis, the Suburban Land Agency has determined that there is no risk of
impairment relating to the contribution receivable from the joint operation.
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Note 24. Financial Instruments – continued
Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Suburban Land Agency will encounter difficulties in meeting obligations
associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. To limit its
exposure to liquidity risk, the Suburban Land Agency ensures that it does not have a large portion of its financial
liabilities maturing in any one reporting period and that, at any particular point in time. The Suburban Land
Agency has a sufficient amount of current financial assets to meet its current financial liabilities. In addition, the
City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency (Suburban Land Agency Payment of Funds to Territory)
Direction 2018 Notifiable Instrument NI2018-224 provides the Government with flexibility to approve a different
dividend payment ratio and/or flexibility of payment timing, subject to the Treasurer’s approval of a written
request from the Suburban Land Agency Board.
Price Risk

Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether these
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or by factors affecting
all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The Suburban Land Agency is not exposed to price risk.
Sensitivity Analysis

A sensitivity analysis has not been undertaken for the price risk of the Suburban Land Agency as it has been
determined that the possible impact on profit and loss or total equity from fluctuations in price is immaterial.
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Note 24. Financial Instruments – continued
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities

The carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
Note
No.
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables a

13
14

Total Financial Assets

Carrying Fair Value
Amount
Amount
2019
2019
$’000
$’000

Carrying Fair Value
Amount
Amount
2018
2018
$’000
$’000

182,940
38,008

182,940
38,008

90,000
36,874

90,000
36,874

220,948

220,948

126,874

126,874

66,544

66,544

96,766

96,766

66,544

66,544

96,766

96,766

Financial Liabilities
Payables b

17

Total Financial Liabilities

Reconciliation of Receivables as Financial Assets:
Total Receivables
Less:
Current Right to Receive Infrastructure a
Non-Current Right to Receive Infrastructure

Note
No.

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

14

82,131

82,686

11,462

17,525

32,661
44,123
38,008

28,287
45,812
36,874

105,568

141,295

24,933
14,091
39,024
66,544

33,723
10,806
44,529
96,766

a

Total Receivables as Financial Assets
Reconciliation of Payables as Financial Liabilities:
Total Payables
Less:
Current Payables to EPSDD for Land Yet to Be Developed b
Non-Current Payables to EPSDD for Land Yet to Be Developed b
Total Payable as Financial Liabilities
a)

17

The amounts reported are net of the Right to Receive Infrastructure and Accrued Revenue which do not meet
the definition of a financial instrument under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.

b) The amounts reported are net of the Payables to EPSDD for Land Yet to be Developed which does not meet
the definition of a financial instrument under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.
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Note 24. Financial Instruments – continued
Fair Value Hierarchy

The carrying amount of financial assets measured at fair value, as well as the methods used to estimate the fair
value, are summarised in the table below. All other financial assets and liabilities are measured, subsequent to
initial recognition, at amortised cost and as such are not included in the table below.

2019

Financial Assets
Financial Assets at Fair Value through
the Profit and Loss

2018

Financial Assets
Financial Assets at Fair Value through
the Profit and Loss

Classification According to Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

-

38,008

-

38,008

-

38,008

-

38,008

Classification According to Fair Value Hierarchy
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

-

36,874

-

36,874

-

36,874

-

36,874

Transfer Between Categories

There have been no transfers of financial assets or financial liabilities between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during
the current and previous reporting periods.
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Note 24. Financial Instruments – continued
The following table sets out the Suburban Land Agency’s maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities as
well as the exposure to interest rates, including weighted average interest rates by maturity period as at
30 June 2019. Excluded from this analysis are non-current payables, financial assets and liabilities, which have a
floating interest rate or are non-interest bearing which will mature in one year or less. All amounts appearing in
the following maturity analysis are shown on an undiscounted cash flow basis.
2019
Note
No.
Financial Instruments

Weighted Floating
Average Interest
Rate
Interest
Rate
$’000

Fixed Interest Maturing In:
1 Year
Over
Over
Nonor Less
1 Year 5 Years Interest
to 5 Years
Bearing
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables a

13
14

Total Financial Assets

1.99% 182,940
4.21% 27,697

3

11

5

- 182,940
10,292 38,008

210,637

3

11

5

10,292 220,948

-

-

-

-

66,544

66,544

-

-

-

-

66,544

66,544

210,637

3

11

Financial Liabilities
Payables b

17

Total Financial Liabilities
Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities)
a)

5 (56,252) 154,404

The amounts reported are net of the Right to Receive Infrastructure and Accrued Revenue which do not meet
the definition of a Financial Instrument under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.

b) The amounts reported are net of the Payables to EPSDD for Land Yet to Be Developed which does not meet
the definition of a Financial Instrument under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.
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Note 24. Financial Instruments – continued
The following table sets out the Suburban Land Agency’s maturity analysis for financial assets and liabilities as
well as the exposure to interest rates, including the weighted average interest rates by maturity period as at
30 June 2018. Excluded from this analysis are non-current payables, financial assets and liabilities, which have a
floating interest rate or are non-interest bearing which will mature in one year or less. All amounts appearing in
the following maturity analysis are shown on an undiscounted cash flow basis.
2018
Note
No.

Weighted Floating
Average Interest
Interest
Rate
Rate
$’000

Fixed Interest Maturing In:
1 Year
Over
Over
Nonor Less
1 Year 5 Years Interest
to 5 Years
Bearing
$’000
$’000
$’000
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial Instruments
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables

13
14

2.25%
4.84%

Total Financial Assets

90,000
13,559

4

14

5

23,292

90,000
36,874

103,559

4

14

5

23,292 126,874

-

-

-

-

96,766

96,766

-

-

-

-

96,766

96,766

103,559

4

14

5 (73,474)

30,108

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

38,008

36,874

66,544

96,766

Financial Liabilities
Payables

17

Total Financial Liabilities
Net Financial Assets/(Liabilities)

Carrying Amount of Each Category of Financial Asset and Financial Liability
Financial Assets
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost a
Financial Liabilities
Financial Liabilities Measured at Amortised Cost b

a) The amounts reported are net of the Right to Receive Infrastructure and Accrued Revenue which do not meet
the definition of a Financial Instrument under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.
b) The amounts reported are net of the Payables to EPSDD for Land Yet to Be Developed which does not meet
the definition of a Financial Instrument under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.
The Suburban Land Agency does not have any financial assets in the ‘Financial Assets at Fair Value through
Profit and Loss’ and ‘Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss’ categories and as such these
categories are not included above.
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Note 25. Commitments

2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

408
183
25

624
575
6

Total Operating Lease Commitments a

616

1,205

Operating Lease Commitments
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments are payable as follows:

All amounts shown in the commitment note are inclusive of GST.
a)

Operating leases include:
>
>
>

Lease of the Dickson Office from ACT Property Group;
Motor vehicle leases from SG Fleet Australia Pty Ltd; and
IT equipment and mobile phones leased by Shared Services ICT.

Note 26. Contingent Liabilities
Contingent Liabilities

The ACT Government Solicitor’s Office acts on behalf of the Suburban Land Agency in litigation matters. At
30 June 2019 estimated potential claims, as provided by the ACT Government Solicitor’s Office, totalled
$10.785 million (30 June 2018: $0.821 million).
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Note 27.

Interest in a Joint Operation

The Territory has appointed the Suburban Land Agency as its agent to manage its interest in the West
Belconnen Joint Operation, a joint operation between the Territory and Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Ltd,
Reid & Stevens Pty Ltd and Corkhill Bros Pty Ltd.
The Agency holds a 60 per cent interest in the Joint Operation’s Land project, and a 50 per cent interest in the
Housing project.
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

9,203
970
22,401
32,574

4,031
596
2,417
7,044

8,829

9,337

-

2,760
2,760

2,220
(272)
1,948

-

120
(15)
105

120
(14)
106

122
(101)
21
10,903
43,477

78
(8)
70
12,273
19,317

Payables
Other Provisions
Other Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

2,987
784
3,868
7,639

1,698
913
2,611

Non-Current Liabilities
Other Provisions
Other Liabilities

1,689
15

1,154
1,154

1,704
9,343
34,134

1,154
3,765
15,552

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
Inventories
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Inventories
Buildings
At Fair Value
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Buildings at Fair Value
Leasehold Improvements
At Cost
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Leasehold Improvements at Cost
Plant and Equipment
At Cost
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Total Plant and Equipment at Cost
Intangible Assets
At Cost
Less: Accumulated Amortisation
Total Intangible Assets at Cost
Total Non-Current Assets
Total Assets
Current Liabilities

Total Non-Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
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Note 28. Cash Flow Reconciliation

(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period in the Cash Flow Statement
to the Equivalent Items in the Balance Sheet
2019
$’000

2018
$’000

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents Recorded in the Balance Sheet

182,940

90,000

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period as Recorded in the
Cash Flow Statement

182,940

90,000

190,995

161,300

420
62
(2,850)
(55,195)
128,817
2,850
8,780
888

76
60
(1,608)
(1,060)
2,470
76,029
1,608
-

-

2

274,768

238,878

6,487
(84,703)
17,644
728
11,978
14,630
18,150
27,879
12,792
287,560

(8,269)
(12,903)
18,490
(562)
3,230
(41,056)
(19,910)
683
(60,297)
178,581

(b) Reconciliation of the Operating Surplus to the Net Cash Inflows From Operating
Activities
Operating Surplus
Add Non-Cash Items
Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment
Amortisation of Intangibles
Resources Received Free of Charge
Land Received Free of Charge
Land and Building Transferred out Free of Charge
Write-Down of Inventory (Related to Land Transferred in Free of Charge)
Expenses related to Resource Received Free of Charge
Revaluation Losses
Expected Credit Losses
Add Items Classified as Investing or Financing Activities
Share of Joint Venture (Profit)/Loss
Cash Before Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in Deferred Tax Liability
Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Entitlements
Increase/(Decrease) in Payables
Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions
Increase/(Decrease) in National Tax Equivalent Payable
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Liabilities
Net Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
Net Cash inflows from Operating Activities
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Note 29. Related Party Disclosures

A related party is a person that controls or has significant influence over the reporting entity, or is a member of
the Key Management Personnel (KMP) of the reporting entity or its parent entity, and includes their close family
members and entities in which the KMP and/or their close family members individually or jointly have
controlling interests.
KMP are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities
of the Suburban Land Agency, directly or indirectly.
KMP of the Suburban Land Agency are the portfolio Minister, members of the Suburban Land Agency Board, the
Chief Executive Officer and certain members of the Senior Management Team.
The Head of Service and the ACT Executive comprising the Cabinet Ministers are KMP of the ACT Government
and therefore, together with their close family members, are related parties of the Suburban Land Agency.
This note does not include typical citizen transactions between the KMP and the Suburban Land Agency that
occur on terms and conditions no different to those applying to the general public.
All KMP of the Suburban Land Agency completed related party disclosure collection forms as requested.
(A) CONTROLLING ENTITY

The Suburban Land Agency is an ACT Government controlled entity.
(B) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
B.1 Transactions with KMP

There were no transactions with KMP that were material to the financial statements of the Suburban Land
Agency.
B.2 Transactions with parties related to KMP

There were no transactions with parties related to KMP, including transactions with KMP’s close family members
or other related entities that were material to the financial statements of the Suburban Land Agency.
(C) TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER ACT GOVERNMENT ENTITIES

All transactions with ACT Government controlled entities are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial
statements of the Suburban Land Agency.
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Note 30. Key Management Personnel Remuneration
Compensation of all Cabinet Ministers, including the portfolio Minister, is disclosed in the note on related party
disclosures included in the ACT Executive’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019.
Compensation of the Head of Service is included in the note on related party disclosures included in
CMTEDD financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2019.
The Suburban Land Agency’s 60 per cent share of compensation of the West Belconnen Joint Operation KMP is
also included below. The prior year comparative has been restated to include the Suburban Land Agency’s
60 per cent share for the year ended 30 June 2018.
Compensation by the Suburban Land Agency to KMP is set out below

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Other long-term benefits
Board member fees
Total Compensation by the Suburban Land Agency to KMP
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Note 31. Budgetary Reporting

Statement of Comprehensive Income Line Items

Actual
2018-19
$’000

Original
Budget
2018-19 (1)
$’000

Variance
$’000

Variance
%

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
483,993
701,558 (217,565)
(31.01)
The lower Revenue from Contracts with Customers is predominately due to a decline in market conditions
impacting land settlements for single residential blocks and the deferred settlement of three ARI sites to
2019-20.
58,045
8,626
49,419
572.91
Resources Received Free of Charge
The higher Resources Received Free of Charge predominantly relates to two former ARI sites recognised as
resources received free of charge rather than equity contributions as the sites did not settle prior to the
completion of the ARI program on 30 June 2019.
Cost of Land Sold
101,851
The lower Cost of Land Sold corresponds with lower land sales.
National Tax Equivalent
81,856
The lower National Tax Equivalent is due to the lower operating result.

202,345

(100,494)

(49.66)

98,458

(16,602)

(16.86)

Original Budget refers to the amounts presented to the Legislative Assembly in the original budgeted financial
statements in respect of the reporting period (2018-19 Budget Statements).
(1)
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Note 31. Budgetary Reporting – continued

Balance Sheet Line Items

Actual
2018-19
$’000

Original
Budget
2018-19 (1)
$’000

Variance
$’000

Variance
%

Cash and Cash Equivalents
182,940
58,989
123,951
210.13
The higher Cash and Cash Equivalents is predominantly due to the payment of dividends in the 2018-19
financial year being delayed to future years to maintain a minimum level of working capital. This is partially
offset by a decrease in cash received due to lower land sales.
Current Inventories
153,264
300,939 (147,675)
(49.07)
The lower Current Inventories is predominantly due to lower development costs incurred in Taylor, North
Wright, North Coombs and the Kingston Foreshore and transfer of inventories to Non-Current Inventories.
Non-Current Inventories
185,996
45,254
140,742
311.00
The higher Non-Current Inventories is mainly due to the split between Current and Non-Current
Inventories.
36,978
45,980
(9,002)
(19.58)
Property, Plant and Equipment
The lower Property, Plant and Equipment is due to the revaluation decrement of fixed land asset in the
2018-19 year.
91,461
60,016
31,445
52.39
Current Payables
The higher Current Payables is predominantly due to a higher amount owing to EPSDD for land developed
or yet to be developed, and a higher amount owing to purchasers who are required to undertake demolition
works as part of their purchase contract.
Current Other Provisions
42,072
18,840
23,232
123.31
The higher Current Other Provisions is predominantly due to an increase in the estimated costs required to
finish developed parcels of land, and the transfer of provisions from Non-Current Other Provisions.
Current Other Liabilities
83,460
147,389
(63,929)
(43.37)
The lower Current Other Liabilities is predominantly due to the agreement by the Treasurer to modify the
timing of the 2018-19 interim dividend payment.
Non-Current Other Liabilities
115,057
12,927
102,130
790.05
The higher Non-Current Other Liabilities is predominantly due to the agreement by the Treasurer to modify
the timing of the 2018-19 interim dividend payment.
Deferred Tax Liability
70,349
37,291
33,058
88.65
The increase is predominantly due to a higher than anticipated amount of national tax equivalent payable in
future periods relating to a taxable temporary difference between the carrying amount of an asset or liability
in the balance sheet and its tax base.

Original Budget refers to the amounts presented to the Legislative Assembly in the original budgeted financial
statements in respect of the reporting period (2018-19 Budget Statements).
(1)
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Note 31. Budgetary Reporting – continued

Cash Flow Statement Line Items

Actual
2018-19
$’000

Original
Budget
2018-19 (1)
$’000

Variance
$’000

Variance
%

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
532,361
697,558
(165,197)
(23.68)
The lower cash for Revenue from Contracts with Customers is predominately due to a decline in market
conditions impacting land settlements for single residential blocks and the deferred settlement of three ARI
sites to 2019-20.
139,286
230,334
(91,048)
(39.53)
Development Costs
The lower development costs mainly relate to timing of planning and construction activities in Whitlam,
Kingston Foreshore and Taylor.
GST Paid to Suppliers and
Remitted to the Australian Taxation Office
37,997
23,664
14,333
60.57
The higher than budgeted GST Paid and Remitted is due to increased payments to developers in relation to
GST on development services.
46,061
92,454
(46,393)
(50.18)
National Tax Equivalent Payments
The lower National Tax Equivalent Payments is due to lower than budgeted instalment payment resulting from
lower land sales.
Contribution to Joint Operation
13,821
18,821
(5,000)
(26.57)
The lower Contribution to Joint Operation is due to delays in development activities undertaken by the joint
operation resulting a lower fund requirement.
Distributions to Government
115,475
170,179
(54,704)
The lower Distribution to Government is due to fewer ARI sites settling in 2018-19 than budgeted.

(32.14)

Payment of Dividend
66,063
183,421
(117,358)
(63.98)
The lower Payment of Dividend is due mainly to the deferral of the 2018-19 interim dividend payment as
approved by the Treasurer.

Original Budget refers to the amounts presented to the Legislative Assembly in the original budgeted financial
statements in respect of the reporting period (2018-19 Budget Statements).
(1)
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APPENDIX A – BASIS OF PREPARATION
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Legislative Requirement
The FMA requires the preparation of annual financial statements for Territory authorities. The FMA and the
Financial Management Guidelines issued under the Act, require the Suburban Land Agency's financial statements
to include:
>
>
>
>
>
>

a Statement of Comprehensive Income for the reporting period;
a Balance Sheet at the end of the reporting period;
a Statement of Changes in Equity for the reporting period;
a Cash Flow Statement for the reporting period;
the significant accounting policies adopted for the reporting period; and
other statements as necessary to fairly reflect the financial operations of the Suburban Land Agency
during the reporting period and its financial position at the end of the reporting period.

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared to comply with Australian Accounting Standards
as required by the FMA. Accordingly, these financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:
>
>
>

Australian Accounting Standards;
International Financial Reporting Standards; and
ACT Accounting and Disclosure Policies.

Accrual Accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The financial statements
are prepared according to the historical cost convention, except for Property, Plant and Equipment which are
valued at fair value in accordance with the valuation policies applicable to the Suburban Land Agency during
the reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Currency
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Suburban Land Agency's functional
currency.

Individual Reporting Entity
The Suburban Land Agency is an individual reporting entity.

Reporting Period
These financial statements state the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Suburban
Land Agency for the year ended 30 June 2019 together with the financial position of the Suburban Land Agency
as at 30 June 2019.
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APPENDIX A – BASIS OF PREPARATION
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS –
CONTINUED
Comparatives Figures
Budget Figures

The FMA requires the financial statements to facilitate a comparison with the Statement of Intent. The budget
numbers are as per the Statement of Intent.
Prior Year Comparatives

Comparative information has been disclosed in respect of the previous period for amounts reported in the
financial statements, except where an Australian Accounting Standard does not require comparative
information to be disclosed.
Where the presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended, the comparative
amounts have been reclassified where material and practical. Where a reclassification has occurred, the nature,
amount and reason for the reclassification is provided.
The Agency has applied AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to all revenue from contracts with
customers. Some of the revenue has been reclassified from Other Revenue to Revenue from Contracts with
Customers on adoption of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Budget and comparative
information has been restated without changing the carrying amount.
The Agency has applied AASB 9 Financial Instruments retrospectively and used the simplified approach to assess
expected credit losses. The adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments has not changed the 2017-18 Expected
Credit Losses so no changes have been recognised against the opening equity at 1 July 2018.

Rounding
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000). Use of "-"
represents amounts equal to or rounded down to zero. Tables and notes may not add due to rounding.
Use of “#” in the Variance % column of Note 31: Budgetary Reporting represents a variance that is greater than
999 per cent or less than -999 per cent.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Significant Accounting Policies – Income
Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income. In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue
is recognised.

Note 4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Suburban Land Agency has adopted the new accounting standard: AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers with a date of initial application of 1 July 2018.
The new requirements provide a single, contract-based revenue recognition model. AASB 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers establishes principles for reporting the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows arising from the Suburban Land Agency’s contracts with customers. The core principle
of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is that the Suburban Land Agency recognises revenue when a
customer obtains control of promised goods or services and amounts recognised reflect the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The requirements include a
five-step framework to determine the timing and amount of revenue to recognise relating to contracts with
customers.
Land Revenue

Land revenue is recognised at the point at which the control of the land is transferred to the purchaser. The
timing of the transfer of control is determined by reviewing whether the Suburban Land Agency or the purchaser
has control over the following factors:
> obtaining substantially all of the remaining benefits from the asset, and the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset;
> directing the use of the asset, and preventing others from directing the use of the asset;
> the ability to use the asset to secure a loan;
> the ability to sell or exchange the asset; and
> the legal title to the asset.
Based on the above factors, the Suburban Land Agency has determined that the purchaser obtains control for
the land at settlement. On this basis, land revenue is recognised at settlement, in accordance with the
requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Sales under the Land Rent Scheme are recognised on settlement, at which point the Suburban Land Agency
raises an invoice to CMTEDD to facilitate a payment for compensation for foregone land revenue.
Should sale proceeds be received by instalments over more than 12 months, the initial amount to be recorded
as revenue is the fair value of the consideration, calculated by discounting the contracted value (nominal value)
using a prevailing rate for a similar instrument of an issuer with a similar credit rating to the Suburban Land
Agency. The difference which arises between the fair value of the consideration to be received over the deferral
period and the contracted (nominal) value of the land is recognised as interest income over the deferral period.
Where a sales contract specifies that the Suburban Land Agency will contribute to demolition costs incurred by
the purchaser, the demolition contribution specified in the contract represents a reduction in revenue.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers –
continued
Liquidated Damages Revenue
The Suburban Land Agency receives payments from customers related to delays in the completion of land sales
contracts. If completion does not occur by the contracted date, due to default of the purchaser, then the
purchaser must pay the Suburban Land Agency liquidated damages calculated as interest on the unpaid
balance of the price at the rate specified by the contract. On the basis that the liquidated damages do not
represent payment for a separate good or service, the revenue forms part of the transaction price and is
recognised when the related contract settles.
Infrastructure Revenue
Some sales contracts include the requirement for purchasers to construct and return specific infrastructure
assets to the Suburban Land Agency, at their own cost. The estimated cost of the infrastructure is contained
within the Deed of Agreement or Prescribed Conditions within the sales contract, and this becomes the agreed
infrastructure asset value that will be transferred to the Suburban Land Agency upon practical completion.
The infrastructure revenue is recognised upon settlement of the contract, as non-cash consideration in line with
land sales revenue.
Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers

User Charges
The Suburban Land Agency has an arrangement with the City Renewal Authority to provide a number of services
and resources. The fee for these services and resources is determined and calculated by agreement between the
Suburban Land Agency and the City Renewal Authority.
On the basis that the City Renewal Authority simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Suburban Land Agency as they are performed, corresponding revenue is recognised after the service is provided.
Retained Deposit Revenue
The Suburban Land Agency receives deposits at exchange of land sales contracts and records the deposit as a
liability. If after the exchange of the contract, the purchaser defaults on the contract of sale, the Suburban Land
Agency retains the forfeited land sales deposit relating to terminated sales in accordance with the land sales
contract. As the Suburban Land Agency retains and gains the control of the deposit upon termination of the
contract, the Suburban Land Agency recognises revenue at the time of termination.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers –
continued
Other Revenue from Contracts with Customers - continued

Direct Sales Application Fee Revenue
The Suburban Land Agency receives direct sale application fees when applicants submit direct sales
applications. The application fee is refunded in full if the applicant does not meet the eligibility requirements,
and 50 per cent of the application fee is retained by the Suburban Land Agency if a suitable site cannot be found
but the applicant meets the eligibility criteria.
If the direct sale is completed the Suburban Land Agency discharges its obligation to refund the application fee
to the applicant and gains control of the fee. The application fee is recognised as revenue as at the settlement
date. If any portion of the application fee is retained as a result of the applicant meeting the eligibility criteria
but not finding a suitable site the revenue is recognised at the time the Suburban Land Agency determines that
the contract is terminated or will not proceed.
No revenue is recognised if the application fee is refunded in full due to the applicant not meeting the eligibility
requirements.
Profit on Sale of Non-Current Assets
When the Suburban Land Agency disposes of certain assets, any profit on sale will be recognised as revenue as at
the date of disposal, when control of the asset is transferred to the purchaser.
Assets and Liabilities Related to Contracts with Customers

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers refers to 'contract asset' and 'contract liability' to describe
'accrued revenue' and 'unearned revenue'. The Suburban Land Agency has not adopted the terminology used in
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to describe such balances. The Suburban Land Agency has
included disclosure of contract liabilities to reflect the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

Note 5. Interest
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method.

Note 6. Resources Received Free of Charge
Resources received free of charge from ACT Government agencies are recorded as a revenue and an expense in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income at fair value. Services that are received free of charge are only
recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income if they can be reliably measured and would have been
purchased if not provided to the Suburban Land Agency free of charge. Services received from EPSDD and the
ACT Government Solicitor free of charge have been recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The Suburban Land Agency also receives Territory-owned land from other ACT Government entities free of
charge, which it prepares for sale on behalf of the Territory. In this case, the revenue is disclosed under
resources received free of charge, with the land being recorded as an asset in the Balance Sheet.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Significant Accounting Policies – Expenses
Note 7. Employee Expenses

Employee benefits include:
>

>
>

short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries, annual leave loading, and applicable oncosts, if expected to be settled wholly before 12 months (see Appendix B - Note 18 Employee Benefits if
longer than 12 months) after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the
related services;
other long-term benefits such as long service leave and annual leave; and
termination benefits.

On-costs include annual leave, long service leave, superannuation and other costs that are incurred when
employees take annual leave and long service leave.
Employees of the Suburban Land Agency have varying superannuation arrangements due to the type of
superannuation scheme available at the time of commencing employment, including both defined benefit and
defined contribution superannuation scheme arrangements.
For employees who are members of the defined benefit Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS) and
Public Section Superannuation Scheme (PSS) the Suburban Land Agency makes employer superannuation
contribution payments to the TBA at a rate determined by CMTEDD. The Suburban Land Agency also makes
productivity superannuation contribution payments on behalf of these employees to the Commonwealth
Superannuation Corporation, which is responsible for administration of the schemes.
For employees who are members of defined contribution superannuation schemes (the Public Sector
Superannuation Scheme Accumulation Plan (PSSAP) and schemes of employee choice) the Suburban Land
Agency makes employer superannuation contribution payments directly to the employees’ relevant
superannuation fund.
All defined benefit employer superannuation contributions are recognised as expenses on the same basis as the
employer superannuation contributions made to defined contribution schemes. The accruing superannuation
liability obligations are expensed as they are incurred and extinguished as they are paid.
Superannuation Liability Recognition

For Suburban Land Agency employees who are members of the defined benefit CSS or PSS the employer
superannuation liabilities for superannuation benefits payable upon retirement are recognised in the financial
statements of the Superannuation Provision Account.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 8. Supplies and Services
Insurance

All insurable risks are insured through the ACT Insurance Authority. The excess payable, under this arrangement,
varies depending on each class of insurance held.
Operating Leases

Operating lease payments are recorded as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Contractors and Consultants

Contractors and consultants includes financial management and accounting services and advice, project
management services, legal expenses (excluding conveyancing), valuations and other professional services.

Note 9. Cost of Land Sold
Land Transfers and Acquisitions

Unleased Territory land is transferred at market value. The Suburban Land Agency recognises the land as
inventory when custodianship is transferred to the Suburban Land Agency. The Suburban Land Agency also
purchases land from external parties at market value in line with Territory legislation and policies. It also
receives land for no cost through transfers from other ACT Government entities. Land costs are expensed in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income when finished land is settled.
Capitalised Development Costs

Capitalised Development Costs represent costs or services that are directly attributable to the development of
land. These transactions are generally direct labour costs and purchases of goods or services that are directly
inputted into producing land available for sale. Capitalised development costs are expensed in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income when finished land is settled.

Note 10. Write-Down of Inventory
Inventories held for sale are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The difference between the cost
and book value is recorded as a write down of inventory. This includes write down of land transferred from other
ACT Government agencies and inventory costs written off for discontinued projects where the criteria for an
asset is no longer met in line with the relevant accounting standards.

Note 11. Other Expenses
Land Holding Cost (Interest) and Stamp Duty Equivalents

Consistent with the ACT Government’s policy on competitive neutrality, the Suburban Land Agency applies
similar costing and pricing principles, taxation, debt guarantee requirements and regulations as a fully
corporatised business. Refer to Note 1: Public Trading Enterprise for further details. The Suburban Land Agency
pays land holding cost equivalent on land purchased from EPSDD. It also pays stamp duty equivalent to
CMTEDD on land purchased from the Territory.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 12. National Tax Equivalent
Taxation

The Suburban Land Agency is registered with the National Tax Equivalent Regime and is required to calculate
income tax in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and to account for the resulting amounts
under the requirements of Australian Accounting Standard AASB 112 Income Taxes.
The amount of the current national tax equivalent expense is based on the surplus/(deficit) for the year adjusted
for any non-assessable or non-deductible items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted or are
substantially enacted by the balance date.
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. The
Deferred Tax Liabilities was de-recognised from the Balance Sheet when the former LDA ceased operating as an
entity as at 30 June 2017. As per the Financial Management (Land Development Agency Transfer to Suburban Land
Agency) Declaration 2017, the majority of the former LDA’s liabilities and assets were transferred to the Suburban
Land Agency. The Suburban Land Agency assumed the former LDA’s tax attributes and recognised the
corresponding deferred tax liability. The deferred tax liability is re-recognised in the equity account (refer to the
Statement of Changes in Equity).
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or
the liability settled. Deferred tax is credited in the Statement of Comprehensive Income except where it relates to
items that may be credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Significant Accounting Policies – Assets
Assets – Current and Non-Current

Assets are classified as current where they are expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assets, which do not fall within the current classification, are classified as non-current.
Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates - Fair Value of Assets

The Suburban Land Agency has made a significant estimate regarding the fair value of its assets. Land and
buildings have been recorded at the market value of similar properties as determined by independent valuers.
In some circumstances, buildings that are purpose built may in fact realise more or less in the market. The
valuation uses significant judgements and estimates to determine fair value, including the appropriate
indexation figure and quantum of assets held. The fair value of assets is subject to management assessment
between formal valuations.

Note 14. Receivables
Receivables include the right to receive infrastructure, trade receivables, deferred payment receivables, accrued
revenue and GST refunds due.
Right to Receive Infrastructure

Some sales contracts include the requirement for purchasers to construct and return specific infrastructure
assets to the Suburban Land Agency, at their own cost. The estimated cost of the infrastructure is contained
within the Deed of Agreement or Prescribed Conditions within the sales contract, and this becomes the agreed
infrastructure asset value that will be transferred to the Suburban Land Agency upon practical completion.
The infrastructure revenue is recognised upon settlement of the contract with a corresponding entry recognised
as an associated infrastructure asset receivable.
Trade Receivables

Trade receivables arise in the normal course of providing goods and services to other agencies and the public.
Trade receivables are payable with 30 days after the goods or services have been provided under a contractual
arrangement and in accordance with the terms and conditions of that arrangement.
Accounts receivable (including trade receivables and other trade receivables) are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, with any adjustments to the carrying amount being
recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Deferred Receivable – Contribution to the West Belconnen Joint Operation

The Suburban Land Agency continues to provide a contribution to the joint operation to fund project activities
under the West Belconnen Joint Operation agreement in 2018-19. The Suburban Land Agency has a priority
right to the distributions from the joint operation where and by the amount that creates an imbalance in the
joint operation equity account. If the contributed amount exceeds the Suburban Land Agency’s share of the
assets and liabilities of the joint operation, the remaining amount is recognised as a net deferred receivable.
This amount is further assessed for recoverability on an annual basis. As at 30 June 2019, the net deferred
receivable balance was $27.697 million (see Note 14: Receivables).
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 14. Receivables – continued
Credit Loss Receivables

The Suburban Land Agency has adopted the new accounting standard AASB 9 Financial Instruments with a date
of initial application of 1 July 2018. The standard includes a single approach for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, based on cash flow characteristics and the business model used for the
management of the financial instruments. It introduces the expected credit loss model for impairment of
financial assets which replaces the incurred loss model used in AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Management.
The Suburban Land Agency has applied AASB 9 Financial Instruments retrospectively and used the simplified
approach to assess expected credit losses. The adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments has not changed the
Suburban Land Agency's 2017-18 expected credit losses therefore no changes have been recognised against
opening equity.
The allowance for expected credit losses represents the amount of trade and other receivables the Suburban
Land Agency estimates will not be collected. The allowance for credit losses is based on objective evidence and
a review of overdue balances. The Suburban Land Agency has measured expected credit losses of a financial
instrument in a way that reflects:
>
>
>

an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;
the time value of money; and
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

The amount of the expected credit loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The
allowance for impairment losses is written off against the allowance account when the Suburban Land Agency
ceases action to collect the debt as it considers that it will cost more to recover the debt than the debt is worth.
Where the Suburban Land Agency has no reasonable expectation of recovering an amount owed by a debtor
and ceases action to collect the debt, as the cost to recover the debt is more than the debt is worth, the debt is
written-off by directly reducing the receivable against the loss allowance.
Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates – Allowance for Credit Losses

The Suburban Land Agency made a significant estimate in the calculation of the allowance for credit losses for
receivables in the Financial Statements. The allowance for expected credit losses of receivables is calculated
separately for groupings of assets with similar loss patterns. Calculations are based on historical observed
default rates where possible. Where historical data is unavailable, relevant internal and external advisors were
consulted to determine expected credit losses, with adjustments for reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information for expected changes in macroeconomic indicators that affect the future recovery
of those receivables.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 15. Inventories
Inventories held for sale include developed land and land being developed, and are valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Land Being Developed – Work in Progress is transferred to Developed Land when operational
acceptance is provided by EPSDD and the land becomes available for sale. The cost of developed land includes land
acquisition and land development costs. Land transferred from EPSDD is recognised in Inventories – Land Being
Developed – Work in Progress when custodianship is received by the Suburban Land Agency.
Net realisable value is determined using the estimated sales proceeds less costs incurred in marketing and selling
activities.
Land Purchases

Unleased Territory land is acquired at market value. The Suburban Land Agency recognises the land as inventory
when custodianship is transferred to the Suburban Land Agency. The Suburban Land Agency also purchases land
from external parties at market value as required and receives land for no cost through transfers from other
ACT Government entities.
Capitalised Development Costs

Capitalised development costs relate directly to preparing sites for sale as serviced land. These include expenditure
associated with the implementation of estate planning, demolition, remediation activities, and relocation or
construction of infrastructure services. Costs associated with marketing and selling activities are not considered to
be directly related to the preparation of the sites for sale as serviced land, and are expensed as incurred. Land sites
held for development and sale are classified as current assets when they are expected to be sold within 12 months.

Note 16. Property, Plant and Equipment
Acquisition and Recognition of Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, Plant and Equipment are initially recorded at cost. Cost includes the purchase price, directly attributable
costs and the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the item (where, upon acquisition, there is a present
obligation to remove the item). The Suburban Land Agency capitalises all Property, Plant and Equipment with a
value of $5,000 or more. Land acquisitions that are long-term in nature and not currently identified for development
are recorded as land under Property, Plant and Equipment as disclosed in Note 16: Property, Plant and Equipment.
Measurement of Property, Plant and Equipment after Initial Recognition

Land and buildings are revalued triennially. However, if at any time, management considers the carrying amount of
an asset materially differs from its fair value, then the asset will be revalued regardless of when the last valuation
took place. Land and buildings that are acquired between revaluations are held at cost until the next valuation,
where they are re-valued to fair value. Any accumulated depreciation relating to buildings at the date of revaluation
is written back against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued
amount of the asset.
Impairment of Assets

The Suburban Land Agency assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. Assets are also reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. However, intangible assets that are not yet available for use are tested
annually for impairment regardless of whether there is an indication of impairment, or more frequently if events or
circumstances indicate they might be impaired.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 16. Property, Plant and Equipment – continued
Impairment of Assets – continued

Impairment losses for plant and equipment, leasehold improvements, heritage and intangible assets are
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount.
Impairment losses for land and buildings are recognised as a decrease in the asset revaluation surplus relating
to these classes of assets. This is because these asset classes are measured at fair value and have an asset
revaluation surplus attached to them. Where the impairment loss is greater than the balance of the asset
revaluation surplus for the relevant class of asset, the difference is expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

Significant Accounting Policies – Liabilities
Liabilities – Current and Non-Current

Liabilities are classified as current when they are due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting
date or the Suburban Land Agency does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the reporting date. Liabilities, which do not fall within the current
classification, are classified as non-current.

Note 17. Payables
Payables are recognised at fair value based on the transaction cost with any adjustments to the carrying amount
being recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Payables include trade payables, accrued expenses, payables to EPSDD for land sold or yet to be developed and
other payables.

Note 18. Employee Benefits
Annual leave liabilities have been estimated on the assumption they will be wholly settled within three years. In
2018-19 the rate used to estimate the present value of future annual leave payments is 100.1 per cent.
In 2018-19, the rate used to estimate the present value of future long service leave payments is 100.0 per cent.
Employee Benefits are listed in Appendix B – Note 7 Employee Expenses.
Wages and Salaries

Accrued wages and salaries are measured at the amount that remains unpaid to employees at the end of
the reporting period.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 18. Employee Benefits – continued
Annual and Long Service Leave

Annual and long service leave including applicable on-costs, that are not expected to be wholly settled before
twelve months after the end of the reporting period when the employees render the related service, are
measured at the present value of estimated future payments to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the end of the reporting period. Consideration is given to the future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of service. At the end of each reporting period end, the present
value of future annual leave and long service leave payments is estimated using market yields on ten year
corporate bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash flows.
Annual leave liabilities have been estimated on the assumption they will be wholly settled within three years. In
2018-19 the rate used to estimate the present value of future:
>
>

annual leave payments is 100.1 per cent (99.1 per cent in the previous financial year); and
long service leave payments is 100.0 per cent (90.5 per cent in the previous financial year).

The long service leave liability is estimated with reference to the minimum period of qualifying service. For
employees with less than the required minimum period of seven years of qualifying service, the probability that
employees will reach the required minimum period has been taken into account in estimating the provision for
long service leave and applicable on-costs.
The provision for annual leave and long service leave includes estimated on-costs. As these on-costs only
become payable if the employee takes annual and long service leave while in service, the probability that
employees will take annual and long service leave while in service has been taken into account in estimating the
liability for on-costs.
Annual leave and long service leave liabilities are classified as current liabilities in the Balance Sheet where
there are no unconditional rights to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months. Conditional long
service leave liabilities are classified as non-current because the Suburban Land Agency has an unconditional
right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
Significant Judgements and Estimates – Employee Benefits

Significant judgements have been applied in estimating the liability for employee benefits. The estimated
liability for annual and long service leave requires a consideration of the future wage and salary levels,
experience of employee departures, probability that leave will be taken in service and periods of service. The
estimate also includes an assessment of the probability that employees will meet the minimum service period
required to qualify for long service leave and that on-costs will become payable.
During 2018-19 the process of calculating Long Service Leave was automated using the HR management system
Chris21. The automated process has resulted in a more accurate estimate of employees’ long service leave
entitlements.
The significant judgements and assumptions included in the estimation of annual and long service leave
liabilities include an assessment by an actuary. The Australian Government Actuary performed this assessment
in April 2019. The assessment by an actuary is performed every five years. The next actuarial review is expected
to be undertaken by early 2022.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 19. Other Provisions
Provision for Project Completion

For any parcel of developed land, the proportion of costs anticipated but not yet incurred is accounted for in the
provision for project completion. An estimate is made of the amount of work still to be completed by the
Suburban Land Agency. This estimate takes the form of a ‘project completion percentage’ and is calculated on
a monthly basis. The provision for project completion is a calculation combining the total anticipated costs of
each finished parcel of developed land together with the project completion percentage.
The estimate is based on the latest available, reliable information. The estimate may need revision if changes
occur to the circumstances on which the estimate is based or as a result of new information or more experience.
By its nature, the revision of an estimate does not relate to prior periods and is not a correction of an error.
The Suburban Land Agency has undertaken an analysis of the estimated timing of future cash flows relating to
the project completion, and determined that the effect on present value is immaterial. On this basis, the
provision for project completion has not been discounted.
Provision to Transfer Infrastructure

The sale of land by the Suburban Land Agency can involve the receipt of cash as well as the value of
infrastructure assets (such as roads, services and landscaping) required to be constructed by the purchaser as
part of the sale conditions. Upon completion, the infrastructure works are transferred to TCCS and Icon Water.
At contract settlement, the Suburban Land Agency recognises the value of future infrastructure to be transferred
to TCCS and Icon Water as a liability.

145

Suburban Land Agency
Appendix B - Significant accounting policies
Forms part of Note 2 of the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2019
den

APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 21. Other Liabilities
The Suburban Land Agency receives deposits at the time of exchange of land sales contracts and records these
as revenue received in advance.
The City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency (Suburban Land Agency Payment of Funds to Territory)
Direction 2018 (NI2018-224) directs the Suburban Land Agency to pay a dividend of 100 per cent of its net profits
after tax. Payments of the dividend are made in two instalments each year: an interim payment of 80 per cent of
estimated net profits is payable by 30 June of each financial year with a final balance based on actual net profits
payable by 31 October of the following financial year.
The Direction also provides the Government with flexibility to approve a different dividend payment ratio and/or
flexibility of payment timing, subject to the Board providing a case to the Treasurer in writing. The treasurer may
approve the modification of;
(a) the amount of dividend payments; and
(b) the date of payment of dividends.

Note 22. Deferred Tax Liability
Deferred tax liabilities are the amounts of national tax equivalent payable in future periods relating to taxable
temporary differences between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base.

Note 23. Equity
Assets Contributed by the ACT Government

Assets contributed by owners and capital distributions relate to ARI program sites transferred from Housing ACT
and ACT Property Group. The ARI is a program led by the Commonwealth Government that provides incentive
payments to states and territories that sell assets and reinvest the sale proceeds to fund infrastructure. The ACT
Government signed the National Partnership Agreement on Asset Recycling with the Commonwealth
Government in February 2015. Under this program, land based assets were to be sold before 30 June 2019.
When ARI sites transferred from Housing ACT and ACT Property Group to the Suburban Land Agency for sale, the
transfer made by the ACT Government through its role as owner of the Suburban Land Agency were treated as
contributions of equity. The Suburban Land Agency was responsible for the sale of these assets and returning
the sale proceeds to the ACT Government as a capital distribution.
Dividend Reprieve

The dividend reprieve relates to dividends owing to the Territory from the former LDA. Upon the former LDA
ceasing operations on 30 June 2017, the final dividend payable of $97.107 million was transferred to the
Suburban Land Agency per Notifiable Instrument NI2017-343. During 2017-18 the Suburban Land Agency
assumed the former LDA‘s tax attributes and was required to re-recognise a corresponding deferred tax liability
of $34.215 million. As the Suburban Land Agency is required to pay the Territory a dividend of 100 per cent of its
net profit after tax, there is not the capacity for the Suburban Land Agency to fund the tax liabilities within its
equity. The Suburban Land Agency requested a dividend reprieve of $34.215 million to retain sufficient cash
reserves in order to fund payment of the future tax liabilities as they fall due. The Treasurer approved the
dividend reprieve during 2018-19 reducing the Suburban Land Agency’s dividend liability by the same amount.
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APPENDIX B – SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES – CONTINUED
Note 24. Financial Instruments
Financial assets are classified and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income or fair value through profit or loss on the basis of both;
(a) the business model for managing the financial assets; and
(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.

Significant Accounting Policies – Other Notes
Note 27. Interest in a Joint Operation

The Suburban Land Agency is part of a joint arrangement with Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Ltd, Reid &
Stevens Pty Limited and Corkhill Bros Pty Limited to develop land to the west of Belconnen.
The West Belconnen Joint Operation revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities were consolidated into the
Suburban Land Agency’s accounts in respect of its share in the joint operation. The Suburban Land Agency holds
an interest in the joint operation on behalf of the Territory.
The Suburban Land Agency continues to provide a contribution to the joint operation to fund project activities
under the West Belconnen Joint Operation agreement in 2018-19. The Suburban Land Agency has a priority right
to the distributions from the joint operation where and by the amount that creates an imbalance in the joint
operation equity account. If the contributed amount exceeds the Suburban Land Agency’s share of the assets
and liabilities of the joint operation, the remaining amount is recognised as a net deferred receivable. This
amount is further assessed for recoverability on an annual basis. As at 30 June 2019, the Net Deferred Receivable
— Contribution to the West Belconnen Joint Operation balance was $27.697 million (see Note 14: Receivables).

Note 31. Budgetary Reporting
Significant Judgements and Estimates – Budgetary Reporting

Significant judgements have been applied in determining what variances are considered ‘major variances’.
Variances are considered major if both of the following criteria are met:
>

the line item is a significant line item: where either the line item actual amount accounts for more than
10 per cent of the relevant associated category (Income, Expenses and Equity totals) or more than 10
per cent of the sub-element (e.g. Current Liabilities and Receipts from Operating Activities totals) of the
financial statements; and

>

the variances (original budget to actual) are greater than plus (+) or minus (-) 10 per cent of the budget
for the financial statement line item.
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APPENDIX C – IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING
STANDARDS ISSUED BUT YET TO BE
APPLIED
The following new and revised accounting standards and interpretations have been issued by the Australian
Accounting Standards Board but do not apply to the current reporting period. These standards and interpretations
are applicable to future reporting periods. The Suburban Land Agency does not intend to adopt these standards and
interpretations early. Where applicable, these Australian Accounting Standards will be adopted from their
application date.
>

AASB 16 Leases (application date 1 January 2019)

AASB 16 Leases is the new standard for leases. It introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee
to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset value
is low. This will result in the Suburban Land Agency recognising a number of its operating leases as assets alongside
the associated liability, rather than accounting for these as operating lease expenditures. Right-of-use assets will
initially be recognised at cost and will give rise to a depreciation expense. Lease liabilities will initially be recognised
as the present value of the lease payments during the term of the lease. Lease payments made will reduce this
liability over time and also result in an interest expense. There is not a material impact on the Suburban Land
Agency.
>

AASB 2017-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10
and AASB 128 and editorial Corrections (application date 1 January 2018)

This standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures that were originally made in AASB
2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between and Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 instead of 1 January 2018. There is not a material impact on the Suburban Land Agency.
>

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a Business [AASB 3]
(application date 1 January 2020)

This standard amends AASB Business Combinations to clarify the definition of a business, assisting agencies to
determine whether a transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or as an asset recognition.
The Suburban Land Agency will make a detailed assessment of the impact over the next 12 months.
>

AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material [AASB 2, 101, 108,
110, 134, 137, the Framework, and AASB Practice Statement 2] (application date 1 January 2020)

This standard principally amends AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 108 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. The amendments refine the definition of material in AASB 101 and
clarify the definition of material and its application across AASB Standards and other publications.
The Suburban Land Agency will make a detailed assessment of the impact over the next 12 months.
>

AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (application date 1 January 2019)

This standard clarifies and simplifies the income recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit entities under
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. These standards supersede all the income recognition requirements
relating to private sector not-for-profit entities, and the majority of income recognition requirements relating to public
sector not-for-profit entities, previously in AASB 1004 Contributions.
Although this standard does not specifically apply to for-profit entities, the Suburban Land Agency will make a
detailed assessment over the next 12 months to rule out any potential impact.
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Appendix D - Change in accounting policy and accounting estimates
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APPENDIX D – CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Change in Accounting Estimates
Estimates for Project Costs

The Suburban Land Agency undertakes an ongoing review of its estimated project costs to determine the
remaining funding requirements. During this process estimates of project contingency costs are also reviewed.
Any adjustments as a result of the reviews has an impact on the value of inventory and cost of land sold. The
overall impact of the 2018-19 adjustment was a decrease Cost of Land Sold of $2.185 million and therefore a
corresponding increase to the Operating Surplus before Income Tax Equivalents was recognised.

Revision of Useful Lives and Residual Values
The Suburban Land Agency reviewed the useful lives and residual values of its Property, Plant and Equipment at
the end of the reporting period. No adjustments to useful lives or residual values were required as a result of the
review.

Change in Accounting Policy
Information provided below explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments on the
Suburban Land Agency’s financial statements.
Initial Application of Australian Accounting Standard - AASB 9 Financial Instruments

AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement; impairment and hedge accounting.
The Suburban Land Agency applied AASB 9 Financial Instruments retrospectively with an initial application date
of 1 July 2018.
Classification and Measurement

Under AASB 9 Financial Instruments, financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income or fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The
classification is based on two criteria: the Suburban Land Agency’s business model for managing the assets; and
whether the asset’s contractual cash flows represent ‘solely payments of principal and interest’ on the principal
outstanding.
The assessment of the Suburban Land Agency’s business model was made at the date of initial application, on
1 July 2018. The assessment of whether contractual cash flows on financial assets comprise solely of principal
and interest was made based on the facts and circumstances at initial recognition of the assets.
The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 Financial Instruments did not have a significant
impact on the Suburban Land Agency. The following are the classification of the Suburban Land Agency’s
financial assets under AASB 9 Financial Instruments.
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APPENDIX D – CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING
POLICY AND ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES –
CONTINUED
Change in Accounting Policy – continued
Items

Business Model
Held to collect principal and
interest/sell

Cash and Cash
Equivalents
Trade Receivables

Held to collect

Solely for payment of
Principal and Interest SPPI
Test (basic lending
characteristics)
Yes

Held to collect

Yes

Accrued Revenue

Held to collect

Yes

Classification

Amortised
cost
Amortised
cost
Amortised
cost

Impairment

The adoption of AASB 9 Financial Instruments has changed the Suburban Land Agency’s accounting for
impairment losses for financial assets by replacing AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement’s incurred loss model with a forward-looking expected credit loss approach. AASB 9 Financial
Instruments requires the Suburban Land Agency to recognise an allowance for expected credit losses for all
financial assets other than those held at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Members of the West Belconnen Joint Venture Board
Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of the West Belconnen Joint Venture (the Joint Venture) for
the year ended 30 June 2019 which comprises the statement of comprehensive income, statement
of financial position, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes to the
financial statements, including accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In my opinion, the financial statements:
(i)
present fairly, in all material respects, the Joint Venture's financial position as at 30 June 2019,
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and
(ii)
are presented in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for the opinion
I conducted the audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities
under the standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements’ section of this report.
I am independent of the Joint Venture in accordance with the ethical requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the Code). I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.
Responsibilities of the Joint Venture for the financial statements
The Joint Venture Board is responsible for:


preparing and fairly presenting the financial statements in accordance with relevant
Australian Accounting Standards;



determining the internal controls necessary for the preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements so that they are free from material misstatements, whether due to error
or fraud; and



assessing the ability of the Joint Venture to continue as a going concern and disclosing, as
applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
in preparing the financial statements.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
The Auditor-General is responsible for issuing an audit report that includes an independent audit
opinion on the financial statements of the Joint Venture.
My objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes my opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:


identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;



obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Joint Venture’s internal controls;



evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Joint Venture;



conclude on the appropriateness of the Joint Venture’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Joint Venture’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required
to draw attention in this report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. I base my conclusions on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of this report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Joint Venture to cease to continue as a going concern; and



evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether they represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Joint Venture Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.

Ajay Sharma
Assistant Auditor-General, Financial Audit
21 August 2019
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Declaration by the Joint Venture partners
WEST BELCONNEN JOINT VENTURE
1. In the opinionBY
of the
Venture
Participants
of the West Belconnen Joint Venture (the Joint
DECLARATION
THEJoint
JOINT
VENTURE
PARTNERS
Venture):

a) the financial statements including notes and this declaration by the Joint Venture Participants,
are in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 2(a), so as to present fairly the
1. In the opinion of the Joint Venture Participants of the West Belconnen Joint Venture (the Joint
financial position of the Joint Venture at 30 June 2019 and its performance, as represented by
Venture):
the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2019; and
a)
financial
statementsgrounds
includingto
notes
and that
this declaration
by the Joint
Venture
Participants,
b) the
there
are reasonable
believe
the Joint Venture
will be
able to
pay its debts as
are
in
accordance
with
the
basis
of
accounting
described
in
Note
2(a),
so
as
to
present
fairly the
and when they become due and payable.

financial position of the Joint Venture at 30 June 2019 and its performance, as represented by
the results
operations
andended
cash flows
for the
yearthe
ended
30 Venture
June 2019;
and
2. In respect
of of
theitsfinancial
year
30 June
2019,
Joint
has:
b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Joint Venture will be able to pay its debts as and
a) when
kept such
accounting
records
as correctly record and explain its transactions and financial
they become
due and
payable.

position;

2. In
the financialrecords
year ended
30 June
Venture
has:
b) respect
kept itsofaccounting
so that
true2019,
and the
fairJoint
financial
statements
of the Joint Venture can be

prepared
from time to
time; as
andcorrectly record and explain its transactions and financial
a) kept
such accounting
records
c) position;
kept its accounting records so that the financial statements of the Joint Venture can be
conveniently
andrecords
properly
in accordance
with
Joint
Venture
Agreement.
b) kept
its accounting
so audited
that true or
andreviewed
fair financial
statements of
thethe
Joint
Venture
can be
prepared from time to time; and
c) kept its accounting records so that the financial statements of the Joint Venture can be
conveniently
and properly
audited or reviewed
in accordance
with the Joint Venture Agreement.
Signed
in accordance
with a resolution
of the Joint
Venture Board:
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Joint Venture Board:

……………………………………………………
Michael Scott

Michael Scott
Independent Chairperson
Independent Chairperson

……………………………………………………
David Maxwell
David Maxwell
Board Member

Board Member

19 August 2019

[date] September 2019
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Note
No.

2019
$

2018
$

10,540,560
(7,735,963)
2,804,597

-

3

64,598
2,869,195

16,778
16,778

4
5

3,132,036
2,547,431
876,320
594,608
7,150,395

2,428,048
1,172,326
360,174
209,811
4,170,359

(4,281,200)

(4,153,581)

-

716,567
716,567

(4,281,200)

(3,437,014)

REVENUE
Development fee
Development costs
GROSS PROFIT
Other revenue
TOTAL REVENUE
EXPENSES
Administrative expenses
Finance costs
Marketing and communication expenses
Selling expenses
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET (LOSS)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION TO JOINT
VENTURE PARTICIPANTS
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Increase in the Asset Revaluation Reserve
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION TO JOINT
VENTURE PARTICIPANTS

15

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Statement of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Note
No.
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables and other assets
Inventory
Tax asset
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Inventory
Property, plant, equipment and intangibles
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade creditors and other payables
Provision
Other liabilities
Tax liability
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans and borrowings
Provision
Other liabilities
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES

2019
$

2018
$

6
7
8
9

15,603,759
1,617,261
37,628,982
54,850,002

6,719,076
994,109
4,027,941
299,844
12,040,970

8
10

14,714,181
3,456,330
18,170,511
73,020,513

15,561,735
4,894,494
20,456,229
32,497,199

11
12
13
9

3,600,540
1,306,964
2,853,411
961,747
8,722,662

2,774,136
1,876,198
4,650,334

14
12
13

3,470
2,815,215
4,160,179
6,978,864
15,701,526

3,475
1,924,021
1,927,496
6,577,830

57,318,987

25,919,369

(6,382,940)
(3,787,600)

(5,217,298)
(3,478,198)

-

716,567

67,489,527
57,318,987

33,898,298
25,919,369

NET ASSETS
JOINT VENTURE
VENTURE EQUITY
EQUITY
Initial Equity Contributions and Accumulated Funds
- Suburban Land Agency
- Riverview Development (ACT) Pty Limited
Asset Revaluation Reserve
Equity Contributions Other than Initial Equity Contributions
- Suburban Land Agency
TOTAL JOINT VENTURE EQUITY

15

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Initial Equity
Contributions
and
Accumulated
Funds
$

Asset
Revaluation
Reserve

Total Equity

$

Equity
Contributions
Other than
Initial Equity
Contributions
$

Balance at 1 July 2018

(8,695,496)

716,567

33,898,298

25,919,369

Comprehensive (Loss)
Decrease in the Asset Revaluation Reserve
Total Comprehensive (Loss)

(4,281,200)
(4,281,200)

(716,567)
(716,567)

-

(4,281,200)
(716,567)
(4,997,767)

2,806,156
2,806,156

-

33,591,229
33,591,229

36,397,385
36,397,385

(10,170,540)

-

67,489,527

57,318,987

Balance at 1 July 2017

(4,541,915)

-

-

(4,541,915)

Comprehensive (Loss)
Increase in the Asset Revaluation Reserve
Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

(4,153,581)
(4,153,581)

716,567
716,567

-

(4,153,581)
716,567
(3,437,014)

-

-

33,898,298
33,898,298

33,898,298
33,898,298

(8,695,496)

716,567

33,898,298

25,919,369

Equity contributions
Transactions Involving Joint Venture
Participants Affecting Total Equity
Balance at 30 June 2019

Equity contributions
Transactions Involving Joint Venture
Participants Affecting Total Equity
Balance at 30 June 2018

$

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2019
Note
No.

2019
$

2018
$

12,499,695
372,839
2,893
177,500
39,220
3,494,278
16,586,425

1,931,726
13,676
3,008
2,314
601,419
2,552,143

(34,718,533)
(3,002,841)
(3,784,398)
(39,220)
(41,544,992)

(9,575,154)
(3,502,781)
(6,566)
(4,730)
(13,089,231)

(24,958,567)

(10,537,088)

(7,247)
(7,247)

(121,448)
(121,448)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of borrowings
Initial equity contributions received
Equity contributions other than initial equity contributions received
Net cash inflows from financing activities

(5)
2,806,156
31,044,346
33,850,497

(23,433,042)
33,898,298
10,465,256

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

8,884,683
6,719,076
15,603,759

(193,280)
6,912,356
6,719,076

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
RECEIPTS
Development Fee received
Other income received
Interest income received
Compliance Bonds received
GST collected on receipts
GST refunded by the ATO
Total receipts from operating activities
PAYMENTS
Development Costs paid
Other costs paid
GST paid on payments
GST remitted to the ATO
Total payments from operating activities
Net cash (outflows) from operating activities

19(b)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments for property, plant, equipment and intangibles
Net cash (outflows) from investing activities

19(a)

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 1: Joint Venture Information
The West Belconnen Joint Venture (the "Joint Venture") is a joint venture domiciled in Australia between the
Australian Capital Territory and Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Ltd (the “Joint Venture Participants”). The Joint
Venture was formed on 21 November 2016 to develop the land in the location known as Ginninderry in the
Australian Capital Territory. The Joint Venture is commonly referred to as the Ginninderry Joint Venture. The
Territory has appointed the Suburban Land Authority to act as its agent to oversee and manage its interests and
responsibilities under the Joint Venture Agreement and all agreements related to the Joint Venture.

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of preparation

These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements
of the Joint Venture Agreement.
The Joint Venture has commenced operations and began development works for Stage 1 of the
development in April 2018 and settlement of Stage 1 blocks have now commenced. Development works
for Stage 2 of the development are about to commence and settlement of the Stage 2 blocks is likely to
occur in mid to late 2020.
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. The financial
statements are prepared according to historical cost convention.
These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Joint Venture’s functional
currency.
All amounts in the financial statements are unrounded. Use of “-” represents zero amounts or amounts
rounded down to zero.
These financial statements state the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the
Joint Venture for the year ended 30 June 2019 together with the financial position of the Joint Venture
at 30 June 2019.
(b) Going concern
There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Joint Venture will be able to pay its debts as and when
they fall due and payable as adequate current assets are available to pay debts despite the negative
operating results being reported in the early stages of the Joint Venture operations.
(c) Compliance statement
These general-purpose financial statements have been prepared to comply with Australian Accounting
Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
(d) Comparative figures

Comparative information has been disclosed in respect of the previous period for amounts reported in
the financial statements, except where an Australian Accounting Standard does not require
comparative information to be disclosed.
Where presentation or classification of items in the financial statements has been amended, the
comparative amounts have been reclassified where practical. Where reclassification has occurred the
nature, amount and the reason for the reclassification is provided.
(e) Early adoption of accounting policy
The Joint Venture has not early adopted any Australian Accounting Standards or AASB interpretations
that have been issued at balance date but are not yet operative for the year ended 30 June 2019 ("the
inoperative standards"). The impact of the inoperative standards has been assessed and the impact has
been identified as not being material to the Joint Venture.
(f)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Joint
Venture and the revenue can be reliably measured.
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
Development fee
Development fee revenue is recognised when ownership of a parcel of land that the Joint Venture has
developed, on behalf of the Joint Venture Participants, has transferred from the Joint Venture
Participants to a purchaser. The revenue recognised equals the proceeds received by the relevant Joint
Venture Participant (less any GST liability which is payable).
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised when received.
Rental income
The Joint Venture receives rent for a residential farm building located on land which it does not own but
is in the custody of the Suburban Land Authority. Rental income is recognised when received.
Grant income
The Joint Venture receives grant monies for training and employment initiatives that it undertakes.
Grant income is recognised when monies are received.

(g) Distributions
Provision is made for the amount of any distributions declared and approved on or before the end of
the financial year but not distributed at balance date. No distributions have been declared during the
period of these financial statements.
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
(h) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash at bank. The cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
(i)

Inventory
The cost to develop the land owned by the Joint Venture Participants into Developed Lots is shown as
inventory. Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(j)

Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangibles
Property, plant, equipment and intangibles are initially recorded at cost.
Property, plant, equipment and intangibles with a minimum value of $1,000 are capitalised.
Property
The Joint Venture’s leasehold improvements comprise The Link building which the Joint Venture has
built on land that is subleased from the Australian Capital Territory. The Joint Venture will surrender the
Link building for nil consideration when the sublease term ends in August 2026.
Leasehold improvements are shown at cost less subsequent depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Leasehold improvements are amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the sublease. The term
of the sublease is 10 years.
Plant and Equipment
Plant and equipment includes furniture and fittings and motor vehicles. Plant and equipment is
measured at cost less depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually by management to ensure it is not in
excess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed on the basis of
the expected net cash flows that will be received from the assets’ employment and subsequent
disposal. The expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining
recoverable amounts.
All assets were assessed for impairment at 30 June 2019. Indications of impairment exist when the
asset’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. Assets are also reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.
Depreciation
Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative period are as
follows:
Class of Property, Plant and Equipment Useful Life
>
>
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
(j)

Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangibles - continued
Depreciation - continued
The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Asset carrying amounts are written down immediately to their recoverable amount if the assets’ carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds of the sale with the carrying
amount. These gains or losses are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Intangibles
The Joint Venture’s intangible assets are comprised of externally acquired software and is recognised
and capitalised when it is probable that the expected future economic benefits attributable to the
software will flow to the Joint Venture and the cost of the software can be measured reliably.
Capitalised software has a finite useful life. Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful
life, over a period not exceeding 2.5 years.
Intangible Assets are measured at cost.

(k) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
with any adjustments to the carrying amount being recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Trade receivables that are known to
be uncollectable are written off when identified. An allowance for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Joint Venture will not be able to collect all amounts
to the original terms.
The expected credit loss from trade receivables represents the amount of trade receivables that the Joint
Venture estimates will not be paid. The Joint Venture determines this loss based on forward looking
evidence and a review of all balances. Historically, there have be no credit loss from trade receivables and
business relations and conditions of services are expected to remain stable. As such no amount of
expected credit loss has been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(l)

Trade creditors
Trade creditors are initially recognised at fair value based on the transaction cost and subsequent to
initial recognition at amortised cost, with any adjustments to the carrying amount being recorded in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income. All amounts are normally settled within 30 days after the invoice
date.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
(m) Provision

For any parcel of land that the Joint Venture develops on behalf of the Joint Venture Participants, the
proportion of costs anticipated but not yet incurred is accounted for as a Provision for Project
Completion. An estimate is made of the amount of work still to be completed by the Joint Venture and
this estimate takes the form of a ‘project completion percentage’ and is calculated on a monthly basis.
The Provision for Project Completion is a calculation combining the total anticipated costs of each
finished parcel of land that will be developed together with the project completion percentage.
(n) Borrowings
Borrowings are a financial liability and are measured at the fair value of the consideration received
when initially recognised and at amortised cost subsequent to initial recognition, with any adjustments
to the carrying amount being recorded in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The associated
interest expense is recognised in the reporting period in which it occurs.
Borrowings are classified as non-current liabilities unless the Joint Venture has agreed to the settlement
of the liability in the next 12 months after the balance date.
(o) Equity contributions other than initial equity contributions
Up until June 2018 the Suburban Land Agency (formerly the Land Development Agency) had provided
an unsecured loan to the Joint Venture to fund development works undertaken pursuant to the Joint
Venture Agreement. In June 2018, the Suburban Land Agency provided an equity contribution other
than the initial equity contribution to pay out the unsecured loan in full (including accumulated
interest). Equity contributions other than initial equity contributions are interest bearing and its
repayment will be at the discretion of the Joint Venture Board in accordance with the Joint Venture
Agreement.
(p) Income tax
The Joint Venture is a non-taxable entity. The Joint Venture for taxation purposes is considered a
partnership. Partnerships are not considered to be a separate tax entity under Australian tax law, and
therefore no income tax is payable by the Joint Venture itself.
(q) Other taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax ("GST")
except:
>

>

where the GST incurred on the purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the taxation
authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as
part of the expense item as applicable; and
trade receivables and trade creditors, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is shown as a tax asset or
tax liability in the Statement of Financial Position.
Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis and the GST components of
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority, are classified as operating cash flows.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 2: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued
(q) Other taxes- continued
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation
authority.
(r) Other liabilities
Revenue received in advance
The Joint Venture Participants receive deposits at the time of exchange of land sales contracts and pass
these amounts to the Joint Venture. Upon receipt of these deposit monies the Joint Venture recognises
these amounts as Revenue Received in Advance.
Compliance bonds
On settlement, purchasers of a parcel of land that Joint Venture has developed are required to provide a
$5,000 compliance bond as security for ensuring compliance with obligations under their land sales
contract. Upon the purchaser completing construction of a dwelling in compliance with their
obligations, the compliance bond is refunded to the purchaser. Compliance bond monies received are
kept in the Joint Venture’s bank account. Monies held are not held in trust for the purchaser. At 30 June
2019 the balance of compliance bonds held was $327,500 (2018: $nil).
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 3: Other revenue
Interest income
Rental income
Grant income
Art commissions received
Total other revenue

Note 4: Administrative Expenses
Administration and operational expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
External audit fee^
Community and social planning initiatives
Training and employment initiatives
Asset write off/change from freehold to leasehold
Total administrative expenses

Note 10

2019
$

2018
$

2,893
19,102
41,366
1,237
64,598

3,102
13,676
16,778

2019
$

2018
$

2,163,382
545,412
30,000
95,720
114,089
183,433
3,132,036

2,023,893
180,455
20,000
165,701
37,999
2,428,048

^External audit fees are paid to the ACT Audit Office for the audit of the financial statements. No other
services were provided by the ACT Audit Office.

Note 5: Finance Costs
Bank fees
Interest expense
Total finance costs

Note 6: Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank
Total cash and cash equivalents
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2019
$

2018
$

549
2,546,882
2,547,431

302
1,172,024
1,172,326

2019
$

2018
$

15,603,759
15,603,759

6,719,076
6,719,076
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 7: Trade Receivables and Other Assets

Trade receivables
Prepayments
Other receivables
Total trade receivables and other assets

2019
$

2018
$

1,617,249
12
1,617,261

991,066
3,043
994,109

Allowance for Credit Loss
Trade receivables are generally on 30-day terms. These receivables are assessed for recoverability and an
allowance for impairment is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable
is impaired. These amounts are included in administrative expenses. The allowance for the reporting period
is $nil (2018 $nil).
Ageing of trade receivables
At balance date trade receivables of $1,617,249 (2018: $991,066) were within the trading terms of 30 days.
Interest rate risk
Information about the Joint Venture’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to trade receivables is
provided in Note 16.
Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short-term nature of trade receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair
value. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each
class of trade receivables mentioned previously. Trade receivables relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default.

Note 8: Inventory

2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT
Development costs - at cost
Total current inventory

37,628,982
37,628,982

4,027,941
4,027,941

NON-CURRENT
Development costs - at cost
Total non-current inventory

14,714,181
14,714,181

15,561,735
15,561,735

Total inventory

52,343,163

19,589,676
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 9: Tax Assets and Liabilities

2019
$

2018
$

(961,747)
(961,747)

299,844
299,844

2019
$

2018
$

-

900,000
900,000

LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total leasehold improvements

3,700,000
(453,061)
3,246,939

3,700,000
3,700,000

FURNITURE AND FITTINGS
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total furniture and fittings

109,906
(25,164)
84,742

109,906
(14,173)
95,733

MOTOR VEHICLES
At cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Total Motor Vehicles

88,778
88,778

81,530
81,530

SOFTWARE
At cost
Less amortisation
Total software

203,399
(167,528)
35,871

203,399
(86,168)
117,231

Total property, plant, equipment and intangibles

3,456,330

4,894,494

Net GST receivable
Net GST payable
Total tax (liability)/asset

Note 10: Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangibles

LAND
Land at fair value
Total land and buildings

In the financial statements of the previous financial year, the Joint Venture recorded “The Link” building,
located at 90 Stockdill Drive Holt ACT, as ‘freehold property’ (classified as Land and Building). In the current
financial year the building has been reclassified as a Leasehold Improvement. The reclassification was
warranted as the Joint Venture does not have ownership rights to the land upon which the building has been
built and under the arrangement for the usage of the building, the Joint Venture is required to hand over the
building to the community in August 2026.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 10: Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangibles – continued
Reconciliation of Property, Plant, Equipment and Intangibles
The following table shows the movement for each class of property, plant, equipment and intangibles during
the year:

Carrying amount at 1 July 2018
Removal upon reclassification
Additions at cost
Depreciation/Amortisation
Carrying amount at 30 June
2019

Land and
Leasehold
Furniture
Buildings Improvements and Fittings
900,000
3,700,000
95,733
(900,000)
(453,061)
(10,991)
3,246,939
84,742

Note 11: Trade Creditors and Other Payables
Trade creditors
Accrued expenditures
Total creditors and other payables

Motor
Vehicles
81,530
7,248
88,778

Software

Total

117,231
(81,360)
35,871

4,894,494
(900,000)
7,248
(545,412)
3,456,330

2019
$

2018
$

1,449,565
2,150,975
3,600,540

658,786
2,115,350
2,774,136

Trade creditors
Trade creditors are generally due and payable within 30 days and relate to costs incurred in the ordinary
course of business.
Accrued expenditures
Accrued expenditures relate to project costs incurred at 30 June 2019 which had not yet been invoiced.
Fair value
Due to the short term nature of trade creditors, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair
value. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of trade creditors. The risk is managed by
regular reviews of expected cash flow forecasts and ensuring adequate working capital is maintained in cash
balances and this is managed through funding available to the Joint Venture.
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Note 12: Provision

2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT
Provision for Development Completion
Total current provision

1,306,964
1,306,964

-

NON-CURRENT
Provision for Development Completion
Total non-current provision

2,815,215
2,815,215

-

Total provision

4,122,179

-

The Provision for Development Completion reflects the expected costs required to finish developed parcels of land for
the Joint Venture Participants. As at 30 June 2019, the value of Provision for Development Completion related to
development costs incurred for parcels of land that have settled and for which the Joint Venture has received a
Development Fee.

Note 13: Other Liabilities

2019
$

2018
$

CURRENT
Revenue received in advance
Compliance bonds
Total current other liabilities

2,525,911
327,500
2,853,411

1,876,198
1,876,198

NON-CURRENT
Revenue received in advance
Total non-current other liabilities

4,160,179
4,160,179

1,924,021
1,924,021

Total other liabilities

7,013,590

3,800,219

2019
$

2018
$

3,470
3,470

3,475
3,475

Note 14: Loans and Borrowings

Borrowings - Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Limited
Total loans and borrowings
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 15: Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at the Beginning of the Reporting Period
Increment in Land and Buildings due to revaluation
Total Increase in the Asset Revaluation Reserve
Reversal of Land and Buildings revaluation due to reclassification
Total Decrease in the Asset Revaluation Reserve
Balance at the End of the Reporting Period

2019
$

2018
$

716,567
(716,567)
(716,567)
-

716,567
716,567
716,567

The Asset Revaluation Reserve was used to record the increments and decrements in the fair value of land
and buildings however upon reclassification of “The Link” building to a leasehold improvement, the previous
addition made to the Asset Revaluation Reserve has been reversed in the current financial year. Refer to Note
10 for more information.

Note 16: Financial Risk Management
The Joint Venture's principal financial instruments comprise trade receivables, trade creditors, cash and
cash equivalents and equity contributions other than initial equity contributions.
The Joint Venture Board manages the Joint Venture's exposure to key financial risks, which include credit
risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The overall financial risk management focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the
Joint Venture.
The Joint Venture Board identifies, evaluates and mitigates financial risks.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the Joint Venture, which comprises cash and cash equivalents
and trade receivables.
The Joint Venture’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of the counter party, with a
maximum exposure to the carrying amount of these instruments. As the main counter party for the Joint
Venture’s trade receivables is the Suburban Land Authority, there is no requirement for collateral from the
Suburban Land Authority.
The cash and cash equivalents component of financial assets is considered to have a low credit risk, as cash
at banks is maintained in accounts operated by a reputable financial institution. The Joint Venture's
financial institution is the only concentration of credit risk for the Joint Venture.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 16: Financial Risk Management – continued
Interest rate risk
The Joint Venture is subject to exposure to interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of
market interest rates on equity contributions other than initial equity contributions.
The Joint Venture’s interest rate risk is managed by regular monitoring of expected interest rate changes.
Interest rate risk is not considered a significant risk and operational measures have been implemented to
manage the risk. Debt levels are evaluated regularly to ensure that the Joint Venture is not exposed to
interest rate movements that could adversely impact its ability to meet its financial obligations.
A sensitivity analysis has not been undertaken for the interest rate risk of the Joint Venture as it has been
determined that the possible impact on income and expenses or total equity from fluctuations in interest
rates is immaterial.
Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. The Joint Venture does not hold any financial assets or liabilities which are subject
to price risk.
Liquidity risk
The Joint Venture regularly updates and reviews its cash flow forecasts to assist in managing its liquidity. To
limit its exposure to liquidity risk, the Joint Venture ensures that it does not have a large portion of its
financial liabilities maturing in any one reporting period and that, at any particular point in time, it has a
sufficient amount of current financial assets to meet its current financial liabilities.
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West Belconnen Joint Venture
Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements - continued
For the year ended 30 June 2019

Note 16: Financial Risk Management – continued
The carrying value and maturity of the Joint Venture's financial assets and financial liabilities has been
tabulated below:

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

Carrying
Amount
2019
$

Fair Value
Amount
2019
$

Carrying
Amount
2018
$

Fair Value
Amount
2018
$

Note 6
Note 7

15,603,759
1,617,249
17,221,008

15,603,759
1,617,249
17,221,008

6,719,076
991,066
7,710,142

6,719,076
991,066
7,710,142

Note 11
Note 14
Note 17

1,449,565
3,470
67,489,527
68,942,562

1,449,565
3,470
67,489,527
68,942,562

658,786
3,475
33,898,298
34,560,559

658,786
3,475
33,898,298
34,560,559

1 year or less
$

1-5 years
$

>5 years
$

Total
$

1,449,565
3,470
67,489,527
68,942,562

-

-

1,449,565
3,470
67,489,527
68,942,562

1 year or less
$

1-5 years
$

>5 years
$

Total
$

658,786
33,898,298

3,475
-

-

658,786
3,475
33,898,298

34,557,084

3,475

-

34,560,559

Total financial assets
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade creditors
Borrowings
Equity contributions other than initial equity
contributions
Total financial liabilities
30 June 2019
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade creditors
Borrowings
Equity contributions other than initial equity
Net Maturity
30 June 2018
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Trade creditors
Borrowings
Equity contributions other than initial equity
contributions
Net Maturity
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Note 17: Related Parties
Joint Venture Participants
The names of the Joint Venture Participants who formed the Joint Venture are:
>
>

Australian Capital Territory (60%)
Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Limited (40%)

The Suburban Land Authority has been appointed by the Australian Capital Territory to act as its agent to
oversee and manage its interests and responsibilities under the Joint Venture Agreement and all agreements
related to the Joint Venture.
The Joint Venture has appointed Riverview Projects (ACT) Pty Limited as the Development Manager and
Riverview Sales and Marketing Pty Limited as the Marketing and Sales Manager.
Joint Venture Board
The members of the Joint Venture Board are:
>
>
>
>
>

Michael Scott (Independent Chairperson)
Thomas Gordon
Angus Dawson
Thomas Corkhill
David Maxwell

Transactions with related parties during the period

Services rendered
Suburban Land Agency
- Development Fee
Total services rendered
Services received
Riverview Projects (ACT) Pty Limited
- Development Management Fee
Riverview Sales and Marketing Pty Limited
- Marketing and Sales Fee
Total services received

Services received
Riverview Projects (ACT) Pty Limited
- Development Management Fee
Riverview Sales and Marketing Pty Limited
- Marketing and Sales Fee
Total services received
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Transaction
value
2019
$

Amount of
receivable at
30 June 2019
$

Amount of
payable at
30 June 2019
$

Amount
committed at
30 June 2019
$

16,144,990
16,144,990

1,614,499
1,614,499

-

228,229,122
228,229,122

2,922,965

-

546,301

2,182,943

591,568
3,514,533

-

403,010
949,311

4,564,385
6,747,328

Transaction
value
2018
$

Amount of
receivable at
30 June 2018
$

Amount of
payable at
30 June 2018
$

Amount
committed at
30 June 2018
$

3,067,951

-

273,039

3,649,068

204,414
3,272,365

-

16,695
289,734

919,693
4,568,761
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Note 17: Related Parties – continued
Transactions with related parties during the period - continued
Transactions between the Joint Venture and related parties are on normal commercial terms and
conditions. Amounts shown as committed relate to remaining amounts to be recognised or incurred related
to the development of parcels of land in Neighbourhood 1 of the development on behalf of the Joint Venture
Participants.
Borrowings from related parties
Total borrowings from related parties at reporting date was $3,470 (2018: $3,475) as detailed in Note 14.
Equity Contributions from related parties
Original initial equity contributions received from the Joint Venture Participants at reporting date were
$1,000,000 (the Suburban Land Agency $600,000 and Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Limited $400,000)
and during the year further equity contributions were made by the Joint Venture Participants amounting to
$2,806,156 (the Suburban Land Agency $1,403,078 and Riverview Developments (ACT) Pty Limited
$1,403,078).
During the year equity contributions other than initial equity contributions were made by the Suburban Land
Agency totalling $31,044,346 (2018: $33,898,298). These equity contributions are interest bearing and
repayment will be made to the Suburban Land Authority in priority of any distributions made to the Joint
Venture Participants in accordance with Amending Deed No.2 of the Joint Venture Agreement. Interest
accrued and not paid during the year was $2,546,882 (2018: $1,172,024).
Key Management Personnel Compensation
An amount of $84,078 (2018: $47,166) was paid to members of the Joint Venture Board during the reporting
period. This amount represents Directors Fees payable to the Independent Chairperson and to Mr Angus
Dawson and Mr Thomas Corkhill.

Note 18: Contingencies
Contingent Assets
No contingent assets exist at reporting date (2018: $nil).
Contingent Liabilities
No contingent liabilities exist at reporting date (2018: $nil).
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Note 19: Cash Flow Information
(a)

(b)

2019
$

2018
$

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank
Total cash and cash equivalents

15,603,759
15,603,759

6,719,076
6,719,076

Reconciliation of net (loss) to net cash (outflows) from operating activities
Net (loss) for the year

(4,281,200)

(4,153,581)

542,412
2,546,882
183,433

180,455
-

(623,152)
(28,631,307)
826,404
3,213,370
1,261,591
(24,958,567)

(935,764)
(9,650,635)
1,408,034
2,021,039
593,364
(10,537,088)

Add non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation
Interest expense accrued and not paid
Asset write off/change from freehold to leasehold
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in trade receivables and other assets
(Increase) in inventory
Increase in trade creditors and other payables
Increase in other liabilities
Decrease/increase in net tax asset/liability
Net cash (outflows) from operating activities
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C.3 CAPITAL WORKS
The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) does not receive ACT Budget appropriations for Capital Works. The following
table relates to Development Works undertaken by SLA. The amounts are GST inclusive.

Civil infrastructure construction
TABLE 1: NEW WORKS
Projects

Belconnen Demolition Section 22
Charnwood Block 13 Section 31 Demolition
Coombs 3A playground design
Coombs Stage 3A Phase 2 Path network
Greenway S28 footpaths
Hume West Stage 2B construction
Hume West Stage 2B design
Kingston Eastlake Stage 2 electrical relocations
Molonglo 3 132 kVa relocation design consultancy
Molonglo 3 132 kVa agreement
Taylor 2, Stage 4A construction
Taylor 2 Stage 4B construction
Taylor 2 Stages 4A & 4B Electrical reticulation
contribution
Taylor 2 Stage 3 electrical reticulation
Taylor 3 Estate construction Stage 1A
Taylor 3 Estate construction Stage 1B
Taylor 3 Telecommunications infrastructure  
Whitlam Residential Estate construction Stage 1A
Whitlam Residential Estate construction Stage 1B
Whitlam Engineering design Stages 3 & 4 EDP
Whitlam Principal’s authorised delegate
Wright 1A and buffer rectifications

Original
Project
Value

Year of
Approval

Original
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Project
Value

$250,000
$136,364
$286,401
$4,611,518
$208,895
$5,776,740
$227,557
$559,166
$293,097
$599,377
$13,717,150
$22,202,176
$282,943

2018
2018
2018
2018
2019
2019
2018
2016
2019
2019
2018
2018
2019

30/06/19
3/09/18
13/08/20
17/01/21
1/03/20
12/03/21
30/06/20
9/02/19
19/07/21
4/04/21
18/12/20
24/12/21
31/01/20

-

$96,300
$223,195
$292,141
-

$461,618
$4,845,082
$8,851,911
$323,400
$29,917,265
$44,086,485
$1,890,735
$2,297,289
$413,671

2019
2017
2016
2019
2019
2019
2019
2019
2019

28/06/19
11/05/20
13/06/21
30/06/21
31/05/21
31/12/21
23/08/23
14/12/20
19/10/19

-

$1,895,157
-

TABLE 2: WORKS IN PROGRESS
Projects

Coombs residential estate site superintendency
Coombs 3A Paths network Phase 2
Coombs 3A Pedestrian network and open space
landscaping
Denman Prospect Stage 1A1 Civil construction
Denman Prospect Stage 1A1 superintendency
Greenway East Civil superintendency
Greenway East Planning and Engineering
consultancy
Greenway S28 B3,4,5 DA, Design,
Superintendency
Greenway Section 28 Civil Construction
Greenway East Civil Construction
Gungahlin Town Centre East Construction

Original
Project
Value

Year of
Approval

Original
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Project
Value

$3,202,310
$167,200
$1,610,219

2012
2018
2017

31/12/19
20/12/19
20/12/19

29/05/20
-

$4,603,456
$245,569
-

$18,825,920
$1,489,000
$389,414
$518,243

2015
2014
2017
2016

21/07/16
1/01/19
2/11/18
30/11/18

29/11/19
29/11/19
19/06/20
19/06/20

$20,999,121
$1,569,388
$549,923

$137,657

2017

31/05/18

19/06/20

$504,255

$2,788,482
$4,257,661
$11,914,900

2018
2017
2017

30/06/18
31/05/18
18/05/19

19/06/20
31/07/19
1/12/19

$3,301,437
$13,203,275
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Projects

Gungahlin Design & Construct GTC East
Flemington Road
Gungahlin Town centre east Planning &
engineering
Gungahlin Town Centre East Superintendency
Hume West Stage 2 Paspaley St
Hume Stage 2 Paspaley St curb, turning head
design, tender
Jacka 2 Master plan engineering
Jacka 2 EDP Planning consultancy
Jacka 2 Engineering design services for EDP
Kingston Causeway sewer odour control unit
Kingston Section 49 Environmental
investigations
Kingston Strategic environmental advisor infill
projects
Kingston Eastlake Electrical relocation works
Kingston Block 59 Section 50 The Pier offset
works
Lawson South Planning and Engineering
consultancy
Taylor 2 Stage 1 & 3 Principal’s authorised
delegate
Taylor 2 Stage 2 & 4 Principal’s authorised
delegate
Taylor 2 Estate Civil works Stage 1
Taylor 2 Residential Estate Civil works Stage 2
Taylor 2 Residential Estate Civil works Stage 3
Taylor 2 Stage 4B Civil works
Taylor 2 Estate Telecommunications
infrastructure
Taylor 2 Engineering consultancy
Taylor 2 Planning consultancy
Taylor 3 Planning consultancy
Taylor 3 Stage 1A construction
Taylor 3 Engineering consultancy
Whitlam Stages 1 & 2 Engineering consultancy
Whitlam Stages 1-4 Planning consultancy
Whitlam Stage 1 Telecommunications
infrastructure
North Wright and North Coombs engineering
PAD consultancy
North Wright Civil construction
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Original
Project
Value

Year of
Approval

Original
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Project
Value

$1,245,528

2016

24/11/19

-

-

$479,736

2015

30/01/20

-

$679,867

$429,077
$224,128
$21,835

2017
2017
2017

1/08/18
1/10/18
11/08/17

20/12/19
30/09/19
30/09/19

$241,425
$26,675

$72,600
$593,970
$965,822
$205,728
$134,446

2017
2018
2018
2013
2017

1/08/18
30/06/20
30/06/20
1/10/15
1/06/18

30/08/19
30/06/20
15/06/20

$601,912
$1,025,392
$322,299
$164,003

$332,640

2015

1/10/17

15/06/20

-

$559,166
$2,057,157

2016
2016

9/02/19
12/12/16

18/12/20
30/10/19

$2,392,632

$1,057,701

2011

28/09/18

30/09/19

$2,262,458

$1,670,003

2016

29/11/19

-

-

$1,567,980

2016

23/12/20

-

-

$23,470,864
$23,937,949
$24,500,770
$22,202,176
$430,723

2017
2017
2017
2017
2018

30/08/19
30/08/19
30/06/20
24/12/21
19/01/20

-

$507,600

$1,941,383
$526,482
$295,657
$4,845,082
$1,175,273
$2,666,070
$1,990,745
$450,000

2016
2016
2017
2017
2016
2017
2017
2018

2/08/20
2/08/20
30/06/20
13/06/21
9/12/21
1/06/21
30/06/21
22/05/20

-

$2,559,141
$1,222,765
$602,168
$1,245,411
$3,048,729
$2,012,118
-

$1,011,667

2017

1/07/19

20/12/19

$1,030,708

$17,033,887

2017

15/01/20

-

-
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TABLE 3: COMPLETED PROJECTS
Projects
Barton Section 33 superintendency
Belconnen S22 DA superintendency
Belconnen S21 DA superintendency
North Coombs Residential Estate
North Coombs Electrical reticulation
contribution
Coombs Overland flow solution Block 5 Section 2
North Coombs Telecommunications
infrastructure
Hume West 2A Civil construction
Hume West Industrial Park Stage 2A
superintendency
Rural Huntly mainline water upgrade
Moncrieff East engineering
Moncrieff East estate Package 2, Stage 2
Moncrieff Trail & Pedestrian Bridges
Moncrieff Trail & Pedestrian Bridges
superintendency
Moncrieff CRIP construction
Taylor 1 EDP consultancy
Taylor 1 Stage 2 & 3 construction
Taylor 2 Stage 1 Electrical reticulation
contribution
Taylor 2 Stage 2 Electrical reticulation
contribution
North Wright Electrical reticulation contribution
North Wright NBN Telecommunications
infrastructure
North Wright and North Coombs Engineering
consultancy

Original
estimate

Final
Cost

Estimated
completion

Practical
completion

Financially
complete

$54,420
$50,226
$66,836
$13,017,576
$151,932

$81,595
$50,226
$66,836
$13,585,616
$151,932

26/07/17
28/04/17
1/05/18
1/12/18
1/01/20

1/07/18
30/06/19
30/06/19
15/02/19
29/06/19

Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes
Yes

$25,379
$45,000

$25,379
$45,000

1/06/19
30/06/19

1/06/19
30/04/19

Yes
Yes

$3,237,634
$207,972

$3,237,634
$207,972

30/10/18
25/12/18

31/10/18
31/10/18

No
Yes

$123,013
$1,997,341
$14,151,933
$2,498,779
$156,500

$123,703
$2,515,934
$14,151,933
$2,569,650
$156,500

28/02/19
30/06/17
8/02/16
18/09/18
28/02/19

17/05/19
31/08/18
31/10/18
1/02/19
1/02/19

Yes
Yes
Yes
No
No

$6,087,613
$358,455
$29,516,735
$667,365

$6,114,637
$494,099
$31,277,646
$667,365

1/03/19
7/09/17
13/07/18
31/12/19

1/02/19
7/09/17
27/07/18
29/06/19

Yes
Yes
No
Yes

$419,403

$419,403

20/12/19

29/06/19

Yes

$434,944
$130,000

$434,944
$130,000

20/04/20
30/06/19

29/06/19
30/04/19

Yes
Yes

$1,267,318

$1,326,340

31/05/19

6/05/19

Yes

Revised
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Project
Value

Landscaping
TABLE 1: COMPLETED PROJECTS
Projects

Campbell 5 supplementary plantings
Coombs Stage 3A Phase 3 path network

Original
Project
Value
$53,490
$4,611,518

Year of
Approval

Original
Estimated
Completion
Date

2019
2018

30/08/19
17/01/21

-

-

Year of
Approval

Original
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Estimated
Completion
Date

Revised
Project
Value

TABLE 2: WORKS IN PROGRESS
Projects

Campbell Section 5 Landscape works
Kingston Stage 4, Part 6 Superintendency,
surveillance
Kingston Stage 4, Part 6 Landscaping
Kingston Block 5 Section 66 Public landscaping
Lawson South Open space stages 1D & 1B1
Lawson Landscape design

Original
Project
Value
$3,815,567
$32,175

2014
2018

31/12/15
30/09/19

31/10/18
-

$4,153,909
-

$589,678
$200,657
$2,970,122
$472,936

2018
2016
2015
2012

30/09/19
15/12/17
10/05/17
9/08/17

31/10/19
10/09/18
10/09/18

$212,867
$3,056,338
$576,752
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TABLE 3: COMPLETED WORKS
Projects

Original
Estimate

Coombs 3A Open space landscape design and
path network
Greenway Lakeside West Stages 1 and 2 Open
space landscape
Greenway services by Guideline
Kingston Eastlake Parade landscape Giles & Eyre
Stage 1 & 2
Kingston Foreshore Block 1 Section 65 Public
landscaping
Throsby entry features design
Throsby entry features construction

$74,800

$256,716

30/06/18

28/02/18

No

$3,501,148

$3,501,148

5/09/16

15/08/18

No

$105,433
$148,253

$146,402
$155,861

22/12/07
1/12/18

15/01/19
1/06/18

Yes
Yes

$508,863

$712,394

30/08/17

31/08/18

Yes

$48,200
$548,764

$56,464
$636,764

1/07/17
31/05/19

15/07/18
29/06/19

Yes
No

Further information can be obtained from:
Tom Gordon
Executive Director, Development Delivery
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

180

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Final
Cost

Estimated
Completion

Practical
Completion

Financially
Complete

C.4 ASSET MANAGEMENT
Assets managed
The Suburban Land Agency (SLA) managed assets with a total value of $37.012 million as at 30 June 2019. Assets
managed are shown in the table below.
TABLE 1: ASSETS MANAGED
Asset Type

Comprising

Land
Leasehold Improvements

Land in Tuggeranong, Belconnen and Molonglo
60% interest in West Belconnen Joint Operation Office Building and Level 7
TransACT House fit-out
Furniture on Level 7 TransACT House, furniture and equipment of 60%
interest in West Belconnen Joint Operation
John Fowler & Co Locomotive
Customer Relationship Management System and 60% interest in software of
West Belconnen Joint Operation

Plant and Equipment
Community and Heritage Assets
Intangible Assets

Value $’000
34,450
1,974
112
442
34

During 2018-19, $8.890 million of land was written-down based on a revaluation of fair value as at 30 June 2019.
As at 30 June 2019 the SLA had nil properties that were not being utilised or identified as potentially surplus.
During 2018-19, the SLA managed and maintained land purchased in Tuggeranong, Belconnen and Molonglo
districts. There were no asset upgrades in 2018-19.
We conducted nil audits (condition, hazardous materials, buildings, etc.) of our assets in 2018-19.

Office accommodation
As at 30 June 2019, we occupied 1,095m2 on Level 7 TransACT House, 470 Northbourne Avenue Dickson. Our
accommodation housed 93.4 FTE employees, with the average area occupied by each person being 11.7m2.

Further information can be obtained from:
Joseph Lee
Chief Financial Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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C.5 GOVERNMENT CONTRACTING
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Contract Title

Taylor 2 Stage 3
Electrical Reticulation
0159-2019
Taylor 2 Stages
4A & 4B Electrical
Reticulation
0354-2019
Evoenergy
Preliminary Works
Agreement Molonglo
3 - 132kv Relocation
SL190194
Whitlam Residential
Estate Stage 1
Construction Services
Consultancy
2018.30305.111 Demolition and
Remediation Block 3
Section 22 Belconnen
(Former Bicycle
Training Centre)
SL190372
Provision of Legal
Services on GST
implications
SL180287
Wright 1A
Rectification and
Associated Works
Superintendency
SL190258
Property advisory
services
SL180391
Whitlam Estate Stage
1A Civil Engineering
and Landscape
Construction

0038-2019

Contract
Number

TABLE 1: CAPTION

Works
Works

Works

Consultancy

Works

Consultancy

Consultancy

Services
Works

Single select

Single select

Public

Public

Single select

Public

Single select

Public

Procurement
Type

Single select

Procurement
Methodology

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

$28,710

$91,230

$190,000

$105,930

$2,297,289

$599,377

$282,943

$461,618

Contract
Amount

BMD Constructions Pty Ltd $29,917,265

Blak Box Pty Ltd

Black Mountain
Construction Assurance

Ashurst

AGH DEMOLITION &
ASBESTOS REMOVAL PTY
LTD

AECOM Australia

ActewAGL Distribution

ActewAGL Distribution

ActewAGL Distribution

Contractor Name

8/05/19

25/01/19

26/10/18

13/05/19

28/11/18

6/05/19

4/04/19

5/11/18

3/08/18

31/05/21

30/04/19

26/10/19

30/11/19

17/02/19

14/12/20

4/04/21

31/01/20

28/06/19

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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SL190228

SL190418

SL190417

SL190160

SL190211

SL170493

SL190227

SL190183

SL190406

SL180182

SL170496

Contract
Number

Construction of
Taylor 3 Stage 1A
Residential Estate
on behalf of the
Suburban Land
Agency
Whitlam Stages 3
and 4 - Engineering
Consultancy
Business Planning
Framework
Furzer Street
Subdivision Early
Planning
CBRE Valuations Pty
Ltd
Hume West Stage
2B Civil Engineering
and Landscape
Construction
Jacka 2 Archaeological
Investigations
Throsby Ballot,
Auction, Over the
counter sales, Legal
services 2018-2021
Taylor Affordable
Housing Legal
services
Lyneham Legal
services Sale of
Macarthur House
CIVAS (ACT) Pty Ltd

Contract Title

Quotation

Panel

Services (nonconsultancy)

Services

Services

Services

Panel

Panel

Consultancy

Services (nonconsultancy)
Works

Consultancy

Consultancy

Consultancy

Works

Procurement
Type

Select

Public

Quotation

Quotation

3 quotes

Public

Public

Procurement
Methodology

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

Colliers International

Clayton Utz

Clayton Utz

Clayton Utz

CHMA Pty Limited

Chincivil Pty Ltd

CBRE

Canberra Town Planning

Callida Consulting

Calibre Consulting (ACT)
Pty Ltd

BMD Constructions Pty Ltd

Contractor Name

$175,758

$73,920

$114,510

$244,670

$73,660

$5,776,740

$178,679

$55,777

$251,966

$1,890,735

$4,845,082

Contract
Amount

20/12/18

18/10/18

24/05/19

1/07/18

8/03/19

13/03/19

20/12/18

10/01/19

30/08/18

23/08/18

12/06/19

20/12/21

19/10/20

1/06/20

30/06/21

30/06/19

30/10/20

20/12/21

16/03/19

30/06/19

23/08/23

11/05/20

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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Griffith Sales agent
Stuart flats Section
39, Blocks 23, 24, 25
Narrabundah Sales
agent Gowrie Court
Block 3, Section 62
Lyons Sales agent
Strathgordon Block 9,
Section 53
Gungahlin Town
Centre Valuations
Section 235 Blocks
3 & 4 & Section 246
Blocks 3 & 4
Lyneham Sales agent
Macarthur House
Company Matters
Pty Ltd
Throsby residential
estate marketing &
creative
Taylor residential
estate marketing &
creative
Whitlam Display
Village planning
services
Molonglo Valley
Stage 3 - 132kV
Relocation Business
Case
Services Ginninderry
Joint venture
Demolition Fee B19
S33 Dickson MVR

SL190232

SL170494

SL190350

SL190063

EO190349

SL190081

SL190077

SL180355

SL190411

SL190244

SL190243

SL190239

Contract Title

Contract
Number

Public

Services (nonconsultancy)

Services

Consultancy

Single select

Single select

Consultancy

Services

Services

Consultancy

Single select

Panel

Panel

Quotation

Services

Services

Panel

Panel

Services

Services

Services

Procurement
Type

Panel

Panel

Panel

Procurement
Methodology

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

Deloitte Financial Advisory
Pty Ltd
Doma Dickson
(Residential)

Dawkins Planning,
Development and Project
Management Pty Limited
Deloitte Financial Advisory
Pty Ltd

Cre8tive

Company Matters Pty
Limited
Cre8tive

Colliers/Civas (ACT) Pty Ltd

Colliers/Civas (ACT) Pty Ltd

Colliers/Civas (ACT) Pty Ltd

Colliers/Civas (ACT) Pty Ltd

Colliers/Civas (ACT) Pty Ltd

Contractor Name

$1,760,000

$56,237

$25,000

$77,250

$1,000,000

$500,000

$125,000

$115,500

$127,000

$100,000

$102,000

$302,000

Contract
Amount

20/12/18

21/02/19

29/08/18

8/04/19

23/07/18

23/07/18

4/07/18

12/06/19

16/01/19

10/01/19

10/01/19

10/01/19

1/05/19

30/06/19

31/10/18

30/06/19

30/06/21

30/06/21

14/09/18

14/06/21

16/03/19

10/01/20

10/01/20

10/01/20

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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SL190199

SL190163

SL190189A

SL191012

SL190286

SL161851

SL180397

SL170483

SL190062

SL190107

SL190108

Contract
Number

North Wright - Light
Pole Banners
Block 17 Section
152 Belconnen - Site
Investigation Report
Coombs 3a
Pedestrian
Network and Open
Space - Stage 2
Superintendency

Kingston Arts
Precinct - Cost Plan
Review and Advisory
Services
Facilities services
watering Test site 2B
Hume West
Independent Review
of the Ginninderry
Joint Venture
Construction of
Taylor 2 Stage 4A
Residential Estate
Whitlam Estate Stage
1B Civil Engineering
and Landscape
Construction
Construction of
Taylor 3 Stage 1B
Residential Estate
on behalf of the
Suburban Land
Agency
Huntly - Mainline
Water Infrastructure
Upgrades
Recruitment Services

Contract Title

Works

Public

Consultancy

Consultancy

Public

Goods

Consultancy

Select

Quotation

Quotation

Consultancy

Works

Public

Select

Works

Works

Goods and
Services

Consultancy

Procurement
Type

Public

Select

Single select

Quotation

Procurement
Methodology

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

Indesco Pty Ltd

Indesco Pty Ltd

Hudson Global Resources
(Aust) Pty Ltd
IFLAND, SEAN DAVID

Gunning Ag & Water
Solutions

Group One Pty Ltd

Group One Pty Ltd

Group One Pty Ltd

EY

Eden Brae (Dede Family
Trust)

Donald Cant Watts Corke
(ACT) Pty Ltd

Contractor Name

$224,980

$33,000

$54,560

$79,000

$123,703

$8,851,912

$44,086,485

$13,717,150

$110,000

$79,090

$30,965

Contract
Amount

25/04/19

7/11/18

30/11/18

16/11/18

11/01/19

13/06/19

8/05/19

6/07/18

2/08/18

28/09/18

8/10/18

25/04/21

29/03/19

30/06/19

17/03/19

30/06/19

1/07/20

31/05/21

31/07/19

8/10/18

4/02/19

31/03/19

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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Lyons marketing
for Asset Recycling
Initiative
Board Consultancy
Milaparu residence
upgrade
Kingston Arts Precinct
- Stakeholder
Engagement
Lyneham Sales agent
Macarthur House
Moncrieff Sales Agent
Block 2 Section 29
Griffith Sales Agent
Stuart flats Section
39, Blocks 23, 24, 25
Narrabundah Sales
agent Gowrie Court
Block 3, Section 62
Lyons Sales agent
Strathgordon Block 9,
Section 53
Legal services
Canberra Brickworks
Legal services
Kingston Arts
precinct
Gungahlin Town
centre sales agent
Commercial Advisory
- Ginninderry Joint
Venture
Joint Venture sales
and GST processes
Business Systems
Review

SL190197

SL190405

SL190224

SL190389

SL190313

SL190143

SL190109

SL190243

SL190238

SL190237

SL190050

SL190412

SL190165

SL190065
SL190148

Contract Title

Contract
Number

Panel

Single select

Quotation

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Quotation

Single select
Quotation

Panel

Procurement
Methodology

Services

Consultancy

Consultancy

Services

Services

Services

Services

Services

Services

Services

Services

Consultancy
Services (nonconsultancy)
Consultancy

Services

Procurement
Type

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No
No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

KPMG (ICT services Panel)

KPMG

KPMG

Knight Frank

King & Wood Mallesons

King & Wood Mallesons

Jones Lang Lasalle ACT
Pty Ltd

Jones Lang Lasalle ACT
Pty Ltd

Jones Lang Lasalle ACT
Pty Ltd
Jones Lang Lasalle ACT
Pty Ltd
Jones Lang Lasalle ACT
Pty Ltd

Jacinta Maree Cubis

Insync Surveys Pty Ltd
J&E 360 Pty Ltd

Inklab

Contractor Name

$196,337

$64,300

$184,140

$37,000

$1,010,692

$42,814

$100,000

$102,000

$302,000

$30,400

$115,500

$97,383

$31,995
$54,742

$60,000

Contract
Amount

4/06/19

4/01/19

23/05/19

11/01/19

22/10/18

1/07/18

10/01/19

10/01/19

10/01/19

3/07/18

12/06/19

13/11/18

5/08/18
7/11/18

30/08/18

29/07/19

30/06/19

22/05/20

13/01/20

30/08/19

28/08/18

10/01/20

10/01/20

10/06/20

28/08/19

14/06/21

31/03/19

2/11/18
7/11/18

30/06/19

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Yes

Yes
Yes

Yes

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No
No

No

Social
Procurement
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23082018

SL190040

SL190421

SL190370

SL190198

SL190434

SL190322

SL190192

SL190184

SL190116

VPR198063

0090-2019

SL180356

Contract
Number

Greenway Southquay
Winter Maintenance
Greenway
West Summer
Maintenance
Braddon Section
60 Block 4 & Turner
Section 68 Block 1
Tender Valuations
2 of 2
Kingston Arts
Precinct - Valuation
Advisory Services
Independent Audit
and Risk Committee
Production of
Marketing Videos
- Suburban Land
Agency
Taylor 3 NBN
Connections
Whitlam 2,
Telecommunications
infrastructure
Independent
Certification Whitlam
Estate Dam P3
Corporate brand
campaign
Taylor Sales and
Information event
Horse Park
Conservation
Management Plan
Alternate Dispute
Resolution

Contract Title

Consultancy

Consultancy

Public

Single select

Services

Services

Consultancy

Works

Panel

Panel

Single select

Single Select

Works

Services (nonconsultancy)

Quotation

Single select

Consultancy

Single select

Select

Consultancy

Consultancy

Quotation

Select

Services (nonconsultancy)
Works

Procurement
Type

Single select

Procurement
Methodology

Yes

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Omnicom Media Group
(Trustee Midas Trust)
Philip Leeson Architects

Omnicom Media group

Newman Engineering Pty
Ltd

NBN Co Ltd

NBN Co Ltd

NATION CREATIVE

Margaret Walker

Manuka Realty Pty Ltd
(MMJ)

Manuka Realty Pty Ltd
(MMJ)

Leaves Away Pty Ltd

Leaves Away Pty Ltd

Contractor Name

$104,500

$65,025

$43,203

$42,641

$67,694

$272,200

$323,400

$90,866

$49,000

$29,750

$27,300

$52,485

$32,054

Contract
Amount

14/09/18

20/11/18

6/06/19

17/04/19

20/05/19

7/06/19

2/04/19

30/11/18

1/08/17

8/10/18

7/08/18

30/11/18

9/07/18

14/09/19

20/11/19

29/06/19

21/04/21

20/05/21

7/06/21

2/04/21

30/06/19

1/08/19

30/06/19

28/06/19

31/03/19

31/10/18

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

No

No

Yes

No

No

Yes

Yes

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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Rectification
and Associated
Construction Works
for Wright Residential
Estate Stage 1A Buffer
and Entries
Campbell 5 Supplementary
Landscape Planting
Coombs 3a
Pedestrian Network
and Open Space
Construction
Fencing around
future Denman
Prospect School Site
Coombs 3A
Edgeworth Parade
Playground Design
Consultation
Whitlam - Billboard
and Directional
Signage
Throsby External
Signage
Kingston Arts Precinct
- Environmental
Advisory Services
New signage North
Wright and North
Coombs
North Wright/
Coombs Banner
Mesh Panes
Greenway Section
28 footpaths
construction

SL190006

SL190252

SL190177

SL190402

SL190114

27954

SL190297

0636-2018

SL180167

SL180399

SL190324

Contract Title

Contract
Number

Public

Quotation

3 quotes

Quotation

Quotation

Works

Services (nonconsultancy)

Goods and
services

Services (nonconsultancy)
Consultancy

Goods

Consultancy

Select

Quotation

Works

Works

Public

Select

Works

Works

Public

Select

Procurement
Type

Procurement
Methodology

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

Simeonov Civil
Engineering Pty Ltd

Signlime Group Pty Ltd

Signlime Group Pty Ltd

Senversa Pty Ltd

SCREENMAKERS PTY LTD

Screenmakers Pty Ltd

Redbox Design Group Pty
Ltd

Ready Industries Pty. Ltd.

RAM Constructions

RAM Constructions

RAM Constructions

Contractor Name

$223,194

$36,300

$38,280

$40,500

$114,000

$54,813

$286,040

$29,377

$4,611,518

$53,491

$413,671

Contract
Amount

14/01/19

19/11/18

5/06/19

31/10/18

1/07/18

10/12/18

13/02/19

26/07/18

16/04/19

22/03/19

19/10/18

1/03/20

31/01/19

30/09/19

31/03/19

1/06/19

30/06/19

13/08/20

17/05/19

25/02/21

3/07/19

19/10/19

Execution Expiry Date
Date

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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SL190293

SL190096

SL190095

SL190084

SL190064

SL190407

SL190359

SL190260

SL190122

0281-2019

SL190223

SL180258

SL190091

Contract
Number

Project Director
- Infrastructure
Services
Hume West Stage
2B - Design and
Superintendency
Greenway S28 Superintendence
of footpaths and
associated works
Overland Flow
Solution B5 S2
Coombs
ARI Griffith and
Narrabundah
Marketing Campaign
Southside Asset
Recycling Initiative
Media plan
Throsby Over the
Counter media
campaign
Monash marketing
campaign for auction
Wright and Coombs
advertising
September 2018
Taylor advertising
single residential
blocks Nov 2018
All homes sales
campaign advertising
Throsby sales
campaign advertising
Land Management
Fees Milapuru

Contract Title

Consultancy

Quotation

quotation

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Panel

Quotation

Services (non
consultancy)
Services (non
consultancy)
Works

Services (non
consultancy)

Services (non
consultancy)
Services (non
consultancy)

Services (non
consultancy)

Services (non
consultancy)

Services (non
consultancy)

Works

Consultancy

Public

Select

Consultancy

Procurement
Type

Select

Procurement
Methodology

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

Trustee for the Riverview
Trust

The T!lt Agency

The T!lt Agency

The T!lt Agency

The T!lt Agency

The T!lt Agency

The T!lt Agency

The T!lt Agency

SWELL DESIGN GROUP
PTY. LIMITED.

Suburban Landscapes
and Maintenance

Spiire Australia Pty Ltd

Spiire Australia Pty Ltd

SMH Civil Engineering Pty
Ltd

Contractor Name

$29,583

$35,792

$41,835

$40,000

$32,799

$30,000

$26,780

$47,506

$58,981

$25,379

$44,803

$227,557

$190,000

Contract
Amount

27/02/19

1/10/18

1/10/18

24/09/18

23/08/18

12/05/19

12/04/19

24/01/19

10/10/18

11/02/19

3/01/19

21/09/18

18/02/19

30/06/19

30/11/18

30/11/18

31/12/18

31/10/18

31/12/19

12/04/21

24/01/21

30/06/19

1/06/19

1/03/20

30/06/20

18/02/20

Execution Expiry Date
Date

No

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

No

Social
Procurement
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Fencing hire North
Wright estate
SLA Market Research
Project
Construction of
Taylor 2 Stage 4B
Residential Estate

SL190309

Public

Quotation

3 quotes

Procurement
Methodology

Sally Gilbert
Agency Secretary and Governance Manager
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

Further information can be obtained from:

SL170488

SL190270

Contract Title

Contract
Number

Works

Consultancy

Services

Procurement
Type

No

No

No

Exemption from
Quotation and
Tender Threshold
Requirements

$109,058

$38,133

Contract
Amount

Woden Contractors Pty Ltd $22,202,176

Whereto Research

Trustee for Rent a Fence

Contractor Name

26/10/18

10/01/19

1/03/19

30/12/19

30/06/19

30/03/19

Execution Expiry Date
Date

Yes

Yes

Yes

Small to
Medium
Enterprise

No

No

No

Social
Procurement

C.6 STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 30 June 2019
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INDEPENDENT LIMITED ASSURANCE REPORT
To the Members of the ACT Legislative Assembly
Conclusion
I have undertaken a limited assurance engagement on the statement of performance of the
Suburban Land Agency for the year ended 30 June 2019.
Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained, nothing has come to my attention to
indicate the results of the accountability indicators reported in the statement of performance for
the year ended 30 June 2019 are not in agreement with the Suburban Land Agency’s records or do
not fairly reflect, in all material respects, the performance of the Suburban Land Agency, in
accordance with the Financial Management Act 1996.
Emphasis of matter
I draw attention to the Statement of Responsibility and notes to the ‘Non-Financial Performance
Indicators 2018-19’ in the statement of performance which states that the Suburban Land Agency
has not complied with Section 68(2) of the Financial Management Act 1996 as it has not measured
results for the following accountability indicators:
Culture - Improvement in staff engagement measured by the annual staff satisfaction survey
Culture - Improvement in lowest three indicators from previous year’s survey
Basis for conclusion
I have conducted the engagement in accordance with the Standard on Assurance Engagements
ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information. My responsibilities under the standard and legislation are described in the
‘Auditor-General’s responsibilities’ section of this report.
I have complied with the independence and other relevant ethical requirements relating to
assurance engagements, and the ACT Audit Office applies Australian Auditing Standard ASQC 1
Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial
Information, Other Assurance Engagements and Related Services Engagements.
I believe that sufficient and appropriate evidence was obtained to provide a basis for my conclusion.
The Suburban Land Agency’s responsibilities for the statement of performance
The Governing Board is responsible for:


preparing and fairly presenting the statement of performance in accordance with the
Financial Management Act 1996 and Financial Management (Statement of Performance
Scrutiny) Guidelines 2019; and



determining the internal controls necessary for the preparation and fair presentation of the
statement of performance so that the results of accountability indicators and accompanying
information are free from material misstatements, whether due to error or fraud.

193

Auditor-General’s responsibilities
Under the Financial Management Act 1996 and Financial Management (Statement of Performance
Scrutiny) Guidelines 2019, the Auditor-General is responsible for issuing a limited assurance report
on the statement of performance of the Suburban Land Agency.
My objective is to provide limited assurance on whether anything has come to my attention that
indicates the results of the accountability indicators reported in the statement of performance are
not in agreement with the Suburban Land Agency’s records or do not fairly reflect, in all material
respects, the performance of the Suburban Land Agency, in accordance with the Financial
Management Act 1996.
In a limited assurance engagement, I perform procedures such as making inquiries with
representatives of the Suburban Land Agency, performing analytical review procedures and
examining selected evidence supporting the results of accountability indicators. The procedures
used depend on my judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the results reported for the accountability indicators.
Limitations on the scope
The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement are less in extent than those
required in a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently the level of assurance obtained
is substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had a reasonable
assurance engagement been performed. Accordingly, I do not express a reasonable assurance
opinion on the statement of performance.
This limited assurance engagement does not provide assurance on the:


relevance or appropriateness of the accountability indicators reported in the statement of
performance or the related performance targets;



accuracy of explanations provided for variations between actual and targeted performance
due to the often subjective nature of such explanations; or



adequacy of controls implemented by the Suburban Land Agency.

Michael Harris
Auditor-General
19 September 2019
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SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF
PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2019
Statement of Responsibility

In my opinion, the certified Statement of Performance is in agreement with the Suburban Land
Agency’s records and fairly reflects the service performance of the Suburban Land Agency for the
year ended 30 June 2019 and also fairly reflects the judgements exercised in preparing it.
As disclosed in the Key Performance Indicator (Non-Financial) – Non-Land Release table, the two
culture indicators that relate to the staff satisfaction survey were not measured as required by
Section 68(2) of the Financial Management Act 1996. This was due to the Suburban Land Agency
(Agency) electing to undertake the staff survey biennially to allow sufficient time to assess the
impact of implemented improvements before recommencing a new survey. Further, instead of a
survey to assess the Agency’s culture, a mid-year review was held with all staff, with intent to
collaboratively explore opportunities to improve culture and become a more highly productive and
innovative workplace.

John Fitzgerald
Chair
Suburban Land Agency Board
19 September 2019

1
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SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF
PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
30 JUNE 2019
Statement by the Chief Executive Officer
In my opinion, the certified Statement of Performance is in agreement with the Suburban Land
Agency’s records and fairly reflects the service performance of the Suburban Land Agency for the
year ended 30 June 2019 and also fairly reflects the judgements exercised in preparing it.
As disclosed in the Key Performance Indicator (Non-Financial) – Non-Land Release table, the two
culture indicators that relate to the staff satisfaction survey were not measured as required by
Section 68(2) of the Financial Management Act 1996. This was due to the Suburban Land Agency
(Agency) electing to undertake the staff survey biennially to allow sufficient time to assess the
impact of implemented improvements before recommencing a new survey. Further, instead of a
survey to assess the Agency’s culture, a mid-year review was held with all staff, with intent to
collaboratively explore opportunities to improve culture and become a more highly productive and
innovative workplace.

John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
19 September 2019

2
196

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

197

1

$328

$230

$503

64.7

70.8

Operating Result from
Ordinary Activities (before
Tax) (million)

Operating Result after Tax
(million)

Total Return to Government
(million)1

Return on Assets (%)2

Gross Profit Margin on Land
Sales (%)3 &6
78.7

49.1

$377

$191

$273

$483

Actual
2018-19

11%

(24%)

(25%)

(17%)

(17%)

(31%)

Variance
(%) from
Target1

Due to a number of sites achieving higher revenue outcomes than budgeted while
the development costs for these sites remained consistent with budgeted levels.

Due to the lower Operating Surplus before tax as explained above.

Due to reduced Operating Surplus and lower than budgeted Capital Distributions
due to the deferred settlement of three ARI sites to 2019-20.

Corresponds with the lower Land Revenue as explained above.

Corresponds with the lower Land Revenue as explained above.

Predominately due to a decline in market conditions impacting settlements for
single residential blocks and the deferred settlement of three ARI sites to 2019-20.

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

3

A positive “Variance from Target” result indicates the target was achieved. A negative “Variance from Target” result indicates the target was not achieved.

$701

Target
2018-19

Land Revenue (million)

Indicator Descriptor

Financial Measures

Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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Net Profit Margin = operating result / total revenue.

Inventory turnover = cost of goods sold / average inventory.

The profit margins of the Suburban Land Agency are used for internal purposes to provide comparatives across projects and time periods. These margins are not comparable with
private industry, noting that the Government, through the Suburban Land Agency, enters into the land development process at an earlier stage than a private developer. Additionally,
the Government invests in infrastructure within and around its developments with the cost incurred by other Government agencies and therefore not reflected in the Suburban Land
Agency’s profit margins.

4.

5.

6.

4

Gross Profit Margin = (land sales - cost of goods sold including duty) / land sales.

3.

3%

Due to sustained land development activities in line with the land release program
despite lower sales resulting from a decline in market conditions.

Return on Assets = (operating result before tax + borrowing costs) / average total assets for period.

$288

(48%)

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

2.

$279

Net Cash Inflows from
Operating Activities (million)

34.3

9%

Variance
(%) from
Target1

Total Return to Government = operating result before tax + payments for land acquisitions + payroll tax + stamp
duty equivalents + land holding costs equivalents + capital distributions.

66.0

Inventory Turnover (%)5

35.0

Actual
2018-19

1.

32.2

Target
2018-19

Net Profit Margin (%)4 & 6

Indicator Descriptor

Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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2

Maintain gender equality in
Suburban Land Agency staffing2

Business
Improvement

Gender
balance within
10%

35 Audits

Target
2018-19
Three
activities

Shared Services HR provided data to the Suburban Land Agency on:
•
Total number of Agency Staff by headcount at 30 June 2019;
•
Total number of Male Staff by headcount at 30 June 2019; and
•
Total number of Female Staff by headcount at 30 June 2019.

Work Health and Safety (Active
Certification) audits completed

Deliver stakeholder engagement
activities as per the Stakeholder
Engagement Plan

Indicator

Business
Improvement

Indicator
Descriptor
Culture

Key Performance Indicators (Non-Financial) – Non-Land Release

5

Gender
balance within
3%

26 Audits

Actual Result
2018-19
Five activities

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

70%

(26%)

Variance (%)
from Target
67%

Key focus on engagement and delivery of clear
plans and outcomes for the Suburban Land
Agency. The engagement in 2018-19 covered a
mix of greenfield, industrial and urban renewal
projects.
The number of planned audits reflected the
expected land release and construction activity
as outlined in the 2018-19 Indicative Land
Release Program. The actual number of audits
reflected actual construction activity. Active
certification audits were undertaken on 100% of
civil construction contracts.
As at 30 June 2019, 53% and 47% of staff are
male and female respectively.

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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3

Increase followers of all Mingle3
social media pages

Community
Needs

Increase by
10%

Increase by
45%

160,483

21% of staff
identify as
culturally and
linguistically
diverse
6

20% of staff
identify as
culturally and
linguistically
diverse
6
100,000

Actual Result
2018-19
94%

Target
2018-19
100%

350%

60%

0%

5%

Variance (%)
from Target
(6%)

The Mingle program in Throsby and Taylor
recently commenced so the number of followers
have risen from a very low base line. The
number of residents has also increased in
Wright, Coombs and Moncrieff which has
ultimately increased the following on the
resident/community Facebook pages.

There were higher sessions than anticipated due
to additional promotion through google and
social media which drove more visits to the
website.

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

6

Mingle is a community development program designed to build vibrant and sustainable communities within new estates in the ACT.

User sessions on Suburban Land
Agency Webpage

Internal Audits engaged

Recruitment panels with 50% or
greater female membership
Maintain cultural diversity in
Suburban Land Agency staffing

Indicator

Business
Improvement
Community
Needs

Indicator
Descriptor
Business
Improvement
Business
Improvement

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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Culture

Indicator
Descriptor
Business
Improvement

Improvement in lowest three
indicators from previous year’s
survey

Improvement in staff
engagement measured by the
annual staff satisfaction survey
20% average
improvement

7

Not measured

Not measured

89% of
surveyed
occupants
rated Agreed
or above

75% of
surveyed
occupants
rated Agreed
or above

• The Mingle Community
Development Program has
made me feel more informed
in my suburb?
80%
participation

74% of
surveyed
occupants
rated Agreed
or above

75% of
surveyed
occupants
rated Agreed
or above

• The Mingle Community
Development Program has
made me feel more connected
in my suburb?

Resident satisfaction with
communities with an active
Mingle program and with more
than 200 completed homes:

Actual Result
2018-19

Target
2018-19

Indicator

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

-

-

19%

(1%)

Variance (%)
from Target

The Mingle team has reviewed all previous
resident feedback and improved
communications through delivery of more
simplified messaging, and an increase in the
number of emails, social media and noticeboard
messages.
The Agency elected to undertake the staff
survey biennially to allow sufficient time to
assess the impact of implemented
improvements before recommencing a new
survey. Further, instead of a survey to assess the
Agency’s culture, a mid-year review was held
with all staff, with intent to collaboratively

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

202

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Indicator

Reduction in Freedom of
Information requests from
members of the public

Completion of major
organisational activities/projects

Indicator
Descriptor

Community
Needs

Business
Improvement

90%

10% on
2017-18

Target
2018-19

62%

8

50% on
2017-18

Actual Result
2018-19

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

(31%)

400%

Variance (%)
from Target

explore opportunities to improve culture and
become a more highly productive, innovative
and happy workplace.
In the 2018-19 financial year, the Suburban Land
Agency extended the Community Development
and Engagement team. Key objectives of the
team include increased interactions between the
Agency and community groups and supporting
the reprofiling of information provided to the
public through the Agency internet page and
other communication mediums.
13 major organisational activities projects
related to business improvement were identified
for completion in 2018-19. Of these eight were
complete. The remaining five were commenced
but not yet completed.

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)
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Mixed Use4

Residential Dwellings

Indicator

34,346m2
(includes
13,633m2 on

Target
2018-19
4,060
(includes 530
dwellings on
behalf of the
City Renewal
Authority)

31,602m2
(no Mixed Use
land was

Actual Result
2018-19
3,204
(no dwellings
were delivered
on behalf of the
City Renewal
Authority)

(8%)

Variance (%)
from Target
(21%)

The delay of initial releases in Whitlam to
2019-20 was largely offset by additional multiunit and single residential sites in Taylor.
Lower than expected result was mainly due
to:
- withdrawal of Block 40 Section 54 Belconnen
as advised by the Minister for Planning and
Land Management;
- reduction in yield on Block 1 Section 70
Lyons as a result of planning constraints;
- the delay of Block 12 Section 50 Lyneham to
allow lessons learnt from Braddon and Turner
tender process to be incorporated; and
- a shortfall in releases in Strathnairn due to
an ACT Civil and Administrative Tribunal
(ACAT) appeal.
The shortfall in mixed use land was
predominately the result of the delay of Block
12 Section 50 Lyneham to allow lessons learnt

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

9

Mixed-use development are buildings or building complexes containing multiple, different uses. Generally, this means that there is a combination of residential units and commercial
operations within the one site. For example, an apartment block which has cafes and restaurants on the ground floor and residential units on the floors above.

4

Indicative
Land Release
Program

Indicator
Descriptor
Indicative
Land Release
Program

Key Performance Indicators (Non-Financial) – Land Release

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19
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1,559m2
20,000m2
87,520m2

Commercial

Industrial

Community

Indicative
Land Release
Program
Indicative
Land Release
Program
Indicative
Land Release
Program

Target
2018-19
behalf of the
City Renewal
Authority)

Indicator

Indicator
Descriptor

10

72,777m2

22,073m2

1,559m2

Actual Result
2018-19
delivered on
behalf of the
City Renewal
Authority)

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

(17%)

10%

-

Variance (%)
from Target

The shortfall in community land was due to
the removal of Blocks 3 & 4 Section 235
Gungahlin and Block 3 Section 17 Coombs as
approved by the Minister for Planning and
Land Management and the deferral of Block 3
Section 29 Wright to 2019-20 as approved by
the Minister for Housing and Suburban
Development.
Release of Block 6 Section 51 Wright for a
non-government school was also delayed due
to delays in finalising tender requirements.

The higher release was a result of changes in
the block mix during the year.

from Braddon and Turner tender process to
be incorporated, and the removal of
Block 1 Section 39 Wright.
This was largely offset by the release of
additional mixed use land in Coombs and
Taylor.

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)
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Indicator

Affordable Purchase and Land
Rent

Public Housing

Indicator
Descriptor

Housing
Targets

Housing
Targets

60

472

Target
2018-19

28

366

11

Actual Result
2018-19

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

(53%)

(22%)

Variance (%)
from Target

Some of this shortfall was made up by the
releases of additional Community Use sites for
schools in Franklin and Throsby.
Sites were released for affordable housing in
Taylor, Coombs, Wright, Lyons and
Strathnairn.
The delay of initial releases in Whitlam to
2019-20 was largely offset sites in Taylor.
Lower than expected result was mainly due
to:
- withdrawal of Block 40 Section 54 Belconnen
as advised by the Minister for Planning and
Land Management;
- the delay of Block 12 Section 50 Lyneham to
allow lessons learnt from Braddon and Turner
tender process to be incorporated; and
- a shortfall in releases in Strathnairn due to
an ACT Civil and Administrative Tribunal
(ACAT) appeal.
The actual total number of dwellings released
for public housing in 2018-19 is 61 dwellings.
This includes 33 dwellings, which were
released for public housing in 2018-19 in

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)
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Community Housing

Housing
Targets

0

Target
2018-19

59

12

Actual Result
2018-19

The target dwelling was zero. However, 59 dwellings were released during the financial year.

5

Indicator

Indicator
Descriptor

Non-Financial Performance Indicators 2018-19

--5

Variance (%)
from Target

Greenway against the 2017-18 target of 30
dwellings.
28 public housing dwellings were released to
Housing ACT in Taylor.
The delay of initial releases in Whitlam meant
32 public housing dwellings identified have
been deferred to 2019-20.
No Community housing was identified for
delivery in the SOI in 2018-19.
Additional community housing was delivered
in Taylor to address delays in release of other
sites.

Explanation of Material Variances (+/-10%)

SUBURBAN LAND AGENCY, STATEMENT OF PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019
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D.1 NOTICES OF NON-COMPLIANCE
Dangerous Substances
The Suburban Land Agency was not served with any notices of non-compliance relating to the Dangerous
Substances Act 2004 during 2018-19.

Further Information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

Medicines, Poisons and Therapeutic Goods
The Suburban Land Agency was not served with any notices of non-compliance relating to the Medicines, Poisons
and Therapeutic Goods Act 2008 during 2018-19.

Further Information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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E.1 ANNUAL REPORT
REQUIREMENTS FOR SPECIFIC
REPORTING ENTITIES
The Suburban Land Agency has no items to report against the following sections:
>> Education and Training
>> Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development
>> Health (Mental Health)
>> City Centre Marketing and Improvements Levy
>> Gambling and Racing
>> Third Party Insurance.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

Public Land Management Plans
The Suburban Land Agency was not custodian of public land in 2018-19 so was not required to prepare any public
land management plans during the reporting year.

Further Information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

Justice and Community Safety
The Suburban Land Agency provided input to the Justice and Community Safety Directorate in relation to
bushfire risk management, human rights and legal services directions, for inclusion in the 2018-19 Justice and
Community Safety Directorate Annual Report.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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F.1 MINISTERIAL AND
DIRECTOR‑GENERAL DIRECTIONS
The Suburban Land Agency did not receive any Ministerial Directions under the City Renewal Authority and
Suburban Land Agency Act 2017 (CRASLA Act) or the Planning and Development Act 2007 during 2018-19.
Under section 43 of the CRASLA Act, the Suburban Land Agency provided details of all land acquisitions to the
Legislative Assembly on a quarterly basis. The Suburban Land Agency did not acquire any land during 2018-19.

Further Information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600

212

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Pa
r
G t

W
ho
l
A eo
nn f
ua Go
l R ve
ep rnm
or e
tin nt
g

G.1 TERRITORY RECORDS
The Suburban Land Agency provided input to the Director of Territory Records on our records management
program, for inclusion in the 2018-19 Director of Territory Records Annual Report.

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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H.1 PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS
AND WORKFORCE PROFILE
The Suburban Land Agency provided input to the Commissioner for Public Administration in relation to culture
and behaviours, Public Interest Disclosures and workforce profile for inclusion in the 2018-19 State of the Service
Report.
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer

Further information can be obtained from:
John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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ATTACHMENT A: ECOLOGICALLY
SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT
The following table outlines Suburban Land Agency’s (SLA) energy, water, transport fuel and waste consumption,
and the associated greenhouse gas emissions. Reported consumption indicates office accommodation and
external usage within developments for the current financial year. As the SLA is part of the Environment, Planning
and Sustainable Development (the Directorate) portfolio, the below data has been extracted by the Directorate
for reporting purposes.
During the 2017-18 financial year, the SLA was temporarily responsible for paying utility bills including electricity,
gas and water for a number of sites prior to their sale, demolition or transfer to other ACT Government agencies
such as Macarthur House (through the Asset Recycling Initiative) and the former Belconnen Fire Station. As these
sites have subsequently been sold, demolished, or transferred to other ACT Government agencies for ongoing
management and demolition, electricity, gas and water usage has decreased for the 2018-19 financial year.
TABLE 1: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PERFORMANCE: CURRENT AND PREVIOUS FINANCIAL YEAR
Indicator as at 30 June 2019
Stationary energy use
Electricity use
Natural gas use (non-transport)
Diesel use (non-transport)
Transport fuel usage
Electric vehicles
Hybrid vehicles
Hydrogen vehicles
Total number of vehicles
Fuel use – Petrol
Fuel use – Diesel
Fuel use – Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG)
Fuel use – Compressed Natural Gas (CNG)
Water usage
Water use
Resource efficiency and waste
Reams of paper purchased
Recycled content of paper purchased
Waste to landfill
Co-mingled material recycled
Paper & Cardboard recycled (including secure paper)
Organic material recycled
Greenhouse gas emissions
Emissions from electricity use
Emissions from natural gas use (non-transport)
Emissions from diesel use (non-transport)
Emissions from transport fuel use
Total emissions

Unit

Kilowatt hours
Megajoules
Kilolitres
Number
Number
Number
Number
Kilolitres
Kilolitres
Kilolitres
Gigajoules
Kilolitres
Reams
Percentage
Litres
Litres
Litres
Litres
Tonnes CO2-e
Tonnes CO2-e
Tonnes CO2-e
Tonnes CO2-e
Tonnes CO2-e

Current
Financial Year

Previous
Financial Year#

Percentage
Change

120,875.81
0
0

210,076.94
1,618
0

-42.46%
-100%
N/A

0
1
0
8
2.57
8.51
0
0

0
1
N/A
7
3.12
6.18
0
0

0%
0%
N/A
14.29
-17.63%
37.70%
N/A
N/A

21.47

1,226.95

-98.25%

686
61.79
25,000
12,500
37,500
2,600

640
97
36,500
27,360
51,120
2,300

7.19%
-36.30%
-31.51%
-54.31%
-26.64%
13.04%

30.82
N/A
N/A
29.26
60.08

106.51
N/A
N/A
24.26
130.77

-71.06%
N/A
N/A
20.61%
-54.06%

Notes:
# Differences between Enterprise Sustainability Platform sourced data included in the Previous Financial Year (2017-18) column
and that in the 2017-18 SLA Annual Report are due to changes such as updates to agency occupancy and historical consumption
data, and annual adjustments to ACT specific electricity emissions factors. Where actual data is not available, the Enterprise
Sustainability Platform provides estimations using an accruals function. Accruals are calculated from the average annual daily
consumption of the most current 12-month period applied for the number of days of missing data.
Emissions reported for stationary energy and transport fuels include Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions only. Scope 1 are direct
emissions from sources owned and operated by the government including: emissions from fuel used by the government fleet;
fugitive emissions from leaks; emissions from landfill. Scope 2 are indirect emissions from mains electricity used to power light,
cool and heat government facilities and streetlights.
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Emission factors used to calculate natural gas and fleet fuel are based on the latest National Greenhouse Accounts factors.
Greenhouse gas emissions for electricity consumption have been calculated using the following emissions factors based on the
latest ACT Electricity Emissions Factor Report released in 2019:
1. a factor of 0.507 kilograms (kg) CO2-e / kilowatt hour (kWh) or 0.507 tonne (t) CO2-e /megawatt hour (MWh) has been used
to calculate electricity emissions (Scope 2) for the 2017-18 period. It is based on actual historical data and is a retrospective
adjustment of the original 0.455 factor (Scope 2) used for 2017-18 annual reporting
2. a factor of 0.255 kilograms (kg) CO2-e / kilowatt hour (kWh) or 0.255 tonne (t) CO2-e /megawatt hour (MWh) has been used to
calculate electricity emissions (Scope 2) for the 2018-19 period.

Treatment of plug-in hybrids
For the purposes of annual reporting, plug-in hybrids have been treated as electric vehicles. A plug-in hybrid
electric vehicle (also known as a range-extended vehicle) is fuelled by electricity, as well as having either a petrol
or diesel engine to extend the range of the vehicle for long trips. These vehicles can be run either on electricity or
fuel, but are considered to be zero emissions vehicles as it is most likely that the vehicle will be run on electricity
for the majority of trips (due to lower cost for charging than re-fuelling).
Further information can be obtained from:

John Dietz
Chief Executive Officer
Suburban Land Agency
+61 2 6205 0600
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INDEX
A
abbreviations and acronyms, 4
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Awareness, 51
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, 43, 50–51, 53,
54
Aboriginal Consultative Committee of Yass Valley Council,
50
Aboriginal Cultural Values Assessment, 50
access to information under FOI, 40
accessibility of information in annual report, 2
acronyms and abbreviations, 4
ACT Audit Office, 8, 77–78
ACT Chief Minister’s Inclusions Award for Inclusion in
Private Sector Business, 27
ACT Government’s Work Experience Support Program, 56
ACT Housing Strategy, 13, 19, 26
ACT Insurance Agency, 37
ACT Integrity Policy, 39
ACT NOWaste, 29, 57
ACT Policing, 59
ACT Public Service Award for Excellence in Collaboration,
27
ACT Public Service Graduate Program, 56
ACT Revenue Office, 29
ACT Woman of the Year 2019, 27
ACTPS Training Calendar, 55–56
Actsmart program, 29, 58
Administrative Arrangements 2017 No 1, 14
affordable living, 10, 30, 59, 60, 65, 66
see also ecologically sustainable development
age of staff, 55
Agency Secretary and Governance Manager, 15
responsibilities, 17
all staff ‘stand-up’ meetings, 27
Annual Report (Government Agencies) Directions 2019, 6
Annual Reports (Government Agencies) Act 2004, 6
asset management, 181
assets, financial position, 72–73
Attraction and Retention Incentives (ARins), 53
Audit and Risk Committee, 24, 37, 38, 39
Auditor-General reports
Assembly of Rural Land West of Canberra, 32–34
Independent Auditor’s Report, 77–78, 152
Independent Limited Assurance Report, 193–194
Tender for the Sale of Block 30 Section 34 Dickson,
31–32

audits
civil construction industry, 25
financial statements, 8
internal audit program, 37, 38
waste audit of office environment, 57
see also Auditor-General reports
Audrey Fagan Board Traineeship Program 2019, 56
Australian Workplace Agreements (AWAs), 53
awards and recognition, 27

B
Balanced Score Card, 25
BARC (Board Audit and Risk Committee), 24, 37, 38, 39
Belconnen Community Centre, 29
Berry, Yvette (Minister for Housing and Suburban
Development), 6, 15
Biggest Morning Tea, 27
biodiversity in sustainable development, 57–58
Board see Suburban Land Agency Board
Board Traineeship Program 2019, 56
branches and divisions (organisational structure), 54
Built Form and Divestment group, 15
responsibilities, 17
Bulless, Neil, 15
bushfire risk management, 8, 210
business improvement, 27–28, 65, 66
business systems review, 28

C
Canberra Astronomical Society, 29
Canberra Institute of Technology, 27, 29, 43
Canberra PCYC, 29
capital works
civil infrastructure construction, 177–179
landscaping, 179–180
casual staff, 54
CEO’s Sleepout, 27
certificate of transmittal, 6
certification audits, civil construction industry, 25
Chair of the Board, 6, 20
report by, 25–26
Statement of Responsibility, 80, 195
see also Fitzgerald, John
Charles Weston School, 29
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Chief Executive Officer, 6, 15
CEO’s Sleepout, 27
report by, 25–26
responsibilities, 16
Statement, 81, 196
see also Dietz, John
Chief Financial Officer (Finance, Systems and Valuations),
15, 18
Statement by, 82
Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development
Directorate, 8
Chief Minister, Treasury and Economic Development
reporting, 210
Chief Operations Officer (Directorate), 39
City Centre Marketing and Improvements Levy reporting,
210
City Renewal Authority, 29
City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency Act 2017,
12, 30, 59, 63, 212
City Services Directorate, 27
civil construction industry, 25
civil infrastructure construction projects, 177–179
classification of staff, 54
clients and stakeholders, 14
climate adaptation, 30, 58, 65, 66
see also ecologically sustainable development
collaboration
ACT Public Service Award for Excellence in
Collaboration, 27
focus for 2019-20, 19
with industry, 25, 27, 29, 44
with new communities, 29
see also partnerships
commercial land, 12
Commissioner for Public Administration, 216
Commissioner for Sustainability and the Environment, 57
committees of the Board, 24
Commonwealth Asset Recycling Initiative, 26
Communities@work, 29
Community Development Assistance Program, 49
community development program see Mingle Community
Development Program
community engagement activities, 42–48
community housing, 13, 19, 26, 60
community land, 12, 26
community needs, 29, 65, 66
community relationships, 29–30
community safety, 59
Community Services Directorate, 29
competitive neutrality, 64
compliance
compliance statement, 7–8
dangerous substances non-compliance, 208
medicines, poisons and therapeutic goods noncompliance, 208
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contact details (SLA), 2
contracting, 182–191
Coombs local businesses, 27
Coombs Mingle program, 45–46
play space, 43
resident-led events, 49
social sustainability, 58
supporting biodiversity, 57
corruption see fraud and corruption
crime prevention through environmental design, 59
Crime Stoppers, 59
cultural awareness training, 51
culturally and linguistically diverse staff, 54
culture (SLA), 27, 65, 66
culture and behaviours, 216
customer focus, 25
cycle paths, 58

D
Dangerous Substances Act 2004, 208
dangerous substances non-compliance, 208
Dawson, Angus, 22, 24, 53
decisions of the Board, 23
Declaration by Joint Venture Partners, 155
deliverables, 12
Deputy Chair of the Board, 21
Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Program Solutions), 15, 16
Development Delivery group, 15
responsibilities, 17
Dietz, John, 6, 15, 26, 81, 196
digital transformation strategy, 27
Director of Territory Records Annual Report, 214
Directorate Learning and Development team, 55
Directorate within Environment, Planning and Sustainable
Development portfolio, 12, 14
disability, people with, 53, 54
disclosable conduct, fraud and corruption, 39
disclosures (Public Interest Disclosures), 216
Diversity Action Plan, 51
diversity and inclusion in the workplace, 27, 51, 53, 54
Diversity Objectives Action Plan, 53
dividends, financial performance, 71
domestic and family violence, 56

E

G

ecologically sustainable development, 10, 13, 26
environmental sustainability, 57–58
social sustainability, 58–60
sustainable development performance, 217–218
Education and Training reporting, 210
electric vehicles, 218
emissions see greenhouse gas emissions
employees see staff
energy use
and design of new developments, 58
in office accommodation and external usage, 217
enforceable undertakings under WHS Act, 52
Environment, Planning and Sustainable Development
Directorate, 12, 14, 27, 29, 40, 53
environmental sustainability, 57–58
see also ecologically sustainable development
establishment of Agency, 12
ethical behaviour, 39
ex-detainee employment, 53
Executive Director, Built Form and Divestment, 15, 17
Executive Director, Development Delivery, 15, 17
exempt contracts see government contracting
expenses, financial performance, 70–71

Gambling and Racing reporting, 210
Garland McLellan, Julie, 22, 24, 38
gender equality, staff, 53
gender of staff, 54
Gilbert, Sally, 15
Ginninderry Aboriginal Advisory Group, 43, 50
Ginninderry Joint Venture see West Belconnen Joint
Venture
Gordon, Tom, 15
governance, 17–18, 25
risk management reporting, 28
Governance branch, 17
government contracting, 182–191
Government Land Organisation (GLO)
conference, 29
discussions on affordable housing, 30
government partnerships, 25
Graduate Program, 56
greenfield estates, 17, 26
greenhouse gas emissions, 13, 57, 63, 217
Gungahlin Community Council, 29
Gungahlin Cricket Club, 29

F
family violence, 56
Finance, Systems and Valuations branch, responsibilities,
18
Financial Management Act 1996, 20, 63
financial management analysis, 62–75
financial performance, 62, 68–71
indicators, 197–198
financial position, 72–75
financial returns to ACT Government, 67
financial statements, 76–176
Auditor’s Reports, 77–78, 153–154
Suburban Land Agency, 79–150
West Belconnen Joint Venture, 156–176
Fitzgerald, John, 6, 20, 24, 25–26, 53, 80, 195
flexible working arrangements, 53
‘Foundation Training in Family and Domestic Violence’, 56
fraud and corruption, 6, 39, 64
Fraud and Corruption Control Plan, 39
Fraud and Corruption Prevention Plan, 39
Fraud and Ethics Training, 39
Fraud Risk Register, 39, 64
Freedom of Information Act 1989, 41
Freedom of Information Act 2016, 40–41
freedom of information (FOI), 40–41
full-time staff, 54
functions and services, 13

H
Harris, Michael, 78, 194
health and safety in the workplace, 25
Health (Mental Health) reporting, 210
healthy population, 10, 59
Holt, Nicholas, 15
Housing ACT, 29
housing choices, 10, 59
see also affordable living; community housing; public
housing
Housing Industry Association, 29
housing market slowing, 25–26
housing strategy, 13, 19, 26
housing targets, 13, 19, 60
Howman, Peter, 22, 24, 38
human resources management, 53–56
see also staff
human rights and legal services directions, 8, 210
hybrid vehicles, plug in, 218
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I
inclusion, in learning and development programs, 55
inclusion and diversity in the workplace, 27, 51, 53, 54
income, financial performance, 68–69
Independent Auditor’s Report, 77–78, 152
Independent Limited Assurance Report, 193–194
Indicative Land Release Program (ILRP), 13, 16, 17, 25
industrial land, 12, 26
industry, collaboration with, 25, 27, 29, 44
innovation, 25
integrity risk assessment, 39
inter-agency relationships, 27, 29
internal accountability, 19–24
internal audit program, 37
International Association of Public Participation Awards for Community Development in 2018, 27

J
Jacka, 42
Joint Venture Management Committee, 24
Jones, Suzanne, 21, 24, 53
Justice and Community Safety Directorate, 8
Annual Report 2018-19, 210

legislation
Annual Reports (Government Agencies) Act 2004, 6
City Renewal Authority and Suburban Land Agency Act
2017, 12, 30, 59, 63, 212
Dangerous Substances Act 2004, 208
Financial Management Act 1996, 20, 63
Freedom of Information Act 1989, 41
Freedom of Information Act 2016, 40–41
Medicines, Poisons and Therapeutic Goods Act 2008, 208
Planning and Development Act 2007, 212
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012, 39
Public Sector Management Act 1994, 16, 39
Remuneration Tribunal Act 1995, 24
Work Health and Safety Act 2011, 52
Legislative Assembly Committee Reports
Inquiry into Annual and Financial Reports 2017-18, 36
Inquiry into Appropriation Bill 2018-19, 36
Reassessment of bushfire risk at Ginninderry
development site, 35
length of service of staff, 55
LGBTIQ community, 53
liabilities, financial position, 74–75
linguistically diverse staff, 54
liquidity, financial position, 75

M
K
Kingston Foreshore Arts Precinct, 43
KPMG Australia, 38

L
land acquisitions, 212
Land Development Agency (LDA), 39, 63
land development and release, 12, 26
choice of land, 13
supply of land, 13, 19, 25
land sale volumes, 18
land sales revenue, 26, 62, 68, 69, 71
landscaping projects, 179–180
Lawson Mingle program, 48
social sustainability, 59
supporting biodiversity, 57
learning and development programs for staff, 55–56
leases of land, buying and selling, 13
Lee, Joseph, 15, 82
legal services directions, 8, 210

222

Suburban Land Agency: Annual Report 2018-19

Management 2020 Framework, 56
managers and leaders core training, 55
Margaret Hendry School, 29
market research, 18
marketing plans, 18
Master Builders Association, 29
Maxwell, David, 155
Medicines, Poisons and Therapeutic Goods Act 2008, 208
medicines, poisons and therapeutic goods noncompliance, 208
members of the Board, 20–23
mental health and inclusion, in learning and development
programs, 55
Mental Health reporting, 210
Mingle Community Development Program, 19, 26, 27,
29–30, 44–48
Mingle Community Development Team, 27
Minister for Housing and Suburban Development, 6, 15
Minister for Urban Renewal, 6, 15
Ministerial Directions, 212
mission and values, 13
mixed-use development, 26
Molonglo Conservation Group, 29
Moncrieff Mingle program, 46–47
resident-led events, 49
social sustainability, 58
Mulligans Flat Woodlands Group, 29
multi-unit and residential land, 26

N
Neighbour Day, 27
Neighbourhood Watch, 29, 59
net zero emissions, 57
non-compliance notices, 208
non-financial performance indicators, 199–206
Northside Community Services, 29
notifiable incidents and notices under WHS Act, 52
NOWaste, 29, 57

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012, 39
Public Interest Disclosures, 216
public land management plans reporting, 210
Public Sector Management Act 1994, 16, 39
Public Sector Management Standards 2006, 39
Public Sector Management Standards 2016, 6
Public Sector Standards and Workforce Profile, 8, 216
Public Trading Enterprise, 64

R
O
objectives, 12, 63
office accommodation, 181
office environment, 57, 217
Office of the Chief Executive Officer, 16
operations and financial outcome, 62
organisational structure, 14–18
restructure, 14, 25, 27
outlook, 18–19

P
Parks and Conservation, 29
part-time staff, 54
partnerships, 16, 65
Canberra Institute of Technology, 27, 43, 45
government, 25
industry, 25, 27, 29, 44
see also Mingle Community Development Program
People and Transition Committee, 24, 53
people with disability, 53, 54
performance
affordable living, 30
business improvement, 27–28
climate adaptation, 30
community needs, 29–30
culture, 27
indicators, 197–206
Statement of Performance, 192–206
Performance and Development Plan (staff), 56
Performance and Development tool (staff), 56
Planning and Development Act 2007, 212
poisons non-compliance, 208
priorities and strategies, 25, 65–66
procurement see government contracting
profile of staff, 54–55
Program Solutions group, 15
responsibilities, 16
Property Council of Australia, 29
500 Women in Property Program, 27, 29
public and private housing in new suburbs, 13
public housing, 19, 26, 60

Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP), 50, 53
Reconciliation Australia, 50, 53
recruitment and separation of staff, 55
recycling, 57
Relationships Australia, 29
remuneration of CEO and Board members, 24, 38
Remuneration Tribunal Act 1995, 24
renewable energy, 58
residential land, 12, 26
residential sales, 26
revenue from land sales, 26, 62, 68, 69, 71
Risk Appetite Statement, 37
risk management, 28, 37, 64
bushfire risk management, 8, 210
integrity risk assessment, 39
Risk Management Policy, 37
Risk Officer, 37
risk registers, 37, 39, 64
Riverview Developments Pty Limited, 24
Royal Commission into Misconduct in the Banking,
Superannuation and Financial Services Industry, 25
RSPCA, 29

S
safe and healthy population, 10, 59
safety in the workplace, 25
Safety Management Framework, 25, 52
Sckrabeim, Emma, 27
Scott, Michael, 155
scrutiny
internal accountability, 19–24, 37
Legislative Assembly Committee Reports, 35–36
see also Auditor-General reports; audits
Select Committee on Estimates 2017-18, 35
Select Committee on Estimates 2018-19, 36
Senior Executive Responsible for Business Integrity Risk
(SERBIR), 39
Senior Leadership Group, 27
Senior Work Health and Safety Manager, 37, 52
separations of staff, 55
services and functions, 13
Sharma, Ajay, 154
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slowing housing market, 25–26
small to medium enterprises see government contracting
social inclusion, 10, 59
social procurement see government contracting
social sustainability, 58–60
see also ecologically sustainable development
solar access, 57
Special Employment Agreements (SEAs), 53
specific entities reporting, 210
sponsorships, 48–49
St Vincent De Paul CEO’s Sleepout, 27
staff
age, 55
all staff ‘stand-up’ meetings, 27
Branch/Division, 54
classification, 54
diversity and inclusion in the workplace, 27, 51, 53, 54
employment category, 54
gender, 54
learning and development, 39, 51, 55–56
length of service, 55
numbers, 54
Performance and Development Plan, 56
recruitment and separation, 55
study assistance, 56
stakeholders and clients, 14
Standing Committee on Planning and Urban Renewal, 36
State of the Service Report, 8, 53, 216
Statement of Intent (SOI) 2018-19, 12
Statement of Performance, 192–206
Statement of Responsibility, 80, 195
statutory authority, 12, 14
statutory objectives, 12, 63
Stephen-Smith, Rachel (Minister for Urban Renewal), 6, 15
Strategic Risk Register, 37, 39, 64
strategies see priorities and strategies
study assistance, 56
Suburban Land Agency (SLA)
activities, 25–26, 63–64, 66
clients and stakeholders, 14
establishment and role, 12
financial performance and outcome, 26, 62, 68–71,
197–198
functions and services, 13
mission and values, 13
objectives, 12, 63
organisational structure, 14–18, 25, 27
outlook, 18–19
performance, 27–30
priorities and strategies, 25, 65–66
scrutiny, 19–24, 31–36
statutory authority, 12, 14
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Suburban Land Agency Board, 15, 19–20
Chair, 6, 20
committees, 24
decisions, 23
establishment of, 12
functions, 20
members, 20–23
remuneration of CEO and Board members, 24, 38
report by Chair and CEO, 25–26
Traineeship Program, 56
supply of land, 13, 19
Sustainability Strategy, 19, 26, 57
sustainable development see ecologically sustainable
development

T
Table Tennis ACT, 29
Taylor Mingle program, 45
Territory Records, 8, 214
therapeutic goods non-compliance, 208
Third Party Insurance reporting, 210
Throsby
encouraging biodiversity, 57
Mingle program, 47–48
social sustainability, 59
transmittal certificate, 6
Transport Canberra and City Services Directorate, 27, 29
transport fuel use, 217
transport outcomes, 58
tree canopy, 19

U
urban and commercial land development, 17, 43
urban infill and renewal, 13, 26, 63

V
value for money, 13, 25
values, 13
violence (domestic and family), 56
vision, 10, 25

W
Walker, Margaret, 24, 38
Walters Consultancy, 50
waste in office environment, 57, 217
water quality improvement, 57
water use
and design of new developments, 58
in office accommodation and external usage, 217
website for annual reports, 8
West Belconnen Joint Venture, 24
awards, 27
community engagement, 43
financial statements, 151–176
reassessment of bushfire risk at development site, 35
sponsorship program, 48–49
‘White Ribbon’ Accreditation process, 56
Whitlam future playground, 43
whole of government annual reporting, 7–8, 214
whole of government strategies, 13, 25, 51, 52, 53, 55, 56
Woden Community Services, 29
Work Experience Support Program, 56
Work Health and Safety Act 2011, 52
Work Health and Safety Framework, 28, 52
Work Health and Safety Management System, 52
work-life balance, 53
workforce profile, 216
workplace health and safety, 25, 52
Wright Mingle program, 45–46
resident-led events, 49
supporting biodiversity, 57

Y
Yarralumla Nursery, 29
Yunggaballi Park, 50
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